
SCRUTINY : GOVERNANCE, 
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS 
CHANGE AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES MEETING
4.30 pm TUESDAY, 5TH JULY, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet 
as it will only be used for training purposes by the

Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering 
the Chamber and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public 

are consenting to being filmed.

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 
(01685) 725203 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

A G E N D A

1. Apologies for Absence 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members of this Committee are reminded of their 
personal responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s 
Constitution and the Members Code of Conduct.    
In addition Members must declare any prohibited 
party whip which the Member has been given in 
relation to the meeting as per the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2011.

Note:

a. Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest; and 

b. Where Members withdraw from a meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave. 

3. Debt Collection - Use of Debt Recovery 
Companies 
To consider report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 1 - 20)

4. Draft Annual Governance Statement for financial 
year 2015/16 
To consider report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 21 - 42)

5. Performance Report - Corporate Plan.  
Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty, Wellbeing of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
To consider report of the Corporate Director 
People and Performance.

(Pages 43 - 50)

6. Annual Scrutiny Report 2015/16 
To consider report of the Chief Executive. (For 
consideration and comment before it is submitted 
to Full Council).

(Pages 51 - 72)



7. Preparation of Scrutiny Work Programme 2016/17 
To further develop this committees Work 
Programme for 2016/17.

(Pages 73 - 94)

8. Progress report - Joint Scrutiny Committee to 
scrutinise the Cwm Taf Public Services Board 
To consider this report. (Pages 95 - 96)

9. Older People's Commissioner for Wales - 
Guidance on Equality and Human Rights Impact 
Assessments and Scrutiny 
To consider this report. (Pages 97 - 130)

10. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 
To receive any referrals from the other Scrutiny 
Committees and Audit Committee; an update from 
the Chair on their attendance at the Service 
Performance Challenge Meetings and to consider 
any follow up actions from the previous 
Meeting(s).

11. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair.

12. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillor T Lewis (Chair)

Councillors: D Isaac, B Carter, D Davies, G Jones, 
L Mytton, D Roberts, L E Smart, W R Smith, S Williams 
and Richard Thomas

Co-optee(s): A Harris, A L Morgan and T Skinner

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725203

Os byddai’n well gennych gopi o’r agenda hwn mewn iaith arall, cysylltwch a 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01685 725203

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk
mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Debt Collection – Use of Debt Recovery 
Companies 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The report considers the use of Debt Recovery companies to collect unpaid debts 
           owing to the Council. 

1.2      The report has been compiled in response to a recent online campaign and a letter 
           received from ’38 Degrees, Merthyr Tydfil and Rhymney’ asking for the Authority to 
           stop employing the services of all debt recovery companies.   

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1      That the scrutiny committee discusses and comments on the issues set out in this 
           report.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Scrutiny Committee has requested this report to consider the Councils use of 
Debt Recovery companies to recover outstanding debts. These debts include 
Council Tax, Business Rates, Parking and other Sundry Debts. The report was 
commissioned following an online campaign and a letter, requesting that the 
Authority stops using Debt recovery companies. A copy of the correspondence 
received is included at Appendix 1. 

 3.2   The report will cover the following:

 The legislative background.

Date Written 10th June 2016
Report Author Mike Parry
Service Area Revenues
Committee Date 05th July 2016

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 How the Council uses Enforcement Agents, (formerly bailiffs), and which 
                debts are recovered by this method.

 The proportion of Enforcement Agent work retained in house.
 The contractual position of external Enforcement Agents being used by the 

                 Council.
 The fee structure.
 Codes of Conduct/Practice and Guidance.
 Complaints.
 Alternative recovery remedies.

 3.3    Legislative background.

The introduction of the Tribunal, Courts and Enforcement Act 2007, set out to           
regulate and reform common law distress and the sale of goods by a bailiff. The 
legislation replaced distress with a process called ‘taking control of goods’, whereby 
property and/or goods transferred from a debtor to ‘the control of the law’. The 
‘Taking Control of Goods Regulations followed in July 2013 and the regulations 
making provision for the fees to be charged to debtors were made in March 2014. 

The Ministry of Justice have also sought to regulate bailiff activity and have 
introduced a new certification process requiring individual certification. Certificates 
are granted to applicants that can demonstrate before a judge that they have 
knowledge of the relevant law, documentation, processes and an understanding of 
how to deal with vulnerable people. 

The legislation also replaced the term ‘bailiff’ with Enforcement Agent.   
 

3.4    The use of Enforcement Agents within the Council

          The following areas within the Council are subject to debt recovery through the use of 
          both internal and external Enforcement Agents:

 Revenues -  For the recovery of Council Tax and Business Rates
 Parking – For the recovery of Fixed Penalty Notices
 Sundry Debts – For the recovery of other miscellaneous debts owing to the 

Authority.

          Prior to instructing an Enforcement Agent to recover a debt, the Revenue Section will 
          always try to secure a mutually acceptable payment plan. The majority of 
          Enforcement Agent activity in Merthyr Tydfil takes place due to the debtors failure to 
          engage with the Council in order to come to mutually acceptable terms to repay the 
          money owed. 

          Additionally, each account is interrogated individually in order to establish if there are
          alternative remedies available to collect the debt. These would include Attachment of 
          Earnings and Attachment of Benefit Orders.

It is also worth noting that before a Council Tax case is issued to an Enforcement 
Agent, a minimum of five notices would have been issued to the debtor. These 

Page 2



include; an initial demand, a reminder, a final notice, a summons and a notice of 
liability order.   

3.5     Proportion of enforcement work retained in house.

          In 2015/16, The Authority issued 4866 cases to Enforcement Agents for non 
          payment of Council Tax, Business Rates and Parking Fines. The value 
          of these case are listed below:

    
Fund Type Number of cases issued Value of cases
Council Tax 4692 £2,457,342
Business Rates 74 £380,511
Parking 100 £11,200
Total 4866 £2,849,053

   
Of the 4866 cases passed to an Enforcement Agent, 4449, (91%), were retained 
in-house. 

Prior to May 2014, the Authority employed one internal Enforcement Agent to carry 
out this work. A second internal Enforcement Agent was appointed  to retain a greater 
proportion of the work in house which  allowed the Authority to exercise a greater 
degree of control over Enforcement Agent. 

As a result, the proportion of work retained in house has increased from 24% in 
2012/13 to 91% in 2015/16. 

  
 3.6    Contractual Position

The use of external agents to collect outstanding debts on behalf of the Authority is 
subject to a Framework Agreement which came into effect in June 2014 following a 
tender process.

In accordance with the terms set down in this framework agreement, debts are 
passed to the first company on the framework only, (Excel Civil Enforcement). There 
are however three other companies still working on historic cases for debts incurred 
prior to the Framework arrangement being put in place. These are B & S Bailiff 
Services, Andrew James Enforcement and Swift Credit Services.

3.7     Fee Structure 

          The fees associated with Enforcement are statutory, (The Taking Control of Goods  
          (Fees) Regulations 2014), and are appended below. These fees are applicable to 
          Council Tax, Business Rates and Parking debts. 

           Initial Compliance notice  -   £75.00
           Enforcement visit    -            £235.00
           Percentage fee       -            7.5% on debts over £1,500

Page 3



Sundry debts are subject to different enforcement regulations, a County Court 
Judgement has to be obtained before an Enforcement Agent can be instructed..

3.8     Codes of Conduct/Practice and Guidance 

           Attached to this report at Appendix 2 is a copy of the Enforcement Agent Code of 
           Practice as operated by the preferred supplier on the framework agreement and  
           also the Councils own internal code of conduct document.

In addition to the aforementioned codes of conduct, the Ministry of Justice also 
issues National standards for Taking control of goods, see Appendix 3, which are 
incorporated into the External Agents Code of practice document.

3.9     Complaints

          Any complaints concerning Enforcement Agent activity are coordinated initially 
          through the Revenue Section and escalated as appropriate utilising the Authorities 
          Corporate Complaints Procedures. The number of informal complaints received is not 
          recorded as these are usually resolved to the complainants satisfaction at a 
          departmental level. However, it is estimated that less than 10 cases would fall 
          under this categorisation annually. 

          The number of cases escalated to formal complaint status over the last three years 
          are listed below:

Financial Year Complaints received
2013/14 1
2014/15 3
2015/16 0

The Council has not had any formal complaints about it’s in-house Enforcement 
Agents.

3.10    Alternative Recovery Remedies

The letter, attached at Appendix 1, specifically asks that the Authority stops 
instructing Debt collection companies to recover unpaid debts. The use of 
Enforcement Agents to collect unpaid debts is just one of the available remedies for 
non-payment. As the Authority has a fiduciary responsibility and a legal obligation 
under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to collect these debts, stopping 
Enforcement Agents collecting such debts would necessitate utilising one of the 
alternative remedies listed below:

(These would only apply where an Attachment to Earnings or Benefits as mentioned 
in 3.4 above, was not possible).

 Bankruptcy/Insolvency proceedings
 Charging Order
 Committal proceedings

Whilst the above remedies are already available and used by the Authority, the 
additional costs of such action to both the debtor and the Authority can be 

Page 4



substantial. As such, in most cases, instructing an Enforcement Agent would seem to 
be the less onerous option.

          
4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 The use of Enforcement Agents to collect outstanding debts owing to Local 
Authorities has always been subject to robust and comprehensive legislative            
procedures. The Council has always strictly adhered to these regulations and            
through the terms set down in the framework agreement and its monitoring            
processes, ensured that any external agencies acting on its behalf also complied 
with these requirements. 

4.2 The Authority has a responsibility to ensure all debts outstanding are collected in            
a timely manner and in accordance with the statutory provisions. Enforcement 
Agents have only ever been utilised as a last resort where all other avenues have 
been exhausted.

4.3 Ensuring debts are collected in a timely and reasonable manner, has secured            
Corporate budgets and reduced the burden on other Council Tax payers.

4.4    In financial year 2013/14, prior to the second Enforcement Agent being appointed, 
24% of enforcement cases were retained in house. (1,253 cases). The value of            
these cases being £554,124

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1     The Revenue Section will, where resources allow, make early contact with a debtor            
prior to any Court action being taken. This may take the form of a pre-emptive            
telephone call or intervention as a result of other customer related contact. Eg 
applications for reliefs, discounts or changes of address etc. 

5.2     As detailed in 3.5 above, in financial year 2015/16 the Authority passed debts to the            
value of £2,849,053 to Enforcement Agents for collection. Of this figure, £2,584,960 
was retained in house. This also represents 91% of the value of cases issued. If this 
activity were to cease, the loss of income to the Authority would be unsustainable.

5.3      In financial year 2015/16, 91% of enforcement cases were retained in house. The
           remaining 9% of cases with a value of £264,093 were passed to an external 
           enforcement company. 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1      Continue to engage with debtors at the earliest opportunity in order to mitigate the 
           requirement to instruct Enforcement Agents.

6.2      Continue to ensure that all other recovery avenues are exhausted prior to instructing
           an Enforcement Agent to recover the debt.

6.3      Continue to ensure that the Ministry of Justice guidelines and internal and external 
           codes of conduct are strictly followed.Page 5



6.4      Retain a greater proportion of work in house whilst maintaining an external presence 
           to deal with specific cases. These would include out of area cases and cases 
           requiring specific, technical expertise.  

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1      Subject to resource availability, ensure debtors are contacted at the earliest 
           opportunity and offered payment terms before taking court action or instructing 
           Enforcement Agents to collect the debt.  

7.2      Monitor the number of complaints received concerning Enforcement Agent activity
           including those not escalated to the formal complaints procedures and fully 
           investigate those that are.

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES

8.1 Although the use of Debt Recovery companies does not directly impact on any of the 
corporate priorities, it does have an indirect impact through maximising income due 
to the Authority thereby ensuring front line services have sufficient funding to operate 
effectively.

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PLACE & 
TRANSFORMATION).

CLLR PHIL WILLIAMS
 GOVERNANCE & CORPORATE 

SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 6



Appendix 1

Appendix 2

Page 7



CODE OF PRACTICE FOR ENFORCEMENT AGENTS

1. Presentation: enforcement agents must, at all times, be well presented.  A suit is not 
essential but collar and tie is compulsory for male staff.  Jeans, trainers and T shirts 
are not permitted.

2. Manner: enforcement agents will be courteous to debtors, householders or anyone 
contacted in the execution of their duties, referring to debtors by name and 
appropriate term (e.g. Mr Smith, Mrs Jones etc).  Inappropriate references such as 
‘mate’ and ‘love’ will not be used.

3. Identification: enforcement agents will carry at all times, and produce when 
required, their identity card and, where appropriate, the written authorisation of the 
court or local authority.

4. Discretion: enforcement agents will exercise discretion where it is clear that the 
debtor is in a category which requires a high degree of sensitivity (e.g. pensioner, 
single parent, disabled person).  Unless immediate payment is proffered, the 
circumstances should be reported to their line manager before any further action is 
taken.

5. Confidentiality: enforcement agents will ensure that enquiries made in the 
execution of their duties are discreet and do not breach confidentiality or the Data 
Protection Act.

6. Transparency: enforcement agents will issue an official written receipt for every 
payment accepted.

7. Clarity: enforcement agents must ensure, so far as they are able, that the goods 
they intend to take into control and/or remove qualify for seizure according to the 
appropriate regulations.

8. Reputation: enforcement agents will at all times uphold the reputation of the 
company and its clients while on duty.  This includes acting without aggression or 
intimidation and extends to smelling of alcohol.  Alcohol may not be consumed 
during working hours and enforcement agents may not smell of alcohol even when it 
has been consumed out of working hours.  Enforcement agents will not be permitted 
to work under these circumstances and may face disciplinary action. 

9. Accuracy: enforcement agents will not exaggerate available sanctions or make 
similar threats regarding the affect of any warrant.  It is sufficient to advise a debtor 
of what may lawfully be undertaken in execution of a warrant and the consequences 
of non-compliance without embellishment.  Enforcement agents must also ensure, as 
far as they are able, the accuracy of data at the point of execution. 

Page 8



10. Response:  enforcement agents will observe the philosophy of tactical 
communication when interacting with debtors.  They will not over react or react badly 
to signs of aggression or actual aggression but safely withdraw using only 
reasonable force and only if necessary.  Enforcement agents will employ the 
assistance of the police where and when necessary. 

11. Reasonable: enforcement agents will be reasonable in the execution of their duties 
which includes attending at reasonable hours according to the circumstances of the 
case.

12. Care: enforcement agents will be mindful of debtors’ circumstances and take care 
not to position themselves in a situation which could be misinterpreted (e.g. lone 
members of the opposite sex or unattended minors).

13. Efficiency: enforcement agents will adhere to all timescales for the execution of 
warrants and ensure comprehensive attention to each and every warrant issued, 
regardless of locality, value or historical failure.

14. Discipline: enforcement agents will not, under any circumstances, offer personal 
opinions to debtors or amend, alter or add written comment to any notices or forms, 
other than that required to properly complete the document.     

Enforcement agents will have full regard to this Code of Practice, the Taking Control of 
Goods- National Standards as issued by the Ministry of Justice (a copy of which is issued to 
all staff), the Code of Practice issued by the Civil Enforcement Association and any relevant 
client guidelines and additional company directions, whether written or verbal.

Enforcement agents who act unreasonably in contradiction of this code will face disciplinary 
action.

Page 9



Appendix 2 (cont’d)

Internal Bailiff - Code of Practice

1. The Bailiff will either write to you or visit within 5 working days of the debt being 
referred to him/her.

2. The bailiff will visit you to enforce liability orders or to seize your goods at any time 
between 7.00am and 9.00pm unless your circumstances are exceptional.

3. The bailiff will collect the debt within three months of the debt being referred unless 
they have agreed a longer repayment period.

4. Any bailiff who seizes goods must be approved by the County Court.
5. If a bailiff seizes goods, he or she must introduce themselves with identification, which 

will include a photograph and also give reasons for his or her visit. 
6. The bailiff should dress smartly and be polite in all circumstances.
7. The bailiff must carry written authority from us and show it to you if you ask.
8. Bailiffs should give you the chance to:  

i)     Question the amount you owe.                                                                      
ii)    Provide evidence of any payment we have not taken into account; and;   
iii)   Make payment in full, and the bailiff should explain that this payment will 
       stop further proceedings.

9. The bailiff must not enter your home if there is no person over the age of 18 there.
10. The bailiff must not threaten you with other ways of enforcing the liability order but may 

advise you that imprisonment may be an action the Council could take.
11. If you or your partner are not in when the bailiff visits, the bailiff may not discuss the 

visit with any other person.
12. If a bailiff wants to get information about where you are, he or she should do so 

discreetly without giving the reason for their visit.
13.  If you pay the bailiff in full, he or she must tell us and take no further action until we 

give them further instructions.
14. The bailiff should wait to receive instruction from us before going ahead where there is 

evidence of vulnerability. (See vulnerability policy).
15. If your second language is English and is limited, you should ask someone you know 

to interpret.
16. Bailiffs should advise you of the complaints and appeals procedures if you ask for this 

information.
17. Bailiffs should make sure they do everything possible to contact you personally.
18. If we find out that you are receiving an attachable benefit, we may, if appropriate, stop 

action against you and issue an Attachment of Benefit Order.
19. Bailiffs should know about the rules of entering your home.
20. If a bailiff comes to seize your goods, he or she must clearly tell you what they cannot 

take legally.
21. If a ‘walking possession’ has been entered into, the bailiff will give you a list of the 

goods they can take. This means you can keep the listed goods at your home while 
you pay off the debt, but they will be sold if you do not.

22. If a bailiff removes your goods, he or she must make sure your goods are handled with 
care and attention and kept safe.

23. The bailiff must make sure that the goods are insured and safely stored before they 
are sold.

Page 10



24. If you make a complaint about the bailiff, the Authority will investigate the complaint 
and provide a full written response in accordance with the Authorities complaints 
procedures.

25. The bailiff must provide you with a full breakdown of costs if requested.

 Vulnerable situations

Enforcement officer must withdraw if the only person on domestic premises is or appears to 
be under 18, but can enquire when the debtor will return. If person appears to be under 12 
then the enforcement officer shall withdraw without making any enquiries.

Wherever possible, enforcement agents should have arrangements in place for rapidly 
accessing translation services when these are needed, and provide on request information 
in large print or in Braille for debtors with impaired sight

If a debtor appears to be potentially vulnerable then the enforcement officer shall use his 
discretion as to whether enforcement action is immediately appropriate and refer to his 
supervisor/manager.

Those who might be potentially vulnerable include;

Elderly persons

Physically or mentally disabled persons

Persons suffering from a serious or long term illness

Recently bereaved persons

Removal of goods should be approved by the bailiff’s line manager.

Persons who have problems understanding, speaking or reading English

Businesses where the removal of goods might make a significant number of people 
unemployed or where the loss of a vital service to the area might be incurred

Page 11



Appendix 3

Page 12



Introduction 

1. These standards are intended for use by all enforcement agents, public and
private, the enforcement agencies th at employ them and the major creditors who 
use their services. Private sector enforcement agents who are recovering debts 
owed to the public sector perform the vast majority of enforcement work, and this 
document has established a set of common standards to cover this act ivity 
supporting the underpinning legislation. In order to improve t he public's 
perception of the profession, enforcement agents and those who employ them or 
use their services, must maintain high standards of business ethics and practice.  

2. This national guidance does not replace local agreements, existing agency codes
of practice or legislation; rather it sets out what the Ministry of Justice, those in 
the industry and some major users re gard as minimum standards.  

3. We recognise this document is not legally binding, but offer it as a helpful tool for
the industry and for creditors which, it  is hoped, will inform their own 
arrangements and against which they may benchmark their professional 
standards.  

Terms used 

4. In this document we have used the following terms:

Creditor: this includes - a local authority, major or frequent judgment creditors in 
the civil courts, Government Departments and HM Courts and Tribunals Service to 
whom financial penalties are paid, and landlords undertaking the commercial rent 
arrears recovery (CRAR) process. . 

Debtor: a person who owes a sum of money - t his may be a judgment debt or a 
criminal financial penalty fine which is in default or a liability order. The debtor 
should behave lawfully and is encouraged to co-operate with the enforcement 
agent. The term “debtor” where appropriate and applicable, also covers individuals 
who are being wrongly pursued for a debt in respect of which they are not the 
actual debtor.  

Enforcement: we mean the lawful process of warrant or writ execution, and taking 
control of goods.  

Enforcement Agency: the business that employs enforcement agents, unless 
specifically indicated (where different arrangements exist); we also include those 
public sector organisations that have in-house enforcement agents.  

Enforcement Agent: someone who is responsible for the enforcement of court 
orders against goods (warrants of control) or the person (arrest warrants);  we 
include those employed in the public and private sector, bailif fs and High Court 
Enforcement Officers.   

Creditors' Responsibilities 

5. In order for the enforcement process to work effectively, creditors must be fully
aware of their own responsibilities. T he primary purpose of this guidance for 
creditors is to draw their attention to their responsibilities when instructing and 
dealing with enforcement agents/agencies to recover debts on their behalf.  

6. The creditors responsibilities should be observed and set out in terms of
agreement with their enforcement agent/agency. They should consider carefully 
any specific requirements for financial guarantee s so that these are adequate, 
fair and appropriate for the work involved.  

Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Statutory or Financial Requirements for Enforcement Agencies 1

32. Enforcement agencies should ensure that audited accounts are available, where
required by law. An annual audit of th e agency's accounts by independent 
accountants should be undertaken at least once a year for businesses where this 
is appropriate.  

33. Enforcement agencies must comply with statutory obligations, for example, the
Companies Act, HMRC provisions, Data Protection, Health & Safety etc.  

34. A separate account for monies due to the creditor should be maintained and
accurate books and accounts should be kept and made available to establish 
monies owed to the creditor.  

35. Enforcement agencies must keep a complete record of all financial transactions
in whatever capacity undertaken.  

36. Enforcement agencies must maintain suitable and comprehensive
insurance cover for both professional indemnity and other risks including 
employer's liability and public liability.

Training and Certification 

37. Enforcement agencies must ensure that all agents, employees and contractors
are provided with appropriate training to ensure that they understand and are
able to act, at all times, professionally and within the bounds of the relevant 
legislation. This training should be provided at the commencement of
employment and at intervals afterwards to ensure that their knowledge is kept up 
to date.  

38. Professional training/assessment should be to a standard that complies with
relevant legislation.  

39. Enforcement agencies must ensure that legislation restricting the enforcement
activity to enforcement agents is complied with2

40. Enforcement agencies must ensure that all employees, contractors and agents
will at all times act within the scope of current legislation, for example The 
Companies Act, HMRC provisions, Data Protection, Health and Safety, Equality, 
and Human Rights Act etc, and have an appropriate knowled ge and 
understanding of it and be aware of any statutory obligations and provide 
relevant training.  

41. Enforcement agents should be trained to recognise and avoid potentially
hazardous and aggressive situations and to withdraw when in doubt abo ut their 
own or others' safety.  

42. Enforcement agents should be trained to recognise vulnerable debtors, to alert
creditors where they have identified such debtors and when to withdraw from 
such a situation.  

1 Separate provisions regarding financial accounting and insurance may apply to public sector 
organisations who directly employ their own enforcement agents 

2 The Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement Act 2007. 
Page 16



Complaints/Discipline 

43. Enforcement agencies must operate complaints and disciplinary procedures with
which their agents must be fully aware of.  

44. The debtor should be able to easily find out how to make a complaint and
obstacles should not be placed in their way.  

45. The complaints procedure should be set out in plain English, have a main point of
contact, set time limits for dealing with complaints and include an independent 
appeal process where appropriate. A register should be maintained to r ecord all 
complaints and complainants should be notified  of the outcome of disputes.  

46. Enforcement agents/agencies are encouraged to make use of the complaints and
disciplinary procedures of professional associations such as The Civil 
Enforcement Association or the High Court Enforcement Of ficers Association.  

47. The enforcement agent must make available details of their own and the
creditor’s complaints procedure on request or when circumstances ind icate it 
would be appropriate to do so.  

Information and confidentiality

48. All notices, correspondence and documentation issued by the enforcement
agent/agency must be clear, complete and unambiguous  an d to the satisfaction 
of the creditor. They must not use unhelpful legal or technical language and 
should comply with relevant legislation.  

49. On returning any un-executed warrants, the enforcement agent should report the
outcome to the creditor and provide further appropriate information, where this is 
requested and, where appropriate, paid for by the creditor. 

50. All information obtained during the administration and enforcement of warrants
must be treated as confidential between the enforcement agent, debtor, the
creditor and any third parties nominated by the debtor. 

51. Enforcement agents should provide clear and prompt information to debtors and
where appropriate, creditors.  

52. Enforcement agents should, so far as it is practical, avoid disclosing the purpose
of their visit to anyone other than the debtor or a third party nominated by the 
debtor, for example an advice agency representative. Where the debtor is not 
seen, the relevant documents must be left at the  address in a sealed envelope 
addressed to the debtor.  

53. Enforcement agents should make debtors aware of the possible additional costs
of enforcement which will be incurre d if further action becomes necessary. If a 
written request is made, an itemised account should be provided.  

54. Enforcement agents will clearly explain and give in writing, the consequences of
taking control of a debtor's goods.  

Times and Hours  

55. Enforcement agents should be respectful of the religion and culture of others at
all times.  They should carefully consider the appropriateness of undertaking 
enforcement on any day of religious or cultural observance or during any major 
religious or cultural festival.  

Page 17



56. Enforcement action should only be carried out between the hours of 6.00am and
9.00pm, or at any time during trading hours, unless otherwise authorised  by a 
court. Existing legislat ion must be observed.  

Mode of entry

57. Enforcement agents should not seek to gain peaceable entry to premises under
false pretences; for example asking to use the toilet, or to use the telephone. 
They should be clear as to why they are seeking entry to the premises.

58. Enforcement agents should only enter premises as part of the enforcement
process. 

59. Enforcement agents must only use a door or usual means of entry to enter
premises.   

60. A power to enter premises by force exists for the execution of High Court and 
County Court debts at business premises or at any premises where an
enforcement agent is enforcing criminal penalties. This power should only be 
used to the extent that it is reasonably required and only after the debtor has 
been warned that the power exists and the consequences of  a wilful refusal to 
co-operate.

61. A power to re-enter premises by force applies to both residential and business
premises where a controlled goods agreement is in place and the goods remain 
on the premises but the debtor has failed to comply with the repayment terms of 
the controlled goods agreement. This power should only be used to the extent 
that it is reasonably required and only after the debtor has been given notice of 
the enforcement agent’s intention to re-enter. 

Goods 

62. Enforcement agents must only take goods in accordance with the appropriate
regulations or statute. In addition creditors may agree other restriction s with 
agents acting on their behalf.  

63. Enforcement agents must ensure that goods are handled with proper care so that
they do not suffer any damage or cause damage to other goods or property, 
whilst in their possession. Enforcement agents should have insurance in place for 
goods in transit so that if damage occurs this is covered by the policy.  

64. Enforcement agents should not remove anything clearly identifiable as an item
belonging to, or for the exclusive use of a child (person under the age of 16) or 
items clearly identifiable as required for the care and treatment of the disabled, 
elderly and seriously ill. 

65. A detailed and complete receipt for the goods removed should be given to the
debtor or left at the premises in accordance with the appropriate regulations.  

66. Enforcement agents should take all reasonable steps to satisfy themselves that
the value of the goods taken into control to cover the sum outstanding is 
proportional to the value of the debt and fees owed.  

67. Enforcement agents should not take control or remove goods clearly belonging
solely to a third party not responsible for the debt. Where a claim is made, the 
third party should be given clear in structions on the process required to recover 
their goods.

Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Draft Annual Governance Statement for financial 
year 2015/16.

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide the Governance, Performance, Business 
Change and Corporate Services Committee with the opportunity to challenge and 
contribute to the contents of the Annual Governance Statement 2015/16.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny 
Committee notes and contributes to the content and production of the Annual 
Governance Statement 2015/16.

3.0 INTRODUCTION 

3.1 The Accounts and Audit (Wales) regulations 2014 require that Council annually 
approve a Statement on Internal Control (SIC) for each financial year and that the 
SIC accompanies the audited Statement of Accounts. 

3.2 Guidance has been received which indicates that the inclusion of the Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS) with the Statement of Accounts instead of the SIC is 
regarded as best practice for Wales. The production of an AGS to accompany the 
accounts in respect of the 2015/2016 financial year meets the requirement to 
produce a SIC.

Date Written 28th June 2016
Report Author Louise Ballinger / Gary Evans
Service Area Internal Audit
Committee Date 05th July 2016

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



4.0 BACKGROUND

4.1 The information that is taken into consideration when producing the Annual 
Governance Statement includes performance management information, work 
completed by the Internal Audit Service, work completed by the External Auditor and 
other external inspection agencies, Scrutiny work, Risk Management and the Internal 
Control Framework including procedures, codes of conduct and policies and financial 
management controls as outlined in the CIPFA guidance.

4.2 The Internal Audit Service and key officers of the Council carried out a review based 
on CIPFA guidance to ensure that evidence was in place to support the production of 
the Annual Governance Statement, to identify gaps where that was not the case and 
to review the effectiveness of existing arrangements. This was undertaken as in 
previous years by utilising a spreadsheet based checklist that was circulated to the 
key officers (including members of the Corporate Management Team) for completion 
and also by providing follow up meetings/correspondence with Internal Audit staff to 
provide support where required.

4.3 This work has culminated in the production of a draft version of the Annual 
Governance Statement (Appendix A) which is presented today for consultation and 
discussion to receive the views and input of the Governance, Performance , 
Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee on the contents of the 
draft statement and significant governance issues identified.  Any comments/ 
suggestions will be incorporated where applicable into the draft AGS which will then 
be provided to the external auditors along with the draft statement of accounts at the 
end of June/beginning of July. This is a change to the process from previous years to 
meet the request of the Wales Audit Office to provide a draft version of the AGS with 
the draft Statement of Accounts.

4.4 The draft AGS has been presented to Corporate Management Team for 
consideration and input and will be presented to Audit Committee for consideration 
during July 2016.  

4.5 The final version of the AGS including the significant governance issues will be 
presented to Audit Committee and Full Council in September 2016 and published 
with the Statement of Accounts.

5.0 FORMAT OF ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (AGS)

5.1 A standard format for the AGS has been produced by the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) as shown below:

1) Scope of Responsibility.
2) The Purpose of the Governance Framework.
3) The Governance Framework (this includes a description of the key elements 

of the systems and processes).
4) Review of Effectiveness.
5) Significant Governance Issues.

Page 22



5.2 It is important to recognise that the AGS covers all significant corporate systems, 
processes and controls, spanning the whole range of the Council’s activities, 
including in particular those designed to ensure that:

 The Council’s policies are implemented in practice;
 High-quality services are delivered efficiently and effectively;
 The Council’s values and ethical standards are met;
 Laws and regulations are complied with;
 Required processes are adhered to;
 Performance statements and other published information are accurate and 

reliable; and
 Human, financial and other resources are managed efficiently and effectively.

5.3 The AGS should be approved at a meeting of the Council or delegated committee 
and signed by the Chief Executive and a Leading Member (usually the Leader of the 
Council).

5.3 Attached as Appendix A is a copy of the draft AGS for 2015/16.

Ellis Cooper
Corporate Director Place & 
Transformation

Cllr. Phil Williams
Cabinet Member for Governance & 

Corporate Services

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

CIPFA Guidance
AGS Evidence File 2015/16 financial year

Internal Audit 
Internal Audit 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A
MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT – 2015-16 (DRAFT)

1.  SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (the Council) is responsible for ensuring that its 
business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public 
money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and 
effectively. It is a requirement of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 that Local 
Authorities make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the exercise of their 
functions by identifying their own priorities for improvement.

In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for putting in place proper 
arrangements for the governance of its affairs, and facilitating the effective exercise of its 
functions, which includes arrangements for the management of risk.

The Council has approved a Code of Corporate Governance which is consistent with the 
principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework “Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government”. (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy/Society of Local 
Authority Chief Executives).  

This Annual Governance Statement explains how the Council has complied with the 
CIPFA/SOLACE Framework and also meets the requirements of Part 3 of the Accounts and 
Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014.  This includes the additional requirements as detailed in the 
addendum to the CIPFA/SOLACE framework and the Additional Chief Finance Officer (CFO) 
Requirements.

2.  THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

Governance is about how local government bodies ensure that they are doing the right 
things, in the right way, for the right people, in a timely, inclusive, open, honest and 
accountable manner. 

A governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and values, by 
which the Council and its activities are directed and controlled. It also embodies the way in 
which it accounts to, engages with, and leads the community. It enables the Council to 
monitor the delivery of its Corporate Priorities for Improvement and to consider whether this 
has led to improved outcomes for the citizen. The system of internal control is a significant 
part of that framework and is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot 
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies or deliver its priorities and can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 

The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and 
prioritise the risks to the achievement of the Council’s policies and Corporate Priorities. It 
also evaluates the likelihood of those risks being realised and the associated impact should 
they occur, and identifies how the risks will be managed. 

A governance framework has been in place at the Council for the year ended 31st March 
2016 and up to the date of approval of the Annual Governance Statement and Statement of 
Accounts.

Page 25



Appendix A
3.  THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

The following is a description of the systems and processes that comprise the Council’s 
governance arrangements including arrangements for:  

(a) Identifying and communicating the authority’s vision of its purpose and intended 
outcomes for citizens and service users:

The Corporate Plan sets out our ambition for Merthyr Tydfil to 2017.  The Corporate Plan 
is the primary tool of the Council to communicate the purpose, vision and intended 
outcomes for citizens and service users.  The Corporate Plan identifies the Council’s top 
priorities which are referred to as our Priority Areas. These support the Vision and Priority 
Outcomes identified for Merthyr Tydfil which are set out in the County Borough’s Single 
Integrated Plan 2013/17.

Priority Outcomes Single Integrated Plan Priority Areas Corporate Plan 2013-
2017

People in Merthyr Tydfil have the 
opportunity and aspiration to learn and 
develop their skills to maximise their 
potential.

Raising Standards of Attainment

People in Merthyr Tydfil benefit from a 
strong, sustainable and diverse economy.

Economic Development

Employability

People, who live and work in Merthyr Tydfil 
are supported to enjoy a healthier and 
better quality of life.

Promoting Independence

Meeting the needs of vulnerable children

Active Lifestyles

People enjoy a vibrant, attractive, safe and 
sustainable place in which to live, work, play 
and visit.

Sustainable Environment

Delivery of the Single Integrated Plan (SIP) was the responsibility of the Merthyr Tydfil 
Local Service Board (LSB) until it was replaced by the Cwm Taf Public Service Board in 
May 2016. 

As part of its production process the SIP underwent a statutory/public consultation 
exercise. 

(b) Reviewing the vision for Merthyr Tydfil and its implications for the Council’s 
governance arrangements:

The Council keeps the above under review and development. The annual review of 
governance arrangements will take into account any changes to the Vision in the future. 

The Single Integrated Plan that contains the vision for Merthyr Tydfil will be subject to 
annual review by the Local Service board partners.  

Page 26



Appendix A

Each year the Council produces the Corporate Plan - Annual Delivery Document which 
provides an update to the Corporate Plan based on new planned activities and lessons 
learnt from in year self-evaluations.  The Annual Delivery Document for 2015/16 was 
reported to Full Council in June 2015. The Council’s Vision and priorities were reviewed 
again later in 2015 and the stated priorities confirmed. 

(c) Translating the vision into objectives for the authority and its partnerships:

The Single Integrated Plan identifies clear outcomes that will have a positive impact for 
people.

The Corporate Plan supports the vision and priority outcomes identified for Merthyr Tydfil 
within the Local Service Board's Single Integrated Plan 2013 to 2017.

The priorities of the Single Integrated Plan focus on making progress on outcomes in 
partnership with other organisations, whilst the priorities in the Corporate Plan focus on 
those that are predominantly the responsibility of the Council.

(d) Measuring the quality of services for users for ensuring they are delivered in 
accordance with the Council’s objectives for ensuring that they best represent the 
use of resources:

In July/August of 2013 a series of workshops were held to develop a Corporate Self 
Evaluation model; part of this covers quality of provision/service delivery and services are 
asked to identify the systems they have in place to measure, validate and challenge 
quality of service delivery. A Service Performance Challenge programme ran from 
September 2014 through July 2015. This programme reviewed service self-evaluations 
and provided challenge on service performance. The challenge helps the Council identify 
areas of improvement work within services.

During 2015/16 the self-evaluation process undertaken by services continued with all 
services producing a self-evaluation, however, there was a change to the service 
performance challenge with the establishment of the Performance Board.  The purpose of 
the Performance Board is to create an arena where senior officers and elected members 
can discuss and challenge performance on a diverse range of service improvement 
related topics.  The Performance Board met for the first time in November 2015 and then 
again in February and March 2016.  There will be six Performance Board meetings each 
year and their focus will be on the four corporate strategies and the organisational 
improvement strategy.  

Value for Money of services provided by the Council is considered as part of the 
Corporate Self Evaluation/Performance Service Challenge framework adopted by the 
Council. This is beginning to become intrinsically linked to the allocation of scarce 
resources through the budget setting process as evidenced through the Service Budget 
Review process for the 2015/16 budget.  The budget for 2016/17 is set based on the 
principles of transformation and outcome focused redesign of council services.  
Arrangements are continuously evolving through the Change Management and 
Performance Framework although it is recognised that further progress needs to be 
maintained, monitored and applied consistently.

Page 27



Appendix A
The Council’s budget process establishes the resources required to deliver its services 
and Corporate Priorities for Improvement, which involves a review of the overall use of 
resources.

Internal Audit’s annual plan of work includes reviewing the use of resources.

Consultation is used to gauge the public perception of services provided.

It is recognised that there is a need to implement a process to align priorities and 
resources to deliver the appropriate level of service and a process to determine which 
services need to be delivered in an alternative way.

The Wales Audit Office Annual Improvement Report 2015/16 made positive comments on 
the self-evaluation process stating that the council is developing its arrangements for 
improvement planning and self-evaluation, but that there are weaknesses in the Council’s 
arrangements for responding to external regulatory reports.

The self-evaluation process aims to ensure that each service area has robust 
arrangements in place to provide information to enable quality of service to be measured. 

As part of the partnership review undertaken in 2015/16 proposals have been made and 
are being implemented that will reduce costs in relation to staff time by streamlining 
partnership structures, however, it is recognised that arrangements do need 
strengthening including being able to better measure value for money. These are being 
looked at in terms of the new arrangements for the Public Services Board and the new 
Strategic Partnership Board.

The Service Improvement Framework sets out the key components of the Council’s 
improvement planning process. This needs to be updated to reflect changes to the 
Council’s updated approach and to meet the requirements of the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

The complaints procedure has undergone a review and an updated model was presented 
to, and adopted by Council in September 2014.

(e) Defining and documenting the roles and responsibilities of the executive, non-
executive, scrutiny and officer functions with clear delegation arrangements and 
protocols for effective communication:

The Council sets out the respective roles and responsibilities of Councillors and Senior 
Officers in the Council’s constitution.

All Committees and member bodies are set out in the Council’s Constitution. The Scheme 
of Delegation details where responsibility for functions lie and in respect of decisions to be 
made, identifies which body or person makes those decisions which result in actions 
either being taken or not.

The constitution sets out the protocol on councillor/officer relations and sets out the 
specific role of councillors and officers and of the relationship that should exist.  

Page 28



Appendix A

(f) Developing, communicating and embedding codes of conduct, defining the 
standards of behaviours for members and staff:

There are codes of conduct in place which have been formally approved and 
communicated to all relevant staff. The Employee Code of Conduct and Members Code 
of Conduct form part of the Constitution. Copies of Codes are also available on the 
Council’s Intranet and Internet site. Booklets are produced and disseminated to 
employees and councillors on request. All new starters with the Council receive a copy of 
the Employee Code of Conduct. All members of staff have been issued with a Staff 
Handbook which provides a summary of relevant policies and working practices.

(g) Reviewing and updating standing orders, standing financial instructions, a scheme 
of delegation and supporting procedure notes/manuals, which clearly define how 
decisions are taken and the processes and controls required to manage risks:

The Constitution has been updated to reflect the changes both in terms of the political 
management structure arrangements and organisational structure in the Council. In 
addition, there have been a number of changes required as a result of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2011.  The Council’s Constitution sets out how the Council 
operates, how decisions are made and the procedures followed to ensure that these are 
efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. Responsibility for decision-making, 
the role of the Council, the Cabinet, Committees and the process for determining the 
Council’s key decisions are defined in the Constitution. Delegations are detailed so that 
the functions of the Council, Cabinet, Cabinet Members, Committees and Officers are 
specified.

The Constitution contains amongst other things, Rules of Procedure including the 
Financial Procedure Rules and the Procurement and Contracting Rules. The 
Procurement and Contracting Rules were revised and approved in April 2014. The Rules 
have been further amended to reflect the Public Contract Regulations 2015 and the 
updated Welsh Procurement Policy Statement which was issued in June 2015. These 
amendments were approved by Full Council in January 2016. The Financial Procedure 
Rules have been reviewed. It is recognised that they require amendment to reflect 
changes in structures, systems and processes operating within the Council and work to 
this effect is underway.

The Audit Committee has a role in reviewing and scrutinising the appropriateness of the 
Council’s Risk Management arrangements, which should be supported and driven by a 
Risk Management Policy and Strategy. 

In order to emphasise the importance of Risk Management across the Local Authority, the 
Deputy Leader of the Council is the Councillor Risk Management Champion as set out in 
the Policy and Strategy. The Policy and Strategy also clearly sets out Risk Management 
Roles and Responsibilities across the Council, including for the Chief Executive, 
Directors, Heads of Service, Operational/Team Managers, Employees and Councillors. 

The Council’s revised and updated Risk Management Policy and Strategy was approved 
by Full Council on 16th July 2014.  Risk registers are in place which capture the risks and 
issues that could prevent or hinder the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Strategies.   
The Council’s Performance Board is an integral part of reporting on the Risk Registers 

Page 29



Appendix A
enabling the Local Authority to challenge services about risks and issues, whilst also 
supporting the identification of any new or emerging risks and issues.

(h) Undertaking the core functions of an Audit Committee, as identified in CIPFA’s 
Audit Committee – Practical Guidance for Local Authorities:

The Council has established an Audit Committee, which undertakes the core functions of 
an audit committee as identified in CIPFA’s Audit Committees – Practical Guidance for 
Local Authorities. In accordance with the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 one 
member of the Audit Committee is a Lay Member. The Audit Committee has an up to date 
terms of reference that is contained within the Council’s Constitution. The Wales Audit 
Office have recently identified the need for the Council strengthen its arrangements for 
responding to regulatory reports including formalising a process and clarifying which 
committees should receive the reports.
 

(i) Ensuring compliance with relevant laws and regulations, internal policies and 
procedures, and that the expenditure is lawful:

The Council has in place a framework of Procedures, Rules and Policies that sets out 
how policy decisions are made. Key roles are performed by statutory officers, including 
the Council’s Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, Section 151 Officer, Chief 
Education Officer, and Statutory Director of Social Services. 

A regular programme of work is carried out by Internal Audit reviewing compliance with 
established procedures and expected controls. In addition, Scrutiny Committees, External 
Audit and External Inspection Agencies contribute to the review of the Council’s 
compliance with its policies, procedures, laws and regulations.

A Risk Management Framework has been established which aims to embed risk 
management into the operational and strategic management of the Council. Key risks are 
identified in Service Risk Registers and a Corporate Risk Register and a Risk 
Management Strategy adopted.  

The self-evaluation process has continued with all services producing a self-evaluation 
during the financial year.

The Council sets a balanced budget with revenue and capital budgets being integrated 
annually. This is embodied by the production of a Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), 
which sets out likely expenditure and income over a 3-year period which allows for more 
certain forward planning for the delivery of services and linking this to the level of 
resources potentially available. The MTFP is presented to the Council as part of the 
budget setting process.

Appropriate limits have been approved in line with the Prudential Code for Capital 
Accounting. Budgets are monitored regularly and members receive financial information 
that is relevant, understandable and consistent with the underlying financial records. 
Financial reserves are kept under review.  Creation of the Budget Board in 2014/15 has 
had a significant impact in respect of accountability for budget management with surplus 
revenue budget outturns reported for 2015/16 and an adequate, healthy general reserves 
balance maintained.

There had been vacancies in Internal Audit in 2014/15. In order to help deliver the audit 
work plan the services of an agency auditor were obtained. It was recognised that the use 

Page 30



Appendix A
of external agency support is not an efficient long-term solution and the vacancies in the 
Service were filled in later in 2014/15. This was partly successful however as further 
vacancies occurred in 2015/16. The Service is recruiting for 3 posts (as at June 2016) 
which are critical to ensure an effective and viable Internal Audit Service is provided. 

(j) Reviewing the effectiveness of the framework for identifying and managing risks 
and demonstrating clear accountability:

The Council has an approved Risk Management Strategy that includes a Corporate Risk 
Management Policy Statement. The Strategy and the inclusive Policy Statement is 
regularly updated to ensure it remains up to date and continues to reflect the Council’s 
approach to Risk Management. The Council’s Risk Management Strategy has been 
updated with approaches for managing risk in relation to partnerships and was approved 
by Council in July 2014.
 
Each Chief Officer has a Risk Register in place which captures the risks and issues that 
could prevent or hinder the delivery of the corporate strategies.  Each Head of Service 
also has a Risk Register in place.  The Council’s updated Corporate Risk Register for 
2015/16 was prepared using a combination of the following risk sources:

• Two Corporate Management Team Risk Identification Workshops;
• Corporate Risks that were identified in the Corporate Risk Register 2014/15;
• An analysis and grouping of the identified risks that were scored 12 or above in the 
Service Risk Registers and the identified issues in the Service Risk Registers.

Each Corporate Risk for 2015/16 was allocated to a Lead Director who has responsibility 
for ensuring their corporate risks are monitored, reported and managed.  In addition, 
appropriate Cabinet Members were identified as Lead Councillors for specific corporate 
risks in the Corporate Risk Register for 2015/16.

The Council’s Annual Risk Management Progress Report and the Updated Corporate 
Risk Register for 2015/16 were presented to Audit Committee and Cabinet in February 
2016.

Risk management continues to be an integral part of the Council’s Transformation 
Programme and Financial Planning and Budget setting processes.

(k) Whistleblowing and arrangements for receiving and investigating complaints from 
the public:

The Council has a Whistleblowing Policy which forms part of the Council’s Constitution. 
The Whistleblowing Policy was updated and amended during 2014/2015 to incorporate 
legislative change. A full review of the process has taken place and arrangements 
publicised by posters and a staff survey which suggests that staff are aware of the 
process but further work needs to be done to boost staff confidence in the process and to 
ensure that everyone has full understanding and access.  The Council also has an Anti-
Fraud and Corruption Policy and it is recognised that the policy is in need of review. Both 
of these documents can be accessed via the Council’s intranet site.

The Council has a Corporate Compliments, Comments and Complaints Procedure that 
was agreed by Council on 10th September 2014 and this document is available on the 
Internet. Social Services also maintain their own departmental Complaints Policy which 
supports the implementation of the Social Services Complaints Procedures (Wales) 

Page 31



Appendix A
Regulations 2014 and the Representations Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 and 
brings the complaints process for Social Services in line with the Model Concerns and 
Complaints Policy and Guidance and the NHS Complaints Procedure “Putting Things 
Right”.

(l) Identifying the development needs of members and senior officers in relation to 
their strategic roles, supported by appropriate training:

The Council’s website contains policies relating to Employee Code of Conduct, Financial 
Procedure Rules, Procurement and Risk Management, Health and Safety etc. All 
Councillors are invited to attend induction-training courses when elected and may not 
take up office until they have received training in the Code of Conduct.  Training is 
provided to Councillors based on their training needs analysis.  Party leader also hold 1:1 
meetings with their members and produced personal development plans.

Training needs assessments are undertaken for specific skill areas periodically. The 
Council has Training Officers who organise training courses for staff.

The Council maintains a Personal Professional Development Plan process for staff and a 
‘One to One and Annual Review/Appraisal’ process is in place.

(m)Establishing clear channels of communication with all sections of the community 
and other stakeholders, ensuring accountability and encouraging open 
consultation:

Consultation and engagement is one of the main tools the Council uses to inform and 
understand the opinions and views of local residents, customers and other stakeholders 
within the County Borough. 

There has been clear sustained progress in all of the communication channels employed 
by the Council. These are principally:

 Contact Magazine  Council’s Website
 Council’s internal Intranet  Electronic Signage Facilities 
 Use of local, regional and national 

media
 Use of service users for planning 

groups
 Chief Executive’s Core brief
 Social Media including Facebook 

and Twitter

 Improved telecommunication access 
channels

 Specific consultation on change 
programmes e.g. Chief Executive 
Information Sessions

The Single Integrated Plan is reviewed on a yearly basis. During 2015/16, a mid-term 
review of the SIP took place which resulted in a more streamlined SIP focussing on the 
added value, collaboration and impact on the community.  Throughout the review 
process, consideration of the impending implementation of the Future Generations Act 
has been given and a clear focus on future requirements has informed the changes being 
undertaken as part of the review. The revised SIP for 15/16 was presented to and 
approved by the LSB in October 2015 following approval by the Council in November 
2015.

The revised SIP for 15/16 will be made available on the Council's web-site and LSB 
partners web-sites following translation which is currently taking place. 

Page 32



Appendix A
 
There are clear channels of communication in place corporately for all consultation and 
engagement activity.  This is done through the Cwm Taf Engagement Hub, Council’s 
website, social media sites and the contact community magazine.  It addition to this, there 
is a citizen panel for Merthyr Tydfil and a combined panel with Rhondda Cynon Taff to 
ensure that the Council is consulting and engaging with all sections of the community.  

Responsibility for consultation and engagement now sits with the Corporate 
Communications and Consultation Team within the Council and is also supported 
collaboratively across the Cwm Taf footprint by the newly established Cwm Taf Public 
Engagement Group. 

The Council is now more proactive with all consultation and engagement across the Cwm 
Taf Footprint through closer partnership working via the strategic and practitioners public 
engagement group meetings. 

The Authority publishes a Community Magazine (Contact) which informs all our 
stakeholders of what is happening across the County Borough.  The magazine is 
distributed to every household across the County Borough and is also published on the 
Council's website and staff internet site.       

Regular progress updates are provided on all communication and consultation activity 
internally through the Communications and Consultation Group, the Transformational 
Steering Group and the Transformation Programme Board.  Progress on certain 
consultation exercises are also communicated back to the Cwm Taf Public Engagement 
Group.

(n) Incorporating good governance arrangements in respect of partnerships and other 
joint working as identified by the Audit Commission’s report on the governance of 
partnerships, and reflecting these in the Authority’s overall governance 
arrangements:

The Council works in partnership with a range of organisations in order to deliver its 
objectives and priorities. Some examples include:

 The Merthyr Tydfil Local Service Board, which included Police, Health Board, Third 
Sector, and a representative from the Welsh Government; (Replaced by the Cwm Taf 
Public Service Board from May 2016)

 The Cwm Taf Regional Collaboration Board which had a strong focus on collaboration 
across the region. The Board consists of senior representatives of Councils, Police, 
Health Board, Third Sector, and representatives from the Welsh Government; 
(Replaced by the Cwm Taf Public Service Board from May 2016

 Key Strategic Partnerships for Health Social Care and Well Being; Children and 
Young People; and Community Safety combined to form a single Partnership Board 
for Merthyr Tydfil; (This has been replaced by the Cwm Taf Strategic Partnership 
Board from May 2016.)

 Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership Board to prepare for and oversee 
implementation of the Social Services & Well Being Act.

 Welsh Local Government Association; and
 The City Deal – Ten South East Wales local authorities, in partnership with the Welsh 

Government, in developing and securing a City Deal with the UK Government.
Page 33



Appendix A

The Council has developed a Partnership Risk Management Toolkit that has received 
approval from the Corporate Management Team. The Toolkit provides a framework for 
identifying and managing the risks associated with creating, establishing, managing and 
delivering successful partnerships. The Toolkit was piloted by a range of services across 
the Council to test its effectiveness and provide feedback on any necessary 
improvements. Following this trial and feedback received from services involved in the 
trial, the draft Toolkit has been updated where necessary to reflect the feedback from the 
pilot. 

It has been proposed that the Toolkit will be an integral part of the new Partnership Board 
that has been established to ensure that all collaborative arrangements deliver improved 
outcomes and value for money for the people of Merthyr Tydfil.  The Council are awaiting 
further direction from the Partnership Board on the utilisation of the Toolkit.

(o) Ensuring the Authority’s financial management arrangements conform with the 
governance requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief 
Financial Officer in Local Government (2010) and, where they do not, explain why 
and how they deliver the same impact:

The Section 151 Officer (Chief Finance Officer) is the responsible officer for 
administration of the Council’s financial affairs under section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

The Chief Finance Officer reports strategically to the Chief Executive and operationally to 
the Corporate Director for Place & Transformation and is a member of Corporate 
Management Team.  

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that appropriate advice is given on 
all financial matters, for maintaining proper financial accounts and records and 
maintaining an effective system of internal financial control.

In line with CIPFA’s ‘Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in the Public 
Service Organisations’ (2009) and the ‘Statement of the Role of the Chief Financial 
Officer in Local Government’ (2010) the Council’s Chief Financial Officer:

 Is a key member of the Leadership Team, helping it to develop and implement 
strategy and to resource and deliver the Council’s strategic objectives sustainably and 
in the public interest;

 Is actively involved in, and able to bring influence to bear on all material business 
decisions to ensure immediate and longer term implications, opportunities and risks 
are fully considered, and alignment with the Council’s financial strategy; and 

 Leads the promotion and delivery by the whole Council of good financial management 
so that public money is safeguarded at all times and used appropriately, 
economically, efficiently and effectively.

To deliver these responsibilities the Chief Finance Officer:

 Leads and directs a finance function that is resourced to be fit for purpose; and
 Is professionally qualified and suitably experienced.

Page 34



Appendix A
(p) Ensuring effective counter-fraud and anti-corruption arrangements are developed 

and maintained.

The Council has an approved Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy which is currently being 
reviewed to ensure it is up-to-date. The Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy is available 
electronically via the Intranet and members of staff have been made of aware of the 
Policy and its location. The Counter Fraud Service performance information is reported to 
the Council’s Audit Committee. The Counter Fraud Team transferred to the Department 
of Work and Pensions in February 2016. It was agreed that Internal Audit would carry out 
internal fraud investigation work (non-benefits related) and other residual duties linked to 
Benefits would be carried by the Benefits Team. 

(q) Ensuring the authority’s assurance arrangements conform with the governance 
requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit 
(2010) and, where they do not, explain why and how they deliver the same impact.

The Audit Manager is CIPFA qualified with over 20 years’ experience and leads a team 
of staff who provide a professional, cost effective and independent internal audit of the 
Council’s systems of internal control, risk management arrangements and governance 
arrangements. Internal Audit work to a risk based plan and produce reports giving 
opinions on the standard of the Authority’s internal control environment, it’s compliance 
with established controls and its governance arrangements. 

An Annual Internal Audit Report is compiled by the Audit Manager and reported to Audit 
Committee providing an opinion on the internal control framework, risk management 
arrangements and governance arrangements. The opinion formulated in this report is 
based on the work undertaken by Internal Audit during the financial year and the opinions 
given.

Financial Procedure Rules detail that the Chief Finance Officer and his audit 
representatives have the authority to directly access the Head of Paid Service, the 
Cabinet and the Audit Committee. 

The Audit Manager works closely with the Audit Committee to provide challenge and 
support across the Council and improve governance, risk management and internal 
control. The Audit Manager is not a member of the Senior Leadership Team but is 
managed by and has direct access to the Head of Corporate Services who is a member 
of the Senior Leadership Team.

Page 35



Appendix A

4.  REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS

The Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness 
of its governance framework including the system of internal control. The review of 
effectiveness is informed by the work of the executive managers within the Council who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the governance environment, the 
Internal Audit Annual Report, and also by the comments made by the external auditors and 
other review agencies and inspectorates.

Throughout 2015/16 the Council has maintained and reviewed its system of internal control 
in a number of ways. In particular:

The Internal Audit Service has undertaken planned reviews of internal control procedures, 
risk management and governance arrangements across departments and across a range of 
functions within the Council. The Internal Audit Service worked to its Plan for 2015/16. 
Reports were published upon completion of assignments and circulated to management and 
members of the executive and action plans included in the Council’s Audit, Inspection Action 
Plans system (AAPs) according to internal processes. Minutes and agenda papers of Audit 
Committee demonstrate that both internal audit, external audit (Wales Audit Office) and other 
external inspection/regulation agencies reports have been made to Audit Committee and also 
that officers have been called to the Audit Committee to discuss their respective reports and 
action plans and to subsequently provide further updates on progress at future Audit 
Committee meetings. Audit Committee Members have access to the Council’s Audit Action 
Plan system so that they can view service action plans and monitor managements progress 
of completion of actions.

The scrutiny committees have examined a substantial number of issues as part of their work 
programme in 2015/16 as demonstrated in their Annual Report which will be reported to Full 
Council in July 2016.

Information to be taken into consideration for producing the Annual Governance Statement 
includes performance management information, work completed by the Internal Audit 
Service, work completed by the External Auditor and other external inspection agencies, 
Scrutiny work, Risk Management and the Internal Control Framework including procedures, 
codes of conduct and policies and financial management controls as outlined in the CIPFA 
guidance.

The Internal Audit Service and key officers of the Council carried out a review based on 
CIPFA guidance to ensure that evidence was in place to support the production of the Annual 
Governance Statement, to identify gaps where that was not the case and to review the 
effectiveness of existing arrangements.

A draft version of the Annual Governance Statement has been produced for consultation and 
discussion at Corporate Management Team, Audit Committee and the Governance, 
Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee and also 
provided to the External Auditors for comment and feedback. The final version will be 
presented to Audit Committee and Full Council in September 2016 and published with the 
Statement of Accounts. 

The Significant Governance Issues identified are shown in section 5 and take into account 
the definition identified in Appendix 1.

Page 36



Appendix A

5.  SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES 2015/2016 

Issues 2015/2016 AGS Position & Action Taken/Planned 

Estyn Report on 
Local Authority 
Services for 
Children and Young 
People

Estyn carried out a review of the quality of Local Authority Education Services for Children 
and Young People (LAESCYP) in Merthyr Tydfil and a report was produced in November 
2012 detailing the outcomes of the review. The review resulted in 8 recommendations as 
follows:

R1: Secure better outcomes for learners at all key stages and analyse and use performance 
data to identify and address underperformance.
R2: Strengthen the level of challenge to schools and use the full powers available to the 
authority to improve leadership and management in underperforming schools.
R3: Devise and apply better strategies to reduce the number of young people not in 
education, employment or training and build upon existing strategies to reduce the number 
excluded from school and improve pupil attendance rates, especially in primary schools.
R4: Develop a robust self-evaluation framework for the work of the local authority’s 
education services and introduce appropriate and challenging performance targets that 
drive improvement.
R5: Develop a more rigorous scrutiny framework, supported by data analysis, to challenge 
the education services.
R6: Ensure that data on the needs and attainment of all pupils with additional learning 
needs, and of vulnerable groups, is used at a strategic level to identify specific issues and 
trends that inform service planning.
R7: Evaluate the impact of Youth Support Services in order to adjust the provision and 
rebalance resource allocation where necessary.
R8: Develop and implement systems to judge whether initiatives and services have a 
positive impact on children and young people and offer good value for money.

Following receipt of the report the authority was required to produce an action plan to show 
how it will address the recommendations within 50 working days of receipt of the report.  A 
Post Inspection Action Plan (PIAP) was sent to Estyn on 7th June 2013.   
Following the Estyn Education Services inspection (LAESCYP) in November 2012 and the 
Welsh Government establishing a Recovery Board, the Council is making good progress 
towards addressing the recommendations. Robust plans have been established and a 
range of scrutiny and challenge processes put in place to oversee the delivery of these 
plans.

Outcomes have improved considerably over the last 3 years. Final results up to KS3 and 
provisional results at KS4 show improved rates of attainment that are faster than in any 
other authority or region across Wales for the third year in a row and this improvement is 
consistent across nearly every indicator and across all phases.

 At age 7 results have improved by 5% this year and 12% since 2012.
 At age 11 results have improved by 3% this year and 10% since 2012.
 At age 14 results have improved by 7% this year and 17% since 2012.
 At age 16 results have improved by 2% this year and nearly 20% since 2012.

Improvements in attainment are also reflected in improved rankings above where MTCBC 
would be expected to be in the contact of the MID.

The outcomes for 2014-15 will place MTCBC in Quartile 1 or 2 for 5 of the 7 National 
Strategic Indicators. In addition the numbers of young people Not in Education, Employment 
or Training (NEETs) have been significantly reduced, with a plan of action to sustain this. 
Attendance rates have improved in primary and secondary schools and exclusions have 
reduced significantly in secondary schools. The number of pupils leaving full time education 
without a qualification is consistently amongst the lowest in Wales.

Page 37



Appendix A

Issues 2015/2016 AGS Position & Action Taken/Planned 

The final ESTYN monitoring inspection that took place in December 2015 concluded that 
the authority had made generally strong progress against the eight recommendations since 
the 2012 inspection.  As a result, Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Education and Training in 
Wales considers that the authority no longer requires special measures and has removed it 
from follow-up activity.

Auditor General’s 
Annual 
Improvement Report 
incorporating the 
Corporate 
Assessment Report 
2014

The Annual Improvement Report for 2014/2015 was issued by the Wales Audit Office in 
June 2015. “The Auditor General has concluded that the Council's track record, and its 
capacity and capability may mitigate the effectiveness of its arrangements to secure 
continuous improvement for 2015/2016. This judgement reflects the conclusion of his 
corporate assessment that the Council continues to face significant challenges and must 
continue to draw upon external support if it is to deliver its priorities.”

“The audit team found that the Council continues to deal with significant service and 
financial challenges with the benefit of external support…sound governance structures are 
mostly in place but there are weaknesses in safeguarding and whistleblowing arrangements 
and some other arrangements are not working as effectively as they might.”

The Council has developed a plan to address the weaknesses regarding Safeguarding 
including the creation and implementation of a Corporate Safeguarding Policy, performance 
reports to scrutiny committees and Cabinet and raising of awareness throughout the entire 
Council. The Whistleblowing Policy has subsequently been reviewed, amended and 
updated as required.

“We also found that the Council has taken significant strides forward in its use of resources 
but needs to ensure it has sufficient capacity to meet the challenges ahead…the Council 
has improved its financial governance arrangements and is better monitoring and managing 
its finances, although it benefits from, and continues to need, additional support to improve 
the capacity of members and managers to robustly challenge financial and service 
performance…the Council’s arrangements to manage and utilise its workforce have not 
been effective and it has an action plan in place to drive improvement.”

“Finally, we found that the Council’s progress towards achieving its planned outcomes 
remains variable…The Council is benefiting from the support of the Education Recovery 
Board. This is having a positive impact on driving improvement in some key education 
areas but the scale and pace of improvement of educational attainment remains a 
significant challenge…The Council has not met the national targets for recycling but, 
following the award of a Welsh Government grant, it is piloting an alternative method of 
waste collection…Whilst overall performance against the national indicators improved, the 
Council fell short of meeting its targets and is reporting mixed progress towards achieving 
its improvement objectives.”

Within the Annual improvement Report for 2014/2015 the Auditor General made the 
following formal recommendations for improvement:

R1 The Auditor General recommends that the Council following discussion with the Welsh 
Government continues to secure appropriate external support to enable it to deliver its 
statutory duty to deliver continuous improvement.

R2 The Auditor General also recommends that the Welsh Government continues to provide 
support through the Education Recovery Board and that it keeps under review the support it 
provides to the Council generally.

With regards to R1, the Council engaged a Strategic Partner (PWC) in early 2015 to assist it 
in reviewing its operating model and also to identify improvements and identify savings that 
could be made in the Council’s revenue budget.  Considerable work has been done across 
the Authority and a number of savings and improvements made.

Page 38



Appendix A

Issues 2015/2016 AGS Position & Action Taken/Planned 

In relation to R2, ESTYN carried out their final monitoring inspection in December 2015 and 
concluded that the authority had made generally strong progress against the eight 
recommendations since the 2012 inspection.  As a result, Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of 
Education and Training in Wales considers that the authority no longer requires special 
measures and has removed it from follow-up activity.

Financial Pressures:
Limited financial 
resources versus 
increasing demand 
for services and 
capital projects 
causes budget 
pressures which 
impact upon the 
delivery of public 
services. 

E.g. Reduction in 
funding from the 
Welsh Government, 
lack of investment 
income, capital 
receipts, costly care 
packages, 
reductions in grant 
funding.  

The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2015/2016 to 2017/2018 was presented for 
approval to Council on 25th March 2015 and indicated an estimated budget deficit of £10 
million over the period of the MTFP based on assumptions contained within the MTFP. The 
MTFP 2016/17 to 2019/20 was approved by Council on 23rd March 2016 indicating a 
revised estimated budget deficit of £20.3 million over the 4 year period, to be addressed 
through the Council's Corporate Change Programme. The Council's Strategic Partner would 
assist in identifying recurring budget reductions to be implemented primarily for 2016/17 and 
2017/18.

Although the Council aligns the MTFP with its priorities, it must be appreciated that a MTFP 
is a rolling programme continuously updated for changing circumstances, new 
developments and priorities. Consequently it was recognised that a significant amount of 
work was still required to fully align spending requirements to Corporate Priorities and 
available finance. The Council's Operating Model Design defines how the Authority is to 
carry out its business in moving forward and supports the Council's Corporate Strategy and 
Chief Officer's 'Strategies on a Page' leading to the outcome focused redesign of Council 
services and the further development of value for money assessments in challenging 
resource allocation. In addition 'Financial Sustainability' is a quality improvement theme 
within the Corporate Strategy incorporating both the financial sustainability and resilience of 
the Council led by the Chief Finance Officer. The Performance Board will monitor 
achievement against the measures of success and desired outcomes relating to the 
'Financial Sustainability' 'Strategy on a Page'.     

A significant provisional revenue outturn surplus is projected for 2015/16 with General 
Reserves remaining at circa £4.5 million (4% of net revenue budget), in line with the Budget 
Board's Terms of Reference. Both the Budget Board and Change Management Board have 
been instrumental in delivering this projected surplus through robust scrutiny and challenge 
of Budget Managers, when identifying potential financial issues at an early stage thus 
supporting timely corrective action.    

Scrutiny 
Arrangements

The Scrutiny function is developing following the Estyn Inspection in 2012. The Authority 
reviewed its scrutiny committee arrangements and now undertakes the scrutiny of its 
education services through the work of two scrutiny committees. The School’s scrutiny 
committee focuses on school related services and school performance, and the Social 
Services and Social Regeneration scrutiny committee on the community facing education 
services. All the work programmes for 2014/2015 were designed to be more robust to 
ensure that key issues were addressed; relevant LAESCYP items were shared across 
committees; Cabinet Members attended specific meetings; and key corporate issues (e.g. 
budget, performance, transformation programme) were common to all committees.

The WAO Annual Improvement Report for 2014/2015 found that:
“Scrutiny challenge is developing but remains variable with strong and weak committees. A 
strong chair is critical to effective scrutiny management and good examples are evident, 
however there are also weaker examples where scrutiny remains too officer led. There are 
examples where the Council has used pre-decision scrutiny to good effect, and 
consideration should be given to extending its use to further reinforce the quality of key 
decision-making.”

Page 39



Appendix A

Issues 2015/2016 AGS Position & Action Taken/Planned 
“Training for scrutiny members is in place, and has been supported by the Centre for Public 
Scrutiny (CfPS) to develop a training programme to help drive consistency and generally 
improve scrutiny as a whole.”

In order to further strengthen the scrutiny process there was a further restructure of the 
scrutiny committees late 2014/15 with all LAESCYP matters now being considered by the 
Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee, and the responsibilities of the Scrutiny and 
Audit Chairs Liaison Group now being more formalised and the responsibility of the 
Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee. 
The membership of the latter of the aforementioned scrutiny committees consists of the 
Chairs and Vice Chairs of all the scrutiny committees, together with the Chair of the Audit 
Committee.

The final ESTYN monitoring inspection that took place in December 2015 concluded that 
the authority had made generally strong progress against the eight recommendations since 
the 2012 inspection.  As a result, Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Education and Training in 
Wales considers that the authority no longer requires special measures and has removed it 
from follow-up activity.

Internal Audit 
Service staff 
resource

There had been vacancies in Internal Audit in 2014/15. In order to help deliver the audit 
work plan the services of an agency auditor were obtained. It was recognised that the use 
of external agency support is not an efficient long-term solution and the vacancies in the 
Service were filled later in 2014/15. This was partly successful however as further 
vacancies occurred in 2015/16. The Service is recruiting for 3 posts (as at June 2016) which 
are critical to ensure an effective and viable Internal Audit Service is provided. 

We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the above matters to further enhance 
our governance arrangements. We are satisfied that these steps will address the need for 
improvements that were identified in our review of effectiveness and will monitor their 
implementation and operation as part of our next annual review.

Councillor Brendan Toomey Gareth Chapman 
Leader of the Council Chief Executive

Page 40



Appendix 1

In determining what may constitute a significant governance issue, the following was taken into 
consideration:

A single definition of a significant governance issue is not possible. Councils need to exercise 
judgement in deciding whether or not a particular issue should be regarded as falling into this 
category, but factors that may be helpful in exercising that judgement include:

 The issue has seriously prejudiced or prevented achievement of a principal objective.

 The issue has resulted in a need to seek additional funding to allow it to be resolved, or has 
resulted in significant diversion of resources from another aspect of the business.

 The issue has led to a material impact on the accounts.

 The audit committee, or equivalent, has advised that it should be considered significant for 
this purpose.

 The Audit Manager has reported on it as significant, for this purpose, in the annual opinion 
on the internal control environment.

 The issue, or its impact, has attracted significant public interest or has seriously damaged 
the reputation of the organisation.

 The issue has resulted in formal action being taken by the Chief Finance Officer and/or the 
Monitoring Officer.

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance Report – Corporate Plan
Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty, Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1. The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 applied the duty on all local authorities 
in Wales to secure continuous improvement.  The new duty on local authorities comes 
from the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 applies the duty to achieve 
the wellbeing goals using the sustainable development principle and involving people 
interested in achieving the goals.

1.2. In order to prepare for the Wellbeing Duty, we need to deliver a number of specific 
actions.  Scrutiny will need to monitor and challenge council officers' delivery of those 
actions to ensure the local authority is prepared.

2. RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1. Our preparation for the Wellbeing Duty is noted and debated

Date Written 10 June 2016

Report Author Ewan McWilliams

Service Performance

Committee Date 05 July 2016

Page 43

Agenda Item 5

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

National Context
3.1. National reports, evidence and facts demonstrate why we need the Wellbeing of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and why we need to change across Wales.

"Wales faces a number of challenges now and in the future, such as climate change, 
poverty, health inequalities, jobs and growth. To tackle these, we need to work together. 
To give current and future generations a good quality of life we need to think about the 
long-term impact of the decisions we make."  Case for Change, The Wales we want

Wellbeing Goals
3.2. To help create a Wales that we all want to live in, now and in the future we have the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act, which makes sure we are all working 
towards the same vision, captured in the seven Wellbeing Goals:

1. A prosperous Wales
2. A resilient Wales
3. A healthier Wales
4. A more equal Wales
5. A Wales of cohesive communities
6. A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language
7. A globally responsible Wales

Wellbeing Duty
3.3. The Wellbeing Duty dictates that we, as a public body, must develop in a way that is 

sustainable over the long term, to improve the economic, social, environmental and 
cultural wellbeing of Wales.

3.4. To do this we must set and publish wellbeing objectives to maximise our contribution to 
achieve each of the well-being goals, and taking all reasonable steps to meet those 
objectives.

3.5. When we set our wellbeing objectives and take steps (action) to meet our wellbeing 
objectives, we must demonstrate how we have applied the sustainable development 
principle, which is to:

1. Balance short-term needs with the need to safeguard long-term needs
2. Act to prevent problems occurring or getting worse
3. Consider how our wellbeing objectives integrate with others' wellbeing objectives
4. Act in collaboration to help meet the wellbeing objectives
5. Involve people with an interest in achieving the wellbeing goals

Page 44

http://thewaleswewant.co.uk/case-change


4. WHERE WE WERE

Continuous Improvement
4.1. The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 applied the duty on all local authorities in 

Wales to secure continuous improvement in the exercise of their functions by identifying 
their own priorities for improvement.  Our Corporate Plan presents our priorities for 
improvement.

Our Priorities for Improvement
4.2. Following needs assessment and a series of events with stakeholders and the public, 

the local authority established its priorities for improvement from 2013 to 2017.

Raising Standards
Priority Area 1 – Raising standards of attainment
Improving Wellbeing
Priority Area 2 – Promoting Independence
Priority Area 3 – Meeting the needs of vulnerable children
Priority Area 4 – Active Lifestyles
Economic Growth
Priority Area 5 – Economic Development
Priority Area 6 – Employability
Developing a Sustainable Environment
Priority Area 7 – A sustainable environment

5. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

The Wales we want
5.1. By 2017, we want to have made significant changes to the ways we work, so that what 

we do aligns with the expectations of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015.  We will implement these changes by delivering the key projects in the Corporate 
Plan, Annual Delivery Document.

Wellbeing Duty
1. To have set clear wellbeing objectives that demonstrate our contribution to the 

wellbeing goals
2. To have a wellbeing statement that clearly explains

 why our wellbeing objectives will help achieve the wellbeing goals
 how we have applied the sustainable development principle, and
 how we have involved the people interested in achieving the goals

Page 45



6. WHERE WE ARE NOW

The Wales we want
6.1. Full Council agreed the final annual delivery document for the current Corporate Plan on 

15 June 2016.  This document identifies a number of specific projects that the council 
will deliver in order to prepare for the Wellbeing Duty.

Risk(s)
Risk Category Legislative / Regulatory
Risk Description The risk that the Future Generations Commissioner issues a 

formal recommendation to the local authority on the steps taken 
to SET our wellbeing objectives

Risk Owner Gareth Chapman
Impact Breach of legislation

Redo our wellbeing objectives
Delay the adoption of our wellbeing objectives
Reputation damage

Risk before Control(s) Likelihood 4 (probable, 60-90 percent)
Impact 4 (not providing adequate mandatory service)
Score 16

Controls Scrutiny
Risk after Control(s) Likelihood 4 (probable, 60-90 percent)

Impact 4 (not providing adequate mandatory service)
Score 16

Risk Category Legislative / Regulatory
Risk Description The risk that the Future Generations Commissioner issues a 

formal recommendation to the local authority on the steps taken 
to MEET our wellbeing objectives

Risk Owner Gareth Chapman
Impact / Consequence Publish a public respond recommendation(s)

Regulatory intervention
Reputation damage

Risk before Control(s) Likelihood 4 (probable, 60-90 percent)
Impact 4 (not providing adequate mandatory service)
Score 16

Controls Scrutiny
Risk after Control(s) Likelihood 4 (probable, 60-90 percent)

Impact 4 (not providing adequate mandatory service)
Score 16

7. HOW DID WE GET HERE

Page 46



Reference to Projects
7.1. Corporate Plan: Annual Delivery Document 2016/17

Actions completed
7.2. Corporate Plan: Annual Delivery Document 2016/17

Lessons learnt
7.3. n/a

8. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

In order to prepare for the Wellbeing Duty, we need to deliver a number of specific 
actions.  The following provides a reference to the specific Service Performance Report 
that includes the actions, which Scrutiny will monitor.

The risk that the Future Generations Commissioner issues a formal recommendation to 
the local authority on the steps taken to SET our wellbeing objectives

The following actions are the controls needed to reduce the likelihood of this risk 
occurring.

Service Performance Report – Performance
(20 July 2016 Performance Board)

8.1. Establish a work programme for frequent performance reporting to Scrutiny
8.2. Align Performance Board questions to Wellbeing Duty
8.3. Population (wellbeing) Assessment
8.4. Scenario planning for wellbeing objective(s)
8.5. Set wellbeing objective(s)
8.6. Publish wellbeing statement(s)
8.7. Critical review of Council Strategies
8.8. Critical review of Service Improvement Framework

The risk that the Future Generations Commissioner issues a formal recommendation to 
the local authority on the steps taken to MEET our wellbeing objectives

The following actions are the controls needed to reduce the likelihood of this risk 
occurring.

Service Performance Report – Finance
(20 July 2016 Performance Board)

8.9. Align to the Wales Procurement Policy Statement
8.10. Publish a financial statement for each wellbeing objective
8.11. Align Medium Term Financial Plan to the wellbeing objective(s)

Page 47



8.12. Capacity building: Sustainable finance decisions

Service Performance Report – Corporate Services
(20 July 2016 Performance Board)

8.13. Re-evaluate current position using the diagnostic "Light Assessment" tool
8.14. Establish the Public Service Board
8.15. Identify the long term vision for Cwm Taf (Public Service Board)
8.16. Create the Wellbeing Plan for Cwm Taf with the Public Service Board
8.17. Undertake a critical review of risk management and align to wellbeing
8.18. Differentiate short, medium, long term risk management
8.19. Develop an integrated impact assessment tool
8.20. Align Internal Audit Plan to the Sustainable Development Principle

Service Performance Report – Communication and Marketing
(20 July 2016 Performance Board)

8.21. Communication and Engagement Strategy that incorporates wellbeing (links to 
Corporate Risk 6)

Service Performance Report – ICT
(20 July 2016 Performance Board)

8.22. Update the Council Internet and Intranet

Service Performance Report – Business Change
(20 July 2016 Performance Board)

8.23. Update the Project Management Method to align to Sustainable Development Principle

Service Performance Report – Legal and Human Resources
(20 July 2016 Performance Board)

8.24. Review and amend the Constitution to incorporate Wellbeing Duty
8.25. Align the role of Scrutiny to Wellbeing Duty
8.26. Training: HR policy and procedures
8.27. Training: Manager's Academy to include sustainable development principles
8.28. Develop systems to record and report people information for workforce planning
8.29. Involvement in decision making (people & communities)

Service Performance Report – Neighbourhood Services
(26 September 2016 Scrutiny)

8.30. Community benefit analysis (retention)
8.31. Long term community asset planning (retention)

LORRAINE BUCK
CORPORATE DIRECTOR: PEOPLE & 

COUNCILLOR PHIL WILLIAMS
PORTFOLIO: GOVERNANCE & 

Page 48



PERFORMANCE CORPORATE SERVICES

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

 Corporate Plan: Annual Delivery Document 2016/17
 WLGA Early Adopters Resources and Materials

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? YES (paragraph 8.24)

Page 49

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/corporate-plan/
http://www.wlga.gov.uk/well-being-of-future-generations-act-early-adopter-resources-and-materials/


This page is intentionally left blank



Draf
t R

ep
ort

  
Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

FULL COUNCIL REPORT 
 

 

 
 
 

To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Annual Scrutiny Report - 2015 / 2016 
 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1    Overview and Scrutiny (more commonly just called “scrutiny”) is a function of local 

authorities in England and Wales. It was introduced by the Local Government Act 
2000 which created separate Executive and Overview and Scrutiny functions 
within councils. The Local Government Wales Measure 2011 strengthened the 
role of scrutiny in Wales. All non-Executive councillors are eligible to participate 
in the work of scrutiny.  

 
1.2     Scrutiny has a statutory function to monitor performance, challenge the Council’s 

spending proposals, review services, contribute to policy development, examine 
the work of other local public service providers, and promote public engagement 
in the democratic process. 

 
1.3    The scrutiny function at Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is performed by six 

scrutiny committees. These scrutiny committees are made up of elected local 
members (Councillors) who are not part of the Council’s Cabinet, along with co-
opted representatives.  

 
1.4     The purpose of the report is to apprise Council and other interest parties of the 

role of the Scrutiny Committees, and their work during the 2015/16 municipal 
year. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The content of this report be noted. 
 
2.2      Council’s instructions are requested in respect of the commencement of 

Date Written 11th July 2016 
Report Author Howard Jones 
Service Area Scrutiny 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt 
Committee Date To be confirmed 

Page 51

Agenda Item 6



Draf
t R

ep
ort

webcasting of all or a selection of scrutiny committee meetings with effect from 
September 2016 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Each year the Council's Scrutiny Committees produce an Annual Report. This 

report includes a retrospective insight into the work undertaken by each of the 
Council's Scrutiny Committees during the municipal year. 
 

3.2 Overview and Scrutiny (or just “scrutiny” as it is more commonly referred to) is a 
function of local authorities in England and Wales and was introduced by the 
Local Government Act 2000 which created separate Executive (Cabinet) and 
Scrutiny functions within councils. In Wales the scrutiny function was extended in 
the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011.  

 
3.3 All local authorities operating a Cabinet and Scrutiny model have a Cabinet 

(Executive) made up of the Leader of the Council and up to nine other members 
(At MTCBC it is the Leader plus six other members). All executive decisions (i.e. 
those needed to implement the Policy Framework and Budget approved by the 
Council) are taken by the Cabinet. Scrutiny unlike Cabinet is not a decision 
making body, but rather an influencing body, and makes recommendations to 
Cabinet (or Council) when necessary.  
 

3.4 Scrutiny is a principal way of achieving open and democratic accountability for 
the provision of public services. The key aims of scrutiny are to;  

 
•  Provide healthy and constructive challenge  
•  Give voice to public concerns  
•  Support improvement in services  
•  Provide an independent review 
 

3.5 The Centre for Public Scrutiny1 (CfPS) has established four principles of good 
scrutiny and these are to;  

 
• Effective Scrutiny should be a ‘critical friend’ to decision makers, 

external authorities and agencies. It should challenge policy development 
and decision making in a robust, constructive and purposeful way while 
developing a partnership with external agencies and authorities. 

 
• Effective Scrutiny should reflect the voice and concerns of the public 

and its communities. It should ensure an ongoing dialogue with the public 
and represent and engage diverse communities to ensure that their voice is 
heard and responded to. It should have open and transparent processes with 
public access to information. 

 
                                            
1 The Centre for Public Scrutiny promotes the value of scrutiny and accountability in modern and effective 
government and supports non-executives in their scrutiny role. Founder members (LGA, CIPFA and 
LGiU) 
 

Page 52



Draf
t R

ep
ort

• Effective Scrutiny should be carried out by “independent minded 
governors” who take the lead and own the Scrutiny process on behalf 
of the public. It should be independent from decision makers, impartial and 
active, engaging constructively with the executive, officers and advisers. It 
should champion the value of good scrutiny and facilitate measured 
deliberation and consensus building with the aim of supporting public 
accountability and community leadership. 

 
• Effective Scrutiny should drive improvement and make an impact on the 

delivery of public services. It should aim to promote community well-being 
and quality of life, providing strategic quality assurance and co-ordinated 
reviews of service performance, policies, plans and budgets. 

 
The Centre for Public Scrutiny describes local government scrutiny as ‘an 
independent function, led by local elected Councillors, that works with local 
people and local bodies to help improve services’ 
 
 

4.0  SCRUTINY COMMITTEES AND MEMBERSHIP 
 

4.1 All non-executive (non-Cabinet) Councillors are eligible for membership of the 
scrutiny committees.  

 
4.2 The Council has six Scrutiny Committees. These are:-  
 

• Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services 
• Neighbourhood Services, and Public Protection* 
• Regeneration, Planning, and Countryside 
• Learning and LAESCYP 
• Social Services 
• Joint Scrutiny Committee 
 

*This scrutiny committee also undertakes the role of the Authority’s Crime 
and Disorder Committee. 

 
 Each of these committees is also able to establish time-limited Task and Finish 

Group reviews that focus on a particular issue and consider it in greater detail 
than is possible at Committee. 

 
4.3 Each scrutiny committee has seven Councillors. In addition each scrutiny 

committee has co-opted members who provide invaluable assistance to the work 
of the scrutiny committees and the Council as a whole. The membership of each 
committee as per 30th April 2015 is shown at APPENDIX I. 

    
4.4 Each committee has one Voluntary Sector Co-opted member as nominated by 

Volunteer Action Merthyr Tydfil (VAMT).  There are also two publicly appointed 
co-opted members per scrutiny committee.  The Schools Scrutiny Committee 
also appoints a Merthyr Tydfil Governors Association representative, Parent 
Governor Representatives and Church Representatives. 

 

Page 53



Draf
t R

ep
ort

4.5 The diagram below shows how scrutiny “fits into” the political structure at Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council 

 
 

5.0 WORK UNDERTAKEN BY THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEES FOR 
THE PERIOD MAY 2015 TO APRIL 2016 

 
5.1 The Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services 

Scrutiny Committee. The Committee is currently looking at / has looked at the 
following issues:- 

 
• WAO Corporate Inspection Report 2014 
• Transformational Change Programme - An update 
• LAESCYP Self Evaluation - Key Questions 2 and 3 
• Post Inspection Action Plan (PIAP) - Update on R2 and R3 
• Corporate Plan Performance Report, Quarter 4 (Year End update) 
• Annual return - Standards for Welsh Public Libraries 
• Scrutiny Committees Membership, Remits and Meeting dates 
• Draft Annual Scrutiny Report - 2014 / 2015 
• A Review and Evaluation of Member Scrutiny 2014/15 and 

Recommendations for 2015/16 
• Draft Annual Governance Statement for financial year 2014/2015. 
• Corporate Strategy Direction 
• Local Service Board - Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 2015 
• Corporate Plan Challenge Process 
• Performance against our outcome agreement with the Welsh Government 
• Lessons Learned- Human Resource update 

Page 54



Draf
t R

ep
ort

• Local Service Board - Merthyr Tydfil Single Integrated Plan (SIP) 2013-17. 
• Performance and Challenge against "Strategies on a Page" 
• Transition from Local Service Board to Public Services Board 
• Performance Report - Learning Performance Board 
• Update on MTCBC Whistleblowing Policy 

 
5.2 Neighbourhood Services, and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  

The Committee is currently looking at / has looked at the following issues:- 
 

• WAO Corporate Assessment 2014 Update 
• Transformational Change Programme - An update 
• Community Regeneration - An Update 
• Energy Efficiency - Awareness Raising 
• Corporate Plan Performance Report - Quarter 4 (Year End Update) 
• Key Transformational Budget Projects 
• Waste Management at MTCBC 
• Highways Performance Report 
• Fly Tipping Enforcement 
• Update on the review of Community Safety Functions at MTCBC 
• Annual Return: Fifth Assessment Framework for Welsh Public Library 

Standards 2014/15. 
• Safer Merthyr Tydfil - Update on Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 

(Crime and Disorder Committee) 
• Neighbourhood Services - Change Programme 
• Update report on the Transformational Change for Highway Maintenance 
• Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust 3rd Quarter update 2015/16 
• Addressing Substance Misuse through Effective Partnerships (Crime and 

Disorder Committee) 
• Update on Carbon Management Activities 
• Overcoming the Blight of Fly-tipping and Litter in the County Borough 
• The Fifth Quality Framework for Welsh Public Libraries - Welsh Public 

Library Standards Return 
 
5.3 Regeneration, Planning, and Countryside Scrutiny Committee.  

The Committee is currently looking at / has looked at the following issues:- 
 
• Awareness Raising - Committee's Areas of Responsibility 
• Scrutiny Committees Membership, Remits and Meeting dates 
• Housing Grants / Disabled Facility Grants 
• Merthyr Tydfil CBC Local Development Plan (2006-2021) 
• Disabled Facility Grants - Does the current approach to DFG's provide 

Value for Money 
• Economic Growth 
• The Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan 2006- 2021 and Associated 

Annual Monitoring Report 
• Vibrant and Viable Places Programme Update report 
• Deregulation Act 
• Child Sexual Exploitation - Rotherham MBC 
• Housing (Wales) Act 2014 - One Year On... 

Page 55



Draf
t R

ep
ort

• Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan 
• Social Enterprise Developments 
• Performance Board - Community Regeneration 

 
5.4 Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 

The Committee is currently looking at / has looked at the following issues:- 
 
• LAESCYP Self Evaluation Key Question 2 & 3 
• Lessons Learned update - Human Resources 
• Schools & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee: additional areas of 

responsibility 
• School Governing Bodies 
• Early Years Provision 
• National Categorisation of Schools 
• Central South Consortium - to meet with the Managing Director and Chair 

of the Joint Committee 
• Central South Consortium Report 
• School Budgets - An update 
• Gellifaelog Primary School 
• Recovery Board Report to Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 
• Summary and School Specific Attainment Performance in 2014/15 

(Foundation Phase, Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 3) 
• Progress in addressing the recommendations of the Estyn Inspection 2012 
• LAESCYP Self-Evaluation against the Common Inspection Framework 
• Quality of provision for ALN pupils and the impact in terms of outputs and 

outcomes 
• Improving the Quality and Performance of Local Authority Education 

Services for Children and Young People - R7 Youth Support Services 
• Performance Board – Learning 
• National Categorisation of Schools 
• Key Stage 4 Standards 2014/15 
• Service Level Agreements (SLA's) for Local Authority Services to Schools 
• School Balances 2015/16 
• Performance Board Action Points - Parental Engagement 
• Strategy to improve Outcomes for more and Able and Talented Pupils 
• Education Services - Strategy on a Page 
• Caedraw Primary School - Attendance at Scrutiny meeting 
• Reducing Young People Not in Education Employment Training (NEET) 
• The Performance of Groups of Vulnerable Learners 
• Performance Board Area for Improvement - School Governance and 

Governing Bodies 
• Performance Board Area for Improvement - Collaboration 

 
5.5 Social Services Scrutiny Committee 

The Committee is currently looking at / has looked at the following issues:- 
 
• Post Inspection Action Plan (PIAP) - Update on R2 and R3  
• Transformational Change Programme Update 
• Merthyr Tydfil Looked After Children Strategy 

Page 56



Draf
t R

ep
ort

• Care and Social Services Inspectorate for Wales (CSSIW) site visit - 
February 2015 

• Social Services & Wellbeing Act 
• MTCBC Safeguarding Review (Rotherham) - Self Assessment 
• Annual Report on Social Services 2014 / 2015 
• Deregistration of Glendere and Park View 
• Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 
• Merthyr Tydfil Looked After Children Strategy 
• Budget & Transformation Projects 2014/15 
• Performance against our outcome agreement with the Welsh Government 
• Merthyr Tydfil Community First Clusters 
• Safeguarding - Arrangements for reporting and managing Professional 

Abuse 
• Safeguarding - The role of the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Children Board 

(CTSCB) 
• The Development of the Joint Commissioning Statement for Older People 
• Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Regional Adoption Collaborative - Progress 

Report 
• De-registration of Glendere and Park View 
• Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service 
• Cwm Taf Safeguarding Boards Annual Reports 2014-15 
• Referral from Governance Scrutiny Committee - Disabled Facility Grants 

(DFG's) 
• Social Services Response to CSSIW Report 
• Looked After Child Prevention Strategy 
• Fostering Service - Social Services response to CSSIW report 
• Looked After Children Strategy Implementation 
• Social Services response to CSSIW report 
• Annual report Social Services Complaints, Representations and 

Compliments 

6.0 CHAIRPERSON COMMENTS 
 
6.1 Chief Executives Scrutiny Committee  (Chair, Cllr Tom Lewis) 
 

“It has again been a challenging year for the Council and also for 
scrutiny. The Council continues to face the challenge of delivering 
services to the people of the County Borough with less and less 
money and scrutiny is tasked with analysing this work and its 
outcomes and providing constructive challenge.  

 
This year and indeed the following years look set to be challenging 
years, with councils continuing to look at the way they have 

traditionally provided services to their residents. The Council will need to make 
some difficult decisions on funding priorities and scrutiny will need to be at the 
very centre of these considerations in order to ensure that decisions are taken in 
a transparent and evidence-based way.” 
 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow committee members and 
officers for their support and guidance over the past 12 months.” 

  

Page 57



Draf
t R

ep
ort

6.2 Customer Services Scrutiny Committee (Chair, Cllr Darren Roberts) 
 

“The Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny 
Committee drafted its Work Program early last year knowing that 
with reducing budgets and increasing service pressures the need 
for more robust Scrutiny was required. 

 

It is important that the public are able to contribute to the work of 
Scrutiny and this is an area that we as scrutiny members need to 
encourage and develop. All the scrutiny committees welcome the 

involvement of residents, businesses and community groups in the County 
Borough in our scrutiny work. 

 

This Authority has worked hard this year to help safeguard the services that 
matter the most to the public and the most vulnerable in our society. 

 

May I take this opportunity to thank all members of the committee, Cabinet 
Colleagues, the officers and partners who have contributed to the work of the 
scrutiny committee throughout the year; can I also thank the Scrutiny and 
Democratic Services departments for the invaluable support and guidance. 

 
 

6.3 Schools Scrutiny Committee (Chair, Cllr Lisa Mytton) 
 

 In 2015/16 our scrutiny committee focused on key objectives 
including ongoing progress by officers and schools in ensuring that 
we were successful in our Estyn Inspection and that we would be 
taken out of special measures. We have had the opportunity to 
meet many School Heads and Chairs of Governors who have 
given a deeper insight into some of the challenges facing schools 
in the county borough and also allowing us to celebrate some of 

the highlights and success stories. 
 
We have sought to ensure schools are encouraged to share information and 
develop joint working strategies to address such issues as attendance, additional 
learning needs, effective teaching and classroom practice etc. We will continue to 
have a strong robust forward work programme including a focus on key 
challenges facing schools and a review examining the current provision of 
apprenticeships and other opportunities for school leavers and those who are 
classed as NEET to consider if current places meet demand and what can be 
done to increase numbers and the range of opportunities for young people. 
Additionally whilst results showed improvement in our attainment and 
achievement rates Scrutiny will continue to monitor results to ensure that we 
continuously improve and strive to achieve the goals and ambitions set out by all 
within the Borough. 
 
As the chair of scrutiny I’m so pleased to report that following our Inspection the 
recommendations by Estyn show a strong improvement in all of the key areas 
and whilst we still need to improve in some areas the overall result was excellent 
and we were taken out of special measures in December 2015. Scrutiny has 
discussed many informative reports from officers during the year, and is grateful 
to all who contribute to these.  We send our congratulations to staff and 
governors of our schools on their excellent ESTYN reports. 

 

Page 58



Draf
t R

ep
ort

Once again my thanks to all members of this committee, officers and schools who 
have contributed over the last 12 months “ 

 
6.4 Social Services & Social Regeneration Scrutiny Committee (Chair, Cllr Bill 

Smith) 
 

“The Social Services and Social Regeneration Scrutiny Committee 
has had a busy year and is looking forward to another busy 12 
months, reviewing the Council’s policies and performance and 
supporting improvements to service provision at a time when 
Council services face ever increasing financial pressures.  

 
The committee will continue to check that the requirements of the 

Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014 are implemented. The Act 
seeks to deliver greater consistency, promote equality, improved quality and 
enhanced access arrangements across Wales and sets out duties for local 
authorities corporately and partners in the NHS, as well as social services 
departments. 
 
The Scrutiny function must continue to ensure that it adds value and plays its part 
in the improvement of public services despite the financial pressures that the 
Authority faces. 
 
I would finally like to thank all Scrutiny Councillors, Cabinet colleagues, 
employees and partners for their input into the Scrutiny process during the last 
year” 
 

6.5 Regeneration, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee (Chair, Cllr 
Gareth Jones) 

 
The Regeneration, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee is 
a recently formed body which monitors and scrutinises the 3 above 
devolved departmental areas. 

 
During 2015/16 we have developed a works programme designed 
to scrutinise prioritised area of these council departments such as  
current and planned working practices; departmental capacities and 

expertise’ target setting and attainment as part of our monitoring and evaluating 
departmental performance and self-improvement; service delivery and value for 
money issues.  
 
All these have been set against the Council's stated 'Change Agenda' stemming 
from enforced drastic financial cuts imposed on MTCBC. 
A work programme for 2016/17 has been developed which will seek to continue 
our scrutiny role of the departments; to review and monitor progress as we face 
further on-going financial austerity measures.  
 
I would like to thank the members of the Committee for their hard work and 
valued inputs. Similarly to those officers who have appeared before us and 
members of the Democratic Services Department who support the organisation 
and running of the Regeneration, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee. 

Page 59



Draf
t R

ep
ort

 
7.0 A REVIEW AND EVALUATION OF MEMBER SCRUTINY 2014/15 

AND HOW THE RECOMMENDATIONS HAVE BEEN ADDRESSED. 
 

Review and Evaluation of Member Scrutiny 2014-15 
 

7.1 A review and evaluation of Member Scrutiny took place during the Spring of 2015 
resulting in a report to Cabinet on 6th May 2016 with a number of 
recommendations being put forward. These recommendations together with a 
brief update on each are shown at APPENDIX II    

 
7.2 A recommendation emanating from the evaluation of the report “Review and 

Evaluation of Member Scrutiny 2014-15” concerns the introduction of webcasting 
for scrutiny meetings. (See recommendation 2.2 in this report / recommendation 
10 in Appendix II)                      . 

8.0 SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMMES 2016/17  
 
8.1 At the time of writing this report the 2016/17 scrutiny work programmes are being 

developed.  The work programmes are aimed at ensuring scrutiny maintains a 
strategic and co-ordinated approach based on major areas of Council and partner 
organisations’ activity.  
 

8.2 The selection of review topics for the work programmes takes account of what is 
of direct and significant interest to residents, and what would be timely, relevant, 
and likely to add value. Please note however that the work programmes will 
necessarily be subject to continual refinement and updating.  
 

9.0 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION AT SCRUTINY  
 

9.1 Whilst Scrutiny members, Cabinet members and Council officers contribute 
regularly to scrutiny activities, we also welcome public attendance and input at 
our meetings.  

 
9.2 The involvement of local residents, community organisations and partners is an 

important part of the scrutiny process and scrutiny committees are committed to 
responding to the views and concerns of residents.  We would like to encourage 
residents and organisations to attend and contribute to scrutiny work in securing 
the best possible public services. The intention is to make sure that we are 
dealing with the matters that are most important to the community and are 
delivering quality services. 

 
9.3 The Constitution2 allows for members of the public to attend and speak at 

scrutiny meetings. With this in mind a simple guide3 how this can work in 
practice. The guide provides details on how to for example to submit a written 

                                            
2 MTCBC Constitution - Citizens Rights 2.03.01 (c). Participation. Citizens have the right to participate in the 
Council’s question time, speak at meetings of the Cabinet (when agended), and other Committees with the 
permission of the Chairperson and contribute to investigations by the Scrutiny Committees.  
 
3 “Scrutiny at MTCBC – Public Speaking Arrangements” 

Page 60

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/English/CouncilAndDemocracy/Councillors,DemocracyAndElections/Documents/Public%20Speaking%20Arrangements%20at%20Scrutiny%20meetings.pdf


Draf
t R

ep
ort

representation on an agenda item and the time limit for the member of public to 
put their case. This hopefully will allow members of the public the opportunity to 
tell Councillors directly about the things that concern them. 

 
9.4 If members of the public feel that there is a topic that scrutiny should look at, they 

can let us know by completing a Scrutiny Request Form or by contacting the 
Scrutiny section on 01685 725464; or email scrutiny@merthyr.gov.uk 

 
 
10.0 FUTURE CHALLENGES  
 

The Scrutiny function will become increasingly important considering the nature 
of the financial challenge that the Council faces. It is imperative that the Council 
delivers its services in smarter and more efficient ways, and Scrutiny has a role in 
ensuring that decisions are well informed, that alternate options are considered, 
and that Cabinet is held to account to ensure decisions are robust, evidence 
based and transparent. 
 
The following are two areas where scrutiny will need to incorporate into its 
working practices and role in the future  

  
The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015  

 
10.1 The Act achieved Royal Assent in April 2015 and the legislation came into force 

in April 2016. The Act requires public bodies to improve social, economic, 
environmental and cultural wellbeing, by taking action in accordance with the 
sustainable development principle, aimed at achieving the ‘Wellbeing Goals’. 

 
10.2 The Act puts in place a ‘sustainable development principle’ which tells 

organisations how to go about meeting their duty under the Act. Public bodies 
need to make sure that when making their decisions they take into account the 
impact they could have on people living their lives in Wales in the future. There 
are 5 things that public bodies need to think about to show that they have applied 
the “sustainable development” principle:  

 
•   Long term  
•   Prevention  
•   Integration  
•   Collaboration  
•   Involvement 

 
10.3 The Act places a duty on the public sector to:  

 
• Adopt the “Sustainable Development” Principle (see 10.2) 
• Work towards 7 national wellbeing goals (A prosperous Wales • A resilient 

Wales • A healthier Wales • A more equal Wales • A Wales of cohesive 
communities • A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language • A globally 
responsible Wales) 

• Focus work on future generations  

Page 61

https://eform.merthyr.gov.uk/default.aspx/RenderForm/?ID=gJ6qeVZ1jd1&HideToolbar=1
mailto:scrutiny@merthyr.gov.uk


Draf
t R

ep
ort

• Take a central role in the establishment and scrutiny of a Public Services 
Board (PSB) 

• Take a central role in the development of a Wellbeing Plan based on a long 
term needs assessment  

• Respond to a new accountability framework including reporting and review by 
the Auditor General Wales 

 
10.4 The Act established Public Services Boards (PSBs) for each local authority area 

in Wales. These replaced existing Local Service Boards (LSBs) and will be 
statutory. The PSB is responsible for publishing an assessment of local wellbeing 
and a Local Wellbeing plan 

 
10.5 Following on from the above there are two distinct roles for scrutiny:  

 
• Scrutiny Committees will need to ensure that the Council applies the duties of 

the Act to its own decisions and policies – this will require Scrutiny members to 
challenge whether the Council is implementing the Act across all the services 
that it delivers.  

 
• Purposeful scrutiny of the PSB – this should be strategic and focussed on the 

work of the Public Service Board as a whole. The Council in conjunction with 
RCTCBC needs to create a Joint Scrutiny Committee to scrutinise the Cwm 
Taf Public Services Board. Discussions are currently taking place with 
colleagues in RCTCBC. 

 
Guidance for Scrutiny from the Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 

 
10.6 The Commissioner has prepared guidance4 which is designed to ensure that 

robust scrutiny is undertaken when changes to community services are 
proposed, essential to ensure that there is not a disproportionate impact upon 
older people and that alternative approaches are considered.  

 
Part 2 of the statutory guidance examines the crucial role of scrutiny around 
changes to community services and is targeted towards elected members and 
officers in local government. The aim is to improve the quality of scrutiny and 
ensure that the impact of closing down or reducing the provision of a community 
service on older people is thoroughly and rigorously analysed and considered. 

 
The Guidance provides a list of questions that scrutiny members can use when 
challenging Cabinet Members and Senior Officers including:- 
 
q) Does the Local Authority’s Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments 

(EHRIA) process adequately capture the needs and views of older people?  
 
q) What steps have been taken to ensure that older people have been given every 

opportunity to voice their needs and concerns? Are these fully reflected in the 
EHRIA?  

 

                                            
4 Older Peoples Commissioner for Wales – “Scrutinising Changes to Community Services. Guidance for Local 
Authorities” issued under Section 12 of the Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act 2006 

Page 62



Draf
t R

ep
ort

q) (E.g. to close public toilets).  What is the anticipated impact on older people? Can 
the Leader and Cabinet/Senior Officers provide members with details of the plans 
to mitigate the impact of these proposals on older people?  

 
q) Does the Local Authority have another community hub in place for older people? 

Is the Local Authority committed to tackling loneliness and isolation amongst 
older people by proposing other venues where older people can meet, socialise 
and contribute to their local communities? (these questions can apply to 
proposals around libraries, community and day centres).  

 
 
11.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no financial implications as a result of this report. 

 

12.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY 

 

12.1 The Single Integrated Plan and Sustainability Impact Assessment has been 
completed. No recommendations other than that the report is for noting has been 
put forward. However Scrutiny does undertake investigations and reviews of 
Council Services and any reports submitted in those circumstances may impact 
upon the Corporate Plan and Single Integrated Plan and as such would require 
more assessment.  No negative impacts have been identified. 
 

13.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

13.1 No additional Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) is required.  
GARETH CHAPMAN 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in 
respect of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 63



Draf
t R

ep
ort

 

AUDIT COMMITTEE         /          DEMOCRATIC SERVICES COMMITTEE Version May 20166 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Lay Person with voting rights on Audit Committee) 
 

Mr David Gibby 

 

 

N.B. Mr David Gibby is not a member of the  
Democratic Services Committee Cllr Richard Thomas 

(Chair) (Independent) 
Cllr Howard Barrett 
 (VC) (Independent) 

Cllr Tony Chaplin 
(Labour) 

Cllr Margaret 
Davies (Labour) 

Cllr Clive Jones 
(Labour) 

Cllr Gareth Lewis 
(Labour) 

Cllr Tom Lewis 
(Labour) 

Cllr Brian Mansbridge 
(Labour) 

Cllr Kate Moran 
(Labour) 

Cllr Ray Thomas 
(Labour) 

 

CABINET SCRUTINY COMMITTEES (x5) 

 

There is also a “Joint Scrutiny Committee” to be chaired by the Chair of the Governance Scrutiny Committee, and membership will comprise all members (Councillors and Co-
opted Members) of the 5 Scrutiny committees as shown below.  Quorum for the Joint Scrutiny Committee will be at least half the Councillor membership of the Committee eligible 
to be present; to include at least one Councillor Member from each of the five scrutiny committees as per below. The quorum for the Governance Scrutiny committee is five 
Councillors present, and the remaining four scrutiny committees, the quorum is three Councillors present. 

Leader of the 
Council 

 
Cllr 

Brendan 
Toomey 

(Chair) 

Governance and 
Corporate Services 

 
 

Cllr Phil 
Williams 

(Labour) 
V. C. 

(D.Leader) 

 

Governance, 
Performance, 

Business 
Change, and 

Corporate 
Services 

 

(4.30pm start) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As Audit Chair 
 

 

Co-opted Members 
 

Mrs Anne Morgan 
Public (non-voting) 
 
Mrs Alison Harris  
Public (non-voting) 
 
Miss Tanya Skinner 
 Voluntary Sector 
(non-voting) 

Cllr Tom  
Lewis 

(Chair) (Labour) 

Cllr David 
Isaac 

VC (Labour) 

Cllr Brent 
Carter   
(Labour) 

Cllr David 
Davies 
 (Labour) 

Cllr Gareth 
Jones 

(Independent) 

Cllr Lisa 
Mytton 

(Independent) 

Cllr Darren 
Roberts 

(Labour) 

Cllr Leighton 
Smart 

(Independent) 

Cllr Bill 
Smith 
(Labour) 

Cllr Richard 
Thomas  

(Independent) 

Cllr Simon  
Williams 

(Labour) 

 

Neighbourhood 
Services and Public 

Protection 
 

Cllr  David  
Jones          
(Labour) 

 

Neighbourhood 
Services, and 

Public 
Protection 

 
(also Crime & Disorder 

Committee) 
 

(2.30pm start) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Co-opted Members 
 

Vacant  
Mr Robert Holdaway  
Mrs Nicola Mahoney  

 

 
 
 

Public Appointed (non-voting) 
Public Appointed (non-voting) 
Voluntary Sector (non-voting) 

Cllr Darren 
Roberts 

(Chair)      (Labour) 

Cllr Leighton 
Smart  

VC (Independent) 

Cllr Howard 
Barrett 

(Independent) 

Cllr John 
McCarthy  

(Labour) 

Cllr Sian 
Slater  
(Labour) 

Cllr Bill 
Smith   
(Labour) 

Cllr Ray 
Thomas 

(Labour) 

Regeneration, 
Planning and 
Countryside 

 
                  Cllr Chris 

Barry 
(Labour) 

 
Regeneration, 
Planning, and 
Countryside 

 
(2.30pm start) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Co-opted Members 
 

Mrs Merryl Jones  
Vacant  

Mr Howard Jackson   
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
Public Appointed (non-voting) 
Public Appointed (non-voting) 
Voluntary Sector (non-voting) 

Cllr Gareth 
Jones (Chair) 

(Independent) 

Cllr Brent 
Carter   

VC (Labour) 

Cllr Howard 
Barrett 

(Independent 

Cllr Paul 
Brown 

(Merthyr Indep) 

Cllr Ernie 
Galsworthy 

(Labour) 

Cllr Kate 
Moran 
(Labour) 

Cllr Michael 
O’Neill 
(Labour) 

Learning 
 

 
  Cllr 

Harvey  
Jones  
(Labour) 

 
Learning and 

LAESCYP 
 

(4.00pm start) 
 
 

(LAESCYP - Local Authority 
Education Services for 

Children and Young People) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Co-opted Members 

Vacant 
Vacant 

Mr Alan Rees 
Mrs Anne Roberts 

Mrs Maureen Harris 
Mrs Rosa Lazell 

Ms Claire Brown                 

 
 
 MT Assoc. of School Governors (non-voting) 
 Public Appointed (non-voting) 
 Public Appointed (non-voting) 
 Voluntary Sector (non-voting) 
 Diocesan Rep – Catholic Diocesan (voting) 
 Parent Governor - Secondary/Special (voting) 
 Parent Governor – Primary (voting) 

Cllr Lisa 
Mytton (Chair) 

(Independent) 

Cllr Simon 
Williams 
VC (Labour) 

Cllr Margaret 
Davies 
(Labour) 

Cllr Gareth 
Lewis( 
Labour) 

Cllr Kate 
Moran 
(Labour) 

Cllr Sian 
Slater 
(Labour) 

Cllr Clive 
Tovey 

(Independent) 

Social Services 
 

 
  Cllr Linda    
Matthews 

(Labour) 

 
 
 

Social Services 

(3.00pm start) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Co-opted Members 
 

Vacant 
Vacant 

Mr Brian Lewis 

 
 
 
 
   

    Public Appointed (non- voting) 
    Public Appointed (non-voting) 

Voluntary Sector (non-voting) 
Cllr Bill Smith 

(Chair)  
(Labour) 

Cllr David 
Davies 

VC (Labour) 

Cllr Rhonda 
Braithwaite 

(Labour) 

Cllr Allan 
Jones 

(Independent) 

Cllr Tom 
Lewis 
(Labour) 

Cllr Brian  
Mansbridge 

(Labour) 

Cllr John 
McCarthy 

(Labour) 

 

 
 

 

PLANNING, REGULATORY & LICENSING COMMITTEE     /      STATUTORY LICENSING COMMITTEE 
See Constitution for membership rules of “Licensing Sub Committee”; “Statutory Licensing Sub Committee”; and “Rights of Way Committee” 

 

 
 

(Park Ward) 

 

 
 

(Merthyr Vale Ward) 

 

 
 

(Vaynor Ward) 

 

 
 

(Cyfarthfa Ward) 

 

 
 

(Treharris Ward) 

 

 
 

(Plymouth Ward) 

 

 
 

(Town Ward) 

 

 
 

(Penydarren Ward) 

 

 
 

(Bedlinog Ward) 

 

 
 

(Gurnos Ward) 

 

 
 

(Dowlais Ward) 
 

Cllr Clive Jones 
Chair (Labour) 

 

 

Cllr Brian Mansbridge 
Vice Chair (Labour) 

 

Cllr Howard Barrett 
(Independent) 

 

Cllr Tony Chaplin 
(Labour) 

 

Cllr Ernie Galsworthy 
(Labour) 

 

Cllr Gareth Lewis 
(Labour) 

Cllr Sian Slater 
(Labour) 

 

Cllr Allan Jones 
(Independent) 

 

Cllr Leighton Smart 
(Independent) 

 

Cllr Bill Smith 
(Labour) 

 

Cllr Simon Williams 
(Labour) 

P
age 64

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=1002
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=144
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=144
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=144
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=1003
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=1002
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=1002
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=1002
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=1002
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s28655/MTCBC%20Constitution.pdf
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=1002
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=399
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=467
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=848
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=876
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=133
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=849
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=840
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=445
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=851
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=144
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=840
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=845
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=460
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=842
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=452
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=483
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=847
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=140
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=141
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=399
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=841
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=847
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=140
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=467
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=970
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=141
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=144
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=452
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=460
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=467
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=122
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=850
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=851
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=483
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=841
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=876
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=849
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=851
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=146
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=141
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=842
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=846
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=132
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=840
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=445
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=970
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=133
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=445
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=467
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=848
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=850
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=849
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=132
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=140
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=141
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=841
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=119
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=145
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=149
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=134
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=437
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=844
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=1002�
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=1003�
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=1002�
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=1002�
jonesh1
Text Box
APPENDIX I



Draf
t R

ep
ort

Recommendation 
 

Progress Evaluation 

Performance and Outcome Focus 
R1 (met) 
 
There is a need for a more sharply focused 
performance and outcome approach to be adopted by 
scrutiny and audit. This will help define key issues for 
committee members and increase the likelihood of 
effective meetings and impact of scrutiny and audit. 
 

Progress  
 
A new format for reports to scrutiny has been introduced 
at all scrutiny committee meetings. Officers are asked to 
ensure their reports follow the format of “where were we? 
(previous position a few years ago); where do we want to 
be? (our ambition); where are we now? (progress and 
improvements made); and what do we need to do next to 
reach our ambition?” Within the four headings above 
scrutiny requires the reports to outline each key aspect 
e.g. 
 
• a short description;  
• a clear analysis; 
• an indication of what needs to occur to improve the 

aspect; 
• how this improvement will be achieved;  
• the barriers that may need to be overcome; 
• the outcomes and when these will be achieved; 
• what success will look like 
• if and how progress will be reported to scrutiny  
• show how your area(s) creates or provides value for 

money to the Council's work.  
• provide evidence of progress made ref Action Plans 

during a monitoring & evaluation programme. 
  

Evaluation  
 
Scrutiny has also taken a new approach to performance 
monitoring. After the respective Performance Board 
meetings an update report is presented to Scrutiny on 
progress against the activities identified at the respective 
Performance Board meeting.  

The performance team provide recommendations on which 
action points need to be prioritised, provided details of the 
how the action points will be delivered, and identify the 
service area or officer that has the lead responsibility. 

This approach is still in its infancy but appears to be 
progressing well. 

The WAO have commented: - “The arrangement to 
challenge and track progress against the action points 
through the scrutiny process are new. This process has the 
potential to strengthen the Council’s approach to service 
improvement by providing greater oversight. However, the 
Council will need to ensure that the scrutiny function is 
provided with the necessary support to fulfil this role 
effectively. The new approach has not yet embedded 
sufficiently to be able to assess the impact or effectiveness 
of the arrangement.” 
 
 

Scrutiny of Cabinet Members And Officers 
R2 (met) 
 
Scrutiny Committees should continue to require 
attendance by Cabinet Members at specific scrutiny 
meetings as defined through the work programmes. 
 

Progress 
 
The Local Government Act 2000 allows scrutiny to 
compel both members and officers of the local authority 
to appear before them.  A scrutiny ‘invitation’ is not really 
an invitation, but a statutory requirement. 
 
All the work programmes were defined to invite the 
attendance of appropriate Cabinet Members for specific 
meetings/items and Cabinet Members were notified and 
are reminded in advance. 

Evaluation  
 
With few exceptions Cabinet Members have attended 
meetings to which they have been invited during 2015/16. 
 
Two different types of approach have been used which 
could be described from ‘proactive’ to ‘reactive’. Proactive 
entails the Cabinet Member briefly delivering a report and 
then responding to specific questions as well as making 
comments at appropriate stages alongside officer 
responses.  
 
Reactive entailed officer delivery of the report followed by 
the Cabinet member responding to questions when 
specifically asked. 
 
 

A
ppendix II 

P
age 65



Draf
t R

ep
ort

R3 (met) 
 
Cabinet members should attend some meetings as 
observers. 
 

Progress 
 
Cabinet members regularly contribute to scrutiny 
meetings and there have been examples of Cabinet 
members in attendance at a meeting as an observer, 
ending up contributing to the meeting. 
 
This has been a very positive approach that has been 
adopted by the Scrutiny Committees and the Cabinet 
members. 
 
 
 

Evaluation  
 
Cabinet members cannot be expected to attend every 
scrutiny meeting relating to their portfolio. Also a balance 
must be made on Cabinet member attendance, even as an 
observer, as there will be time when scrutiny members may 
not want the Cabinet member to be present.  
 
However as no concerns have been raised by Cabinet 
members or Scrutiny committee members, Cabinet member 
attendance as an observer should be left entirely up to the 
individual Cabinet member. 
 
 

R4 (met) 
 
The Scrutiny and Audit Committees need to build upon 
the progress made during 2014/15 and use the ‘key 
features of most successful meetings’ as a basis for 
meetings involving Cabinet Members and/or officers 
during 2015/16 as defined below : 

 
a. Brief presentation of the report by the Cabinet 

Member (or officer when no cabinet member)  
lasting no more than fifteen minutes and identifying 
the key issues, progress on performance, impact on 
outcomes and future challenges to be addressed. 

 
b. Appropriately robust questions prepared in advance 

by scrutiny and audit members and appropriate 
follow-up questions to initial responses within the 
meetings 

 
c. A balance between Cabinet Member and officer 

responses to questions and targeting of specific 
questions by the chair to either officers and/or to the 
Cabinet Member or both 

 

Progress 
 
a. As mentioned above two different types of approach 

have been used i.e. ‘proactive’ and ‘reactive’.  
 
Proactive - the Cabinet Member briefly delivering a 
report and then responding to specific questions as 
well as making comments at appropriate stages 
alongside officer responses.  
 
Reactive - officer delivery of the report followed by 
responding to questions when specifically asked. 
 

b. All Committees prepare a list of questions in advance 
of the meeting. These are discussed at their pre-
meetings. Appropriate supplementary questions are 
asked at the meetings. 
 

c. This takes place. 
 

Evaluation  
 
The Proactive approach by Cabinet members is more 
prevalent than the Reactive approach, although both ways 
are very positive. There is no right or wrong way as long as 
the Cabinet member is challenged appropriately on his/her 
portfolio responsibilities. 
 
All reports to scrutiny committees tend to follow a similar 
format i.e. where we were, where we are, where we want to 
be, and how are we going to get there. To date this has 
been very effective.  
 
Scrutiny members are finding this approach easier when 
preparing questions for the meeting, as opposed to 
presentations for example. With the reports most information 
is provided in the report itself, whilst with the presentations, 
scrutiny members will only get the information behind the 
bullet points in the presentation at the meeting itself.  
 
 
 
 
 

Work Programmes 
R5 (met) 
 
The good progress made on developing the work 
programme for 2014/15 should be built upon for 
2015/16 ensuring that : 

 
a) the descriptive template is continued so that 
there is clarity about the purpose of the item and 
the expected outcomes 
 

Progress 
 
All the scrutiny committees have developed robust and 
challenging work programmes and have introduced the 
descripting template. 
 
Each committee liaises with the portfolio members, and 
senior officers in developing the work programmes. 
 
All the work programmes for 2015/16 were designed to 

Evaluation  
 
The work programmes for 2015/16 were sound and 
addressed the necessary issues in a timely way. A degree of 
flexibility was applied during the year as new issues 
emerged and this has helped ensure the programme was 
focusing on immediate key issues.  
 
Members have found the descriptive template useful during 
2015/16 and wish it to continue with this format 

P
age 66



Draf
t R

ep
ort

b) both scrutiny members and officers influence 
the agendas through a formal process to enable 
this to happen during the period March to May in 
each year 

 

ensure (i) key issues are addressed (ii) Cabinet Members 
attend specific meetings (iii) and key corporate issues (ie 
budget, performance, transformation programme) are 
common to all committees. 
 
As well as the standard template showing items for each 
meeting by date, there is a second template completed 
which records each item description and defines what is 
expected, who should attend and whether it is a scrutiny 
or overview item. 
 
The work programmes were developed mainly by 
scrutiny committees with some officer input. 
 
 

 
Whilst it is important that scrutiny members and officers 
influence the work programmes, it also important that work 
programmes are influenced by public suggestions. Using 
Twitter and Facebook, and placing articles in the Contact 
magazine have proved fruitless in getting public participation 
in scrutiny. 
However in the latter stages of 2015/16 there were two 
issues brought to scrutiny as a reslt of public concers, these 
being the litter/fly-tipping issues the County Borough is 
facing; and the Councils use of debt recovery companies 
 
 

Specific Issues 
R6 (met) 
 
In terms of the current Chief Executive’s Scrutiny 
Committee, the following should be considered : 
 

a) renaming the Committee as the “Corporate, 
Performance & Business Change Committee” 
(or something similar that defines the nature of 
the key corporate dimensions ) 

 
b) carefully crafting the work plan to ensure it 

appropriately reflects the key corporate 
challenges facing the organisation to include 
the following : 

 
(i) Defining Success for 2017; 

) Performance management and 
monitoring : Corporate, service and staff 

(iii) Change to include : 
• Organisational 
• Transformational 
• Business  
• Cultural 

(iv) Corporate planning including self-
evaluation 

(v) Budget management and monitoring 
 
c) To avoid duplication of effort and time across 

committees by Members and officers, use this 
committee to initially deal with corporate 
issues and then refer specific issues to 
individual committees as required 

 

Progress 
 
a)   A report to Council on 17th June 2015 introduced the 

scrutiny committees as currently operated. i.e. 
  

1. Governance, Performance, Business Change 
and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee; 
(previously the Chief Executives Scrutiny Committee) 

2. Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee;  
3. Social Services Scrutiny Committee;  
4. Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection 

(Incorporating Crime and Disorder) Scrutiny 
Committee;  

5. Regeneration, Planning and Countryside 
Scrutiny Committee; and a  

6. Joint Scrutiny Committee.  
 
b) The key corporate challenges facing the organisation 

have been incorporated into the work programme. 
 
c)   This has been done. 
 
d)   The new learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 

has been set up taking on the LAESCYP 
responsibilities of the previous Social Services and 
Social Regeneration Scrutiny Committee. 

 
e)   No joint task and finish groups have been set up in 

the last Council year, but comments noted. 

Evaluation  
 
The Governance, Performance, Business Change and 
Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee has been in 
operation for 12 months and its work programme has 
included the key corporate challenges. The Deputy leader / 
Portfolio Member for Governance and Corporate Services 
attends all committee meetings where he is appropriately 
challenged. He also keeps the committee updated on 
corporate matters.   
 
This committee is seen as the overarching scrutiny 
committee and is able to refer items to the individual scrutiny 
committees as and when applicable. 
 
The Chair and Vice Chair of each of the other 4 scrutiny 
committees sits on this committee and as such individually 
they are able to take any concerns back to their individual 
committees for further consideration. 
 
 
 

P
age 67



Draf
t R

ep
ort

d) Common LAESCYP issues should be 
addressed by one committee. 

 
e) Where joint task and finish groups are 

established, as with Learning for Life in 
2014/15, this needs to be well defined in 
advance, require the involvement of key 
officers, Cabinet Members and other agencies 
and follow a process which should be better 
defined and understood as this is currently 
unclear. 

 
Training 
R7 (met) 
The good progress in improving the quality of 
questioning across the scrutiny committees needs to 
be further built upon. The Chair’s Group and Scrutiny 
Support will consider the development of a training 
pack which uses some of the webcast recorded 
practice. 
 

Progress 
Scrutiny members have received training on questioning 
techniques and skills. Further training on questioning 
skills with the WLGA is planned for June 2016. 
 
The Chairs Group is no longer in operation. 
 
In respect of Webcasting, meetings are recorded but are 
not webcast at this stage. This is an area for 
development. 
 
   

Evaluation 
ESTYN has acknowledged that in respect of the Learning 
and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee the culture of challenge 
and accountability is developing well. 
 
It is essential that this continues across all the scrutiny 
committees  

R8 (Partly met) 
 
There is a need for all committee members to have 
generic training for at least : 

 
a) performance and outcome focused scrutiny 
b) analysing local and national data and 

information 
c) effective self-evaluation 
d) effective questioning 

 

Progress 
 
Scrutiny members have been offered the following 
training:- 
 
• Questioning Skills 
• Scrutiny Induction 
• Education Training x2 (Schools Scrutiny Committee only) 
• Scrutiny Chairing Skills 
• Effective Questioning Skills 
• Understanding and using performance data 
• Roles and Responsibilities for 

Outcome Based Scrutiny 
• Effective Scrutiny for Better Outcomes 
• Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015  
• Data Unit Wales – Interpretation of data  
• Effective Questioning  
• How to Chair Meetings 
• Social Media 
• Media Skills 
• Public Speaking and Assertiveness 

 
 

Evaluation  
 
Democratic Services has recently undertaken a training 
needs analysis – training on “Chairing Meetings” and 
“questioning skills” has been identified as areas training are 
required. This is being addressed. 
 
Not all the areas identified by the evaluation report last year 
have been identified by Members as areas they wish to 
receive training on. 
 
As part of the Member development process Party/Group 
Leaders worked with each Councillor on their Personal 
Development Plans which began with the completion of their 
TNA’s. As such whilst this recommendation has not been 
met in full, it has been overtaken by other processes. 
 
In readiness for the local elections in May 2017, a new 
programme of training will be developed 
 
 

P
age 68



Draf
t R

ep
ort

R9 (met) 
 
To assist in the delivery of effective scrutiny in 
individual committees focused on specific aspects (ie 
Waste, LAESCYP, Social Care, Highways etc) there is 
a need for training in the areas in relation to knowledge 
of performance and key specific service issues  
 

Progress 
 
After this recommendation in May 2015, the newly 
formed Regeneration Scrutiny Committee had an agenda 
item “Awareness Raising – Committee’s Areas of 
Responsibility” with Senior Officers and the Cabinet 
member were in attendance.  
 
The Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee had an 
awareness raising session with the Portfolio Member and 
the Chief Education Officer.  
 
Similarly the Neighbourhood Services and Public 
Protection Scrutiny Committee had an awareness raising 
session, specifically on its new responsibilities as the 
Authority’s crime and Disorder Committee. 
 
These were the three committees mainly affected by the 
scrutiny committee restructure. 
 

Evaluation  
 
All the Committees are aware of their areas of responsibility 
and the work programmes that were drawn up for 2015/16 
reflect this. 
 
As is normal after the local elections, a programme of 
training and awareness of roles will be drawn up in 
readiness for the May 2017 elections. 

Evidence 
R10 (not fully met) 
 
The webcast recordings should be used to provide an 
evidence base of practice for the local authority in 
terms of Member Scrutiny and this should be more 
formally used for external regulators such as Estyn and 
Wales Audit Office. 
 

Progress 
 
All scrutiny committee meetings are recorded but as yet 
they are not webcast.  

Evaluation  
 
It is recommended that consideration be given to webcasting 
all or a selection of scrutiny committee meetings with effect 
from September 2016. 

R11 (partly met) 
The Schools Scrutiny Committee is seen as a good 
example by external regulators and so the practice 
should be shared with other committees. 
 

Progress 
The various scrutiny committees operate similarly (same 
format reports, pre and post meetings, attendance of 
Cabinet members etc), although attendance and effective 
challenge & participation is variable.  
 
The Schools Scrutiny Committee (now the Learning and 
LAESCYP) had seen more focus and input since the 
2012 ESTYN inspection. 
 
With the forming of the Governance Scrutiny Committee 
(Chairs and Vice Chairs of the scrutiny committees) this 
has and will in the future help with ensuring that best 
practice is shared across all the Committees. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Evaluation  
This is evidenced by the WAO in the Corporate Assessment 
“Scrutiny and challenge is developing but is variable in its 
rigour and focus, and its impact is unclear. Scrutiny 
challenge is developing but remains variable with strong and 
weak committees.”  
 

P
age 69



Draf
t R

ep
ort

Structure 
R12 (met) 
 
The existing committee and audit structure is becoming 
more effective but needs review before Annual Council 
in May 2015. The following issues need to be 
addressed  

 
a) The Chief Executive’s new organisational structure 
with specific responsibilities for each of the Corporate 
Directors should influence the nature of future scrutiny 
committees, the Cabinet Member accountabilities and 
accountable officers.  

 
b) At this stage it is probably best to consolidate the 
work of the existing structure and build upon the 
strengths from the last 2 years but for 2015/16, to 
consider the following : 
 

(i) requiring corporate issues to be more explicitly 
addressed in the Chief Executive’s Committee 
and consider renaming this as Corporate, 
Performance & Business Change Scrutiny 
Committee (or something similar) 

(ii) requiring all LAESCYP related issues to be the 
responsibility of one committee; 

(iii) programming some joint meetings for common 
items where required; 

(iv) securing a better framework for reporting on 
self-evaluation, performance management and 
performance appraisal related items as this is 
currently very weak. 

 

Progress 
 
The scrutiny structure at MTCBC was changed following 

a report to Council on 17th June 2015. 
 
(i) The new Committee is the Governance, Performance, 

Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny 
Committee; (previously the Chief Executives Scrutiny 
Committee. Corporate issues are addressed at the 
committee’s meetings. 

 
(ii) The Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny committee now 

considers all LAESCYP issues and has done since 
May 2015. 

 
(iii) There is now a Joint Scrutiny Committee. All scrutiny 

members are members of this committee. A meeting 
of this committee is called when items relevant to all 
the scrutiny committees is considered e.g. the 
consultations on the draft budgets February each 
year.  

(iv)Scrutiny has also taken a new approach to 
performance monitoring. After the respective 
Performance Board meetings an update report is 
presented to Scrutiny on progress against the 
activities identified at the respective Performance 
Board meeting. The WAO have commented: - “The 
arrangement to challenge and track progress against 
the action points through the scrutiny process are 
new. This process has the potential to strengthen the 
Council’s approach to service improvement by 
providing greater oversight” 

Evaluation 
 
This recommendation has been met in full:- 
 
New scrutiny committee structure, including a Joint Scrutiny 
Committee (of all scrutiny members) that meets approx. 3 
times a year to discuss common issues such as budget 
proposals. 
 
For 2016/17 a schedule of Performance Board outcomes for 
each scrutiny committee has been added to the work 
programmes. 
 

Other Issues to Address 
R13 (met) 
 
For many committee meetings (but not all), officers are 
present throughout a lot of the meeting until their item 
is dealt with. This can entail some very senior officers 
sitting for over an hour and sometimes having one of 
the items not addressed or rushed. This is not an 
effective use of officer time although it has been argued 
by a few officers that it is a good way to find out what is 
going on in the organisation. This issue needs to be 
addressed as a matter of urgency. 
 
 

Progress 
 
This has never been a requirement of the scrutiny 
committees but more of a choice by officers, or indeed 
they may have felt obliged to stay for the majority of the 
meeting.  
 
 

Evaluation  
 
Officers now generally only attend for their particular item. 
Chairs now suggest Officers/other attendees leave after 
their item as a matter of course. 

P
age 70



Draf
t R

ep
ort

R14 (met) 
 
Some reports are still far too long and the tendency by 
a small number of officers to include everything that 
seems relevant is counter-productive. Committee 
members end up being unsure about what is relevant 
and the key messages will often be lost. This needs to 
be reinforced by the chairs group. 
 

Progress 
 
All reports to scrutiny committees tend to follow a similar 
format i.e. where we were, where we are, where we want 
to be, and how are we going to get there. To date this 
has been effective.  
 
Scrutiny members are finding this approach easier when 
preparing questions for the meeting, as opposed to 
presentations for example, which don’t always provide all 
the required information, only the main points. With the 
reports most information is provided in the report itself, 
whilst with the presentations, scrutiny members will only 
get the information behind the bullet points in the 
presentation at the meeting itself.  
 

Evaluation  
 
The new format appears to be working well. There have 
been no issues raised by Officers, Cabinet members, or 
members of the Committee. 

R15 (met) 
 
The most effective way to engage with the committee 
members and to enable time for questioning is to 
assume that each has read the report and so to make a 
brief presentation verbally of the key points limiting the 
presentation to 15 to 20 minutes at the most. Too many 
initial presentations are too long and subsequently this 
squeezes later agenda items. The ‘key features’ 
identified in recommendation 4 provide a good 
framework for further development. The chairs group 
should reinforce and apply this message 
 

Progress 
 
There is general acceptance that the following is the 
format at scrutiny meetings. 
 
Brief presentation of the report by the Cabinet Member 
(or officer when no cabinet member)  lasting no more 
than fifteen minutes and identifying the key issues, 
progress on performance, impact on outcomes and future 
challenges to be addressed. 
 
Appropriately robust questions prepared in advance by 
scrutiny and audit members and appropriate follow-up 
questions to initial responses within the meetings 
 
A balance between Cabinet Member and officer 
responses to questions and targeting of specific 
questions by the chair to either officers and/or to the 
Cabinet Member or both 
 
The above currently occurs, however if the above varies 
it will have been at the agreement of the 
Committee/Chair. 
 
 

Evaluation  
 
PowerPoint presentations are the exception rather that the 
rule and scrutiny reports are in an agreed format. This 
together with the “key features” has helped scrutiny become 
more effective / efficient. 
 
Where there have been cases where a) is not adhered to, it 
will have been with the encouragement or agreement of the 
committee. If the officer has deviated from the agreed 
format, it is the role of the Chair to bring the meeting back in 
line with the accepted format. 

 

P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
       Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

PREPARATION OF SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME -
2016/17

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Scrutiny Committee has come to the end of its work programme for 2015/16 
and needs to prepare same for 2016/17.

1.2 This report sets out some of the criteria that need to be considered when 
considering a work programme.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 That Scrutiny Committee notes the content of the report and commences 
preparation of the 2016/17 work programme.

3.0 BACKGROUND / INFORMATION

3.1 Setting a work programme for the scrutiny committee is an important stage in the 
Scrutiny process. An effective and well planned work programme will identify the 
key topics that scrutiny will consider over the coming year. The Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 2011 requires Scrutiny Committees to publish forward plans of their 
scrutiny work.

3.2 Scrutiny is a Member-led function and as such it is up to the scrutiny committee 
itself to determine the work programme. It is vital that scrutiny members take 
responsibility for both drawing up and managing their own work programme. The 
work programme is a working document that is subject to change and Members 
can add, remove, and defer items as necessary. A Work Programme will provide a 
clear picture to the public and partners of planned scrutiny activity

Date Written 27th June 2016
Report Author Scrutiny Section
Service Area Scrutiny
Committee Date 5th July 2016

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



3.3 “Effective work programming is the bedrock of an effective scrutiny function. Done 
well, it can help to lay the foundations for targeted, incisive and timely work on 
issues of local importance, where scrutiny can add value. Done badly, scrutiny can 
end up wasting time and resources on issues where the impact of any work done is 
likely to be minimal.”1 

3.4 The Wales Audit Office2 says that “Councils should ensure that the contents of 
forward work programmes are based on sound criteria with a clear rationale for 
topic selection and that sufficient consideration is given to the method of scrutiny, 
rather than just the selection of topics. A key criterion for the selection of topics 
and the method of scrutiny should be the extent to which scrutiny committees are 
likely to have an impact in the area they have selected.”

“To help ensure that scrutiny has an impact, scrutiny committees may have to 
balance a desire to examine a large number of topics with the likelihood of 
securing greater impact through focusing on a small number of items in more 
detail.”

3.5 Some key principles for setting work programmes are: 
 Topics should add value and support corporate priorities 
 Where appropriate involve partners, stakeholders and the public 
 Allow some flexibility to enable topics to be included as they arise 
 Seek improvement in Service provision 
 Be achievable within available resources 

3.6 Sources of information to identify key topics for the work programme come from a 
wide range of sources including: 

 Suggestions made by Council Members and Co-opted members 
 Suggestions made by senior management 
 Suggestions made by members of the public
 Corporate performance reports 
 Suggestions made by partners and stakeholders 
 Suggestions made by Regulators
 The Council's Corporate Plan / Corporate Priorities
 The LSB’s Single Improvement Plan
 Topics from budget monitoring reports 
 Issues from audit and inspection reports 
 Performance issues
 Inspectors’ and regulators’ concerns
 Concerns and complaints raised by the Public about a particular service, for example.

The Committee will also have considered:-
 Its areas of responsibilities / remit 

1 Centre for public Scrutiny (CfPS)
2 “Good Scrutiny? Good Question!” 20th May 2014 http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=113&offset=0

Page 74

http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=113&offset=0


 the roles that scrutiny undertakes e.g. holding the Cabinet and decision-makers 
to account; policy review and development; performance monitoring;  external 
scrutiny.

3.7 There is a mechanism in place on the scrutiny pages of the Councils 
website to allow anyone to submit suggestions for the work programmes 
(online form). 

3.8 Appendix I is a suggested aid when considering items for the work programme. 
Appendix II is the completed work programme document for 2015/16.
Appendix III is the draft work programme for 2016/17.
Appendix IV reflects the remit of this committee, along with the other scrutiny 
committees

3.9 Committees members will be aware that the Council has seven key priorities as 
per the Corporate Plan. These are:- 1) Raising Standards of Attainment; 2) 
Employability;  3) Economic Development;  4) Promoting Active Lifestyles;  5) 
Promoting Independence; 6) Meeting the Needs of Vulnerable Children and 7)  A 
Sustainable Environment.

The seven Council priority areas are delivered through 4 themes, and each of the 
4 Chief Officers has ownership and responsibility for one of these themes. The 4 
themes are:-

 Raising Standards - (Chief Officer for Learning/ Cabinet member for 
Learning) 
Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee

 Improving Wellbeing - (Chief Officer for Social Services / Cabinet member 
for Social Services)
Social Services Scrutiny Committee

 Economic Growth - (Chief Officer for Community Regeneration / Cabinet 
member for Regeneration, Planning and Countryside)
Regeneration, Planning & Countryside Scrutiny Committee

 Sustainable Development - (Chief Officer for Neighbourhood Services / 
Cabinet member for Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection)
Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee

3.10 To reflect the 4 themes as per above in a convenient form, 4 “strategies on a page” 
have been developed and each reflects Measures of Success; Desired Outcomes 
and Strategic Aims and Objectives.

3.11 Much of Scrutiny committee work programme activity is aligned to the delivery of 
the Council’s corporate priorities and the “strategies of a page” can assist scrutiny 
committees in this role. The “strategies of a page” can be found at the end of this 
report.

HOWARD JONES
SCRUTINY OFFICER

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Post Inspection Action Plan

Page 75



Page 76



APPENDIX I

Scrutiny Work Programme Proposal / Request Form

Item(s) for ………………………………….………..Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

Topic/Subject ……………………………………………………………………………………

…………………………………………………………………………………………………….

Q) Why has the item been suggested for the scrutiny work programme?
 Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan and 

priorities / Local Service Board’s Single Integrated Plan?

 Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns?

 Is this item/topic of significant public interest?

 Has the item/topic got budgetary implications?

 Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant difference and 
achieve tangible outcomes?

 Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available resources?

 Other – please specify……………………………………………………………

Please provide further details…………………………………………………………………….

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

Q) What is the specific role of the committee?
           This will depend on the item – for example the role could be:

 To determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department

 To determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose

 To satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a major 
issue 

 To gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny   
investigation / review

 To explore possible solutions to an issue

 Other – please specify………………………………………………………………………..

Please provide further details…………………………………………………………………….

Page 77



………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

Q) What outcome is being sought from the consideration of this item?
 To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet regarding the 

proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council 

 Identification of any causes for concern and note successes.

 To receive an overview presentation.

 To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy

 To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the pressures facing 
each service. This also helps provide an overview of the policy frame work. 

 For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of the 
corporate plan / other plan / other strategy.

 Improvement in service delivery

 other – please specify……………………………………………………………

Please provide further details…………………………………………………………………….

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information?
Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range of 
witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and External 
partners – e.g. Police, Health Board etc

Please provide further details…………………………………………………………………….

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

Page 78



Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations?
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This will 
assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer ready 
for the meeting. 

Please provide further details…………………………………………………………………….

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item and for 
the witnesses that will be invited to attend?
Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. You 
may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. community 
centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some people find the 
formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more appropriate to see 
first hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining information on e.g. waste 
sites, regeneration projects etc.

Please provide further details…………………………………………………………………….

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2015/16

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version November 2015)

Committee Governance, Performance, Business Change & Corporate Services
Overarching Item Officer & 

Cabinet 
Member

Timing  (Other) Scrutiny Focus

Corporate 
Strategic 
Direction

Gareth 
Chapman/Ellis 

Cooper/Lorraine 
Buck/Cllr Brendan 
Toomey/ Cllr Phil 

Williams

15th Sep 
2015

Scrutiny & Challenge : A report outlining the corporate strategic direction and 
identifying measures for success, desired outcomes and targets towards 
meeting the ambition of top performance, sustainability and good reputation. 

Local Service 
Board; Wellbeing 
of Future 
Generations Act

Chair of LSB, MT, 
SD

Scrutiny & Challenge : A report detailing the requirements of the Wellbeing 
of Future Generations Act:  Overview of the Wellbeing of Future Generations 
Act and the role of partnerships to support local implementation.

Corporate Plan 
Challenge Process

Ellis 
Cooper/Lorraine 

Buck/Mark Thomas 
/ Cllr Phil Williams

Ewan Mc 
Williams

Scrutiny & Challenge : A report detailing (i) the outcomes of the SER process 
for services during 2014/15 (ii) what process will be used during 2015/16 to 
ensure robust corporate and service challenge (iii) how the SER process for 
2014/15 has influenced the Corporate Plan and the corporate strategic 
direction (iv)  progress towards embedding self-evaluation into  corporate and 
service planning cycles 

Annual 
Performance 
report and 
progress updates 

Lorraine 
Buck/Mark 

Thomas

15th Sep 
2015

 
Scrutiny and Challenge:  Statutory publication of Annual Performance Report and 
quarterly updates on performance.  Each year the Council reviews its performance 
and evaluates progress made against the priorities set out in the corporate plan. A 
report is prepared that sets out how well the Authority is performing and what it can 
do to improve.

Review of HR 
Services

Lorraine Buck/ Lisa 
Jones/ Cllr Phil 

Williams

27th Oct 
2015

Carys Kennedy Scrutiny & Challenge : Follow up to the Schools Scrutiny Committee scrutiny 
concerns about HR related issues with schools and progress on delivering the actions 
following the HR review in 2014 and in relation to the effectiveness and impact of 
school related issues

A
PPEN

D
IX II

P
age 81



Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2015/16

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version November 2015)

Performance 
Strategy & 
Performance Board

Ewan 
McWilliams

27th 
October 

2015

Scrutiny & Challenge: A report and presentation which is to discuss the performance 
element of the organisational improvement strategy and to include the role of the 
Performance Board.

Corporate 
Strategic 
Direction

Gareth 
Chapman/Ellis 

Cooper/Lorraine 
Buck/Cllr Brendan 
Toomey/ Cllr Phil 

Williams

Late Oct 
2015 & 
Mid Apr 

2016 

(Joint 
Committee)

Scrutiny & Challenge : A report on progress towards delivering the corporate 
strategic direction plan for two of the key themes of top performance, 
sustainability and good reputation in the first meeting and in the second 
meeting the remaining theme and a summary of progress for the whole plan

Corporate Business 
Change 

Ellis Cooper / 
Cllr Phil 
Williams

Gary Thomas 
/ Andrew 
Mogford

Scrutiny & Challenge : A report detailing the key elements of the business change 
strategy and programme and an evaluation of successful it is in achieving 
transformational and budgetary change whilst also supporting the delivery of the 
ambitions of top performance, sustainability and reputation

Local Service Board 
-  Update on 
Performance 
Management of 
the Reviewed SIP

Ellis Cooper / 
Cllr Phil 

Williams/L.  
Buck

Chair of LSB, 
MT, SD

Scrutiny & Challenge :  A report providing an update on Performance Management of 
the Reviewed SIP:  SIP review including performance management arrangements to 
monitor delivery of the SIP 

Review of HR 
Services

Dorothy Haines/ 
Lisa Jones/ Carys 

Kennedy / Cllr Phil 
Williams

8th Dec 
2015

Scrutiny & Challenge : Follow up to meeting on 27th October 2015. Schools Scrutiny 
Committee have had concerns about HR related issues with schools and progress on 
delivering the actions following the HR review in 2014, and in relation to the 
effectiveness and impact of school related issues

Consultation on 
draft budget 
proposals 2015/16

Gareth 
Chapman/Steve 

Jones/Cllr P 
Williams/ Cllr B. 

Toomey 

14th Jan 
2016 

(Joint 
Committees)

Challenge & Overview : Referral from Cabinet for scrutiny to understand and then 
challenge proposed budget proposals for 2015/16 and beyond where appropriate

P
age 82



Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2015/16

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version November 2015)

Corporate Risk 
Register

Mark 
Thomas/K. 

O’Donovan /   
Cllr P Williams

Challenge & Overview:   To provide a report providing an overview of the Corporate Risk Register (to 
manage high level risks facing the organisation from a strategic and business risk perspective).

Review of HR 
Services – action 
plan update

Lorraine Buck/ Lisa 
Jones/ Cllr Phil 

Williams

Scrutiny & Challenge: Follow up to the Schools Scrutiny Committee scrutiny concerns about HR 
related issues with schools and progress on delivering the actions following the HR review in 2014 and 
in relation to the effectiveness and impact of school related issues. This follows on from the meeting 
on 27th October 2015.

Corporate Plan 
2015/16 (Q2)

Ewan Mc 
Williams /   Cllr 

P Williams

19th 
January 

2016

Scrutiny & Challenge : Quarter 2 Corporate Plan & Outcome Agreement performance 
monitoring. Focus is to scrutinise progress and to highlight variations in performance

Budget & 
Performance 

Steve Jones / 
Mark Thomas /  
Cllr P Williams

Scrutiny & Challenge : A report detailing progress on embedding value for money  analysis in service 
self-evaluations and providing an indication about whether key council services are providing value 
for money

Local Service 
Board. The 
transition from LSB 
to Public Service 
Board

Chair of LSB, 
MT, SD /  Cllr P 

Williams

Scrutiny & Challenge : Overview of the transition arrangements from LSBs to PSBs and overview of 
the requirements of PSBs

Performance and 
Challenge  against 
“Strategies on a 
Page”

Gareth 
Chapman/Ellis 

Cooper/Lorraine 
Buck/Cllr Brendan 
Toomey/ Cllr Phil 

Williams

1st March 
2016

Scrutiny & Challenge:  Performance against each of the “strategies on a page”. At 15th 
September 2015 meeting the Deputy leader suggested that they return to provide further 
information on delivery against the strategies and how they are progressing. 

Whistleblowing 
Policy

CK,  Cllr P 
Williams

Challenge & Overview:   To seek assurances that the matters highlighted in last year’s Wales 
Audit Office report are being addressed. As per WAO report - There is significant scope to 
improve the Council’s whistleblowing policy, process, and training and to raise awareness of 
whistleblowing arrangements across the Council. The current whistleblowing arrangements, 
themes, trends and outcomes are not subject to member scrutiny and challenge” (Source – 
WAO- Annual Improvement report and Corporate Assessment June 2015)

P
age 83



Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2015/16

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version November 2015)

Corporate Software 
Programme for 
recording / 
monitoring 
Performance.

Mark Thomas /  
Cllr P Williams

Challenge & Overview:   At the June 2015 meeting MT advised that the Authority will be introducing a 
new software package to record and monitor performance. The committee has asked for an update 
on progress.

Action Points 
following 
Learning & 
LAESCYP 
Performance 
Board meeting 
Nov 2015

DH, G 
Estabanez, Cllr 

P Williams

12th April 
2016

Scrutiny and Challenge: At the last Learning & LAESCYP Performance Board 5 areas for 
improvement were identified – 1) Parental Engagement (Lead Officer Sarah Bowen); 2) More Able and 
Talented Pupils (Dorothy Haines); 3) Governance & Governing Bodies (Dorothy Haines); 4) Collaboration 
(Dorothy Haines); and 5) Corporate Support Services (Glynis Estabanez). (These were identified in the Performance Board 

report to Learning & LAESCYP meeting on 25th January 2016). Numbers 1 to 4 managed by the L&L scrutiny 
committee; and 5) by the Governance Scrutiny Committee. Above suggested by Cllr P. 
Williams.

Child Sexual 
Exploitation - 
Rotherham MBC

Action Plan

Cllr L. 
Matthews / to 
be confirmed

Scrutiny and Challenge: - A review of processes and policies was undertaken as part of a 
Safeguarding Review panel and an action plan produced. “MTCBC Safeguarding Review 
Improvement Action Plan”. The action plan to come to this committee.

Referral from Regeneration Scrutiny Committee. At the Regeneration Scrutiny meeting on 
26th January the Committee was provided an action plan – “MTCBC Safeguarding Review 
Improvement Action Plan”. The Licensing section actions were reported to the committee. 
The Committee however felt that ownership of monitoring the actions of the action plan 
should be by the Governance Scrutiny Committee as it was authority–wide. The Governance 
Scrutiny Committee to consider how to deal with this matter. (A report on the matter was 
agended at Council on 02/12/2015 MTCBC Corporate response to the Casey report”

Preparation of 
Work Programme 
for 2016 /17

Committee 
members / 

Portfolio 
Member

24th May 
2016

The Committee identifies topics for scrutiny activity within its work programme for the 
2016/17 municipal year.  It is important that Members develop a realistic and flexible work 
programme for overview and scrutiny which contributes to the Council’s priorities and 
provides opportunities to hold decision-makers to account.

Wales Audit Office 
Reports, AIR & 

Gareth 
Chapman/Ellis 

Date to be 
agreed

Information & Challenge : The key elements of the Wales Audit Office reports and/or 
letters issued for 2014/15 and planning for improvement 2015/16.

P
age 84



Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2015/16

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version November 2015)

Letters Cooper/Lorrain
e Buck/M 

Thomas/ Cllr 
Phil Williams

Local Service Board 
– Annual Report 
and Key Priorities

Ellis Cooper / 
Cllr Phil 

Williams/Lorrai
ne Buck / Chair 
of LSB, MT, SD

Date to be 
agreed

Scrutiny & Challenge :  Annual Report and detailing performance  and Key Priorities 
in relation to the revised SIP for 2015/16.

Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE) – 
Rotherham MBC

Corporate 
Safeguarding 
Group 
responsible 
for Action Plan

Date to be 
agreed.

Referral from Regeneration Scrutiny Committee. At the Regeneration Scrutiny 
meeting on 26th January the Committee was provided an action plan – 
“MTCBC Safeguarding Review Improvement Action Plan”. The Licensing 
section actions were reported to the committee. The Committee however felt 
that ownership of monitoring the actions of the action plan should be by the 
Governance Scrutiny Committee as it was authority–wide. The Governance 
Scrutiny Committee to consider how to deal with this matter. (A report on the 
matter was agended at Council on 02/12/2015 MTCBC Corporate response to 
the Casey report” 

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

Date / Timing Overarching 
Item

Officer & Cabinet Member
 

Scrutiny Focus 

Debt Recovery 
Firms

Cllr Phil Williams. Mark 
Thomas / Mike Parry

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Petition Submission: Merthyr Council Stop Using Debt 
Recovery Firms. A member of the public has contacted the Chief Executive 
campaigning that MTCBC stops employing the services of debt recovery companies. 
“The use of debt recovery companies by the council clearly victimizes the least 
financially secure people in the town who are struggling to keep up with council tax 
bills, rent (often due to bedroom tax) and even parking charges...”

Older People’s 
Commissioner 
for Wales – 
Guidance

For information Progress report - Older People’s Commissioner for Wales - Guidance on Equality and 
Human Rights Impact Assessments (EHRIA) and Scrutinising Changes to Community 
Services in Wales.

Performance EMcW/Cllr P Williams Scrutiny & Challenge:-
Corporate Plan – Priority Area 1-7 Reports.  An update on progress against the 
Corporate Plan

Cwm Taf 
Public Services 
Board.

For information Progress report - Joint Scrutiny Committee to scrutinise the Cwm Taf Public Services 
Board. An information report providing information setting up the joint PSB; together 
with information regarding setting up the joint scrutiny committee (MTCBC and 
RCTCBC).

5th July 2016

Performance EMcW/Cllr P Williams Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Corporate Plan – Annual Delivery Document

27th September 2016 Performance EMcW/Cllr P Williams Scrutiny & Challenge:-
Service Performance Reports – 

1. Corporate Services
2. Legal & HR
3. Finance

An update on progress implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, 
issues and challenges for example activities from the Performance Board challenge.
*Appendices = Performance Board Updates.  To include a synopsis from the 
Performance Board on each report.

A
PPEN

D
IX III

P
age 87



Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

Performance EMcW/Cllr P Williams Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Annual Performance Report.  The annual performance report 
on the Corporate Plan.

Child Sexual 
Exploitation - 
Rotherham 
MBC -
Action Plan

Cllr L. Matthews / LCJ Scrutiny and Challenge: - A review of processes and policies was undertaken as part 
of a Safeguarding Review panel and an action plan produced. “MTCBC Safeguarding 
Review Improvement Action Plan”. The action plan to come to this committee.

Referral from Regeneration Scrutiny Committee. At the Regeneration Scrutiny 
meeting on 26th January the Committee was provided an action plan – “MTCBC 
Safeguarding Review Improvement Action Plan”. The Licensing section actions were 
reported to the committee. The Committee however felt that ownership of 
monitoring the actions of the action plan should be by the Governance Scrutiny 
Committee as it was authority–wide. The Governance Scrutiny Committee to 
consider how to deal with this matter. (A report on the matter was agended at 
Council on 02/12/2015 MTCBC Corporate response to the Casey report”

Performance EMcW/Cllr P Williams Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Corporate Plan – Priority Area 1-7 Reports.  An update on progress against the 
Corporate Plan
Service Performance Reports

1. Business Change
2. Communication & Marketing
3. ICT
4. Performance

An update on progress implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, 
issues and challenges for example activities from the Performance Board challenge.

Performance 
and Challenge  
against 
“Strategies on 
a Page”

 Gareth Chapman/Ellis 
Cooper/Cllr Brendan 
Toomey/ Cllr Phil Williams

Scrutiny & Challenge:  Performance against each of the “strategies on a 
page”. Follow on from 1st March 2016 meeting. An update on the delivery 
against the strategies and how they are progressing. 

8th November 2016

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

P
age 88



Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

Performance EMcW/Cllr P Williams Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Corporate Plan – Mid year Performance Report

Performance EMcW/Cllr P Williams Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Service Performance Reports – 

1. Corporate Services
2. Legal & HR
3. Finance

An update on progress implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, 
issues and challenges for example activities from the Performance Board challenge.

20th December 2016

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

Performance EMcW/Cllr P Williams Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Service Performance Report (Subject Area - to be confirmed). 
An update on progress implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, 
issues and challenges for example activities from the Performance Board challenge.

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
31st January 2017

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

14th March 2017

Performance EMcW/Cllr P Williams Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Corporate Plan – Priority Area 1-7 Reports.  An update on progress against the 
Corporate Plan
Service Performance Reports – 

1. Corporate Services
2. Legal & HR
3. Finance

An update on progress implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, 
issues and challenges for example activities from the Performance Board challenge.

P
age 89



Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version June 2016)

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

Performance EMcW/Cllr P Williams Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Service Performance Reports

1. Business Change
2. Communication & Marketing
3. ICT
4. Performance

An update on progress implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, 
issues and challenges for example activities from the Performance Board challenge.

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

25th April 2017

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

Additional items to 
consider for Work 
programme

P
age 90



Measures of Success

Raising Standards

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims 

All learners attain at least
the expected standard at all

stages in their education

Vision:

AIM 1: Improve the quality of
leadership including the leadership
of learning and teaching

AIM 2: Improve LA and
commissioned services

Leadership in all schools
is good or better

All members of the
education community

collaborate well in order
to improve the standards
and wellbeing of pupils

Teaching in all schools
is good or better

LA provision improves 
standards of attainment 

and the quality of
leadership and teaching 

in schools

P
age 91



Specific Measurable Outcomes - Measures of Success

Improving Wellbeing

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims & Objectives:

Social Services:
- Children
- Adults
- Safeguarding

We will help people in
Merthyr Tydfil to maximise their
potential, be free from poverty,

be independent and healthy
and to live in supportive and

resilient communities.
People in Merthyr Tydfil 

will be able to lead 
independent and 

fulfilled lives.
Vulnerable children in 

Merthyr Tydfil live 
healthy, safe and fulfilled 

lives.

People in Merthyr Tydfil 
are physically active and 

as a result have 
improved health.

Vision:

P
age 92



Economic	  Growth	  Plan	  
	  
	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   	  Vision	  	  	  	  

Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Business	  Base	  	   Baseline	  
	  (year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Labour	  Market	  	   Baseline	  

(year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   Skills	  	   Baseline	  
(year)	   Target	  	  

Key	  Indicator	  	   Count	  of	  birth	  of	  new	  
enterprises	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Economic	  Ac@vity,	  

Unitary	  Authori@es	  in	  
Wales	  	  

27833	  (2011)	   30000	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Level	  2	  Skills	  	   6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Births	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Average	  Gross	  Weekly	  

Earnings	  	   £477.60	  
(2014)	   £500	   	  	   Indicator	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  level	  2	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  	  	  

6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Deaths	  	   135	  (2013)	   100	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Claimant	  Count	  Levels	  	   1,100	  (Mar	  2015)	   900	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  no	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  

9963	   9000	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Gross	  Disposal	  
Household	  Income	  Per	  
Head	  	  	  

£13,500	   £14000	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	   Unemployment	  Levels	  
16	  +	  	   2000	   1600	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Economic	  InacLvity	  
Levels	  16-‐64	  year	  olds	   7,900	   7,300	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

 

AIM 1: Develop a diverse 
and vibrant business 

base 

	  	  

AIM 2: Create a flexible, 
resilient and responsive 

labour market 	  

 
 

AIM 3:  Increase the 
quality and skills within 
the existing and future 

workforce necessary for 
effective business growth  

	  	  

 
 

AIM 4: Improve and create 
the right infrastructure to 

enable and accelerate 
business growth   

	  	  

Measurable	  Outcomes	  	  

Desired	  Outcomes	  	  

P
age 93



A Sustainable Environment

Vision
People in Merthyr Tydfil 
will live in communities 
that are sustainable, clean 
and energy efficient. 

Waste Management
Energy Management
Environmental Quality  - Cleaning / Fly Tipping / Litter
           - Air Quality
           - Noise

Flood Management
Planning & Countryside
Wildlife & Biodiversity
Parks & Open SpacesSpecific Measurable Outcomes - ‘Scores on Doors’

  - Measure of Success

Strategic Aims & Objectives -

Desired Outcomes -

Creation of more
‘Greener’ jobs

P
age 94



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Progress report - Joint Scrutiny Committee to 
scrutinise the Cwm Taf Public Services Board

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to update scrutiny of the arrangements in place for the 
creation of a Cwm Taf Public Services Board, in accordance with the Well Being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act, 2015.

1.2 This scrutiny committee was previously responsible for scrutinising the Merthyr Tydfil 
Local Service Board, which is now defunct. 

1.3 Discussions are being taken forward by Officers and the Chair of this Committee to 
further discuss the setting up of joint scrutiny arrangements with colleagues in 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The Committee notes the content of this report.

2.2 The Committee agrees that the Chair and Vice Chair of the Committee meets with 
the RCTCBC colleagues to further discuss and develop proposals for the joint scrutiny 
arrangements of the Cwm Taf Public Service Board.

Date Written 23rd May 2016
Report Author Scrutiny Section
Service Area Legal & Governance Services
Committee Division Scrutiny 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 5th July 2016

Page 95

Agenda Item 8



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
3.1 Committee members will be aware that there have been regular updates to the 

committee from the Partnerships department on moving from a Local Service Board 
(LSB) to a statutory Public Service Board (PSB), as set out in the Well Being of 
Future Generations Act 2015. 

3.2 The creation of the joint Cwm Taf Public Services Board, rather than separate a 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Services Board and a Rhondda Cynon Taf Public Services 
Board, was agreed on 12th May 2016.

3.2 In the last report to this committee on 1st March 2016 (see Background Papers) 
areas were identified that still required finalisation including:-

 Constitute the new Cwm Taf Public Services Board; 
 Agree Terms of reference in line with the requirements of the Act; 
 Develop PSB Scrutiny arrangements. 

3.3 An RCTCBC report on 19th May 2016 (see Background Papers) provides updates on 
the above areas and members will be aware from that report that there will now be a 
need to create a Joint Scrutiny Committee of the two local authorities to scrutinise 
the Cwm Taf Public Services Board. 

3.4 However it must be borne in mind that currently neither the Well Being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act nor the draft statutory guidance reflects the opportunity for 
joint scrutiny, (although the Act allows for the merging of Public Services Boards). 

3.5 It is understood that supplementary guidance on the scrutiny of PSBs will be 
published soon. However, the 2011 Local Government (Wales) Measure provides for 
Councils to establish Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees, which have 
equivalent powers of single authority scrutiny Committees. Therefore the creation of 
a Joint Scrutiny Committee could be established through these means if required. 

3.6 A Joint Scrutiny Committee will only be able to undertake the functions which the 
appointing authorities allocate to it. It is therefore important that the two participating 
local authorities (RCTCBC and MTCBC) are clear from the outset about its roles, 
responsibilities and terms of reference. With this in mind discussions are being taken 
forward by officers and the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny to further discuss the joint 
arrangements with colleagues in Rhondda Cynon Taf Council. An update on 
progress will be provided to this committee in due course

Scrutiny Section
MTCBC

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? No

Page 96



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 
OLDER PEOPLE’S COMMISSIONER FOR WALES – 
GUIDANCE ON EQUALITY & HUMAN RIGHTS IMPACT 
ASSESSMENTS AND SCRUTINY 
 

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To inform the committee of guidance from the Older People’s Commissioner for 

Wales which contains implications for local authority scrutiny.  
 
1.2 The guidance relates to Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments (EHRIA) 

and Scrutinising Changes to Community Services in Wales. 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 That the Scrutiny Committee notes the contents of the report, and scrutiny’s role in 

ensuring that any changes to community services are monitored; and that the 
impact on older people and others are taken into consideration in line with the 
guidance. 

 
 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Authority has received correspondence from the Older People’s Commissioner 

for Wales. The Commissioner has published guidance under Section 12 of the 
Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act 2006. See letter and guidance 
attached as APPENDIX I 

 
3.2 The purpose of the guidance is to ensure that local authorities, and other service 

providers, carry out thorough and robust impact assessments and scrutiny when 
changes to community services are proposed. 

 

Date Written 27th May 2016 
Report Author Scrutiny Section 
Service Area Scrutiny 
Committee Date 5th July 2016 

Page 97

Agenda Item 9



3.3 Every consideration must be given to mitigate the impact on older people and 
propose alternative approaches to service delivery, in order to maintain their health, 
independence and wellbeing. 

 
3.4 Part 1 of the guidance covers Equality Impact Assessments (EqIA’s) and Part 2 

examines the role of scrutiny around changes to community services. The aim is to 
improve the quality of scrutiny and ensure that the impact of closing down or 
reducing the provision of a community service on older people is thoroughly and 
rigorously analysed and considered. 

 
3.5 Community services are identified as those non-statutory services such as day 

centres, public toilets, libraries and transport that are often described as ‘lifelines’ 
by older people. The Commissioner recognises that within a challenging financial 
climate, community services across Wales are at risk due to reductions in public 
spending, something of great concern for many older people. Furthermore, the 
Commissioner points out that older people often feel that they have few 
opportunities to voice their concerns over changes to community services, or that 
their needs are not fully considered when decisions are made. 

 
3.6 The Commissioner emphasises that protecting and improving community services 

will lead to cost savings for Local Authorities and other public services providers in 
the medium to longer term by supporting people to maintain their independence, 
reducing the need for costly formal support delivered through statutory health and 
social care services. An innovative approach to service delivery, underpinned by 
effective Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments can make a huge 
difference to our communities and, ultimately, to older people’s lives. 

 
3.7 There is an expectation that scrutiny committees will question community service 

proposals, including asking to see Impact Assessments and check that they are 
based on strong evidence and engagement. Scrutiny will need to ensure that there 
is due regard to the guidance and consider how we will ensure compliance. 

 
3.8 The guidance suggests “Scrutiny Questions for Elected Members” as follows:- 
 
  

The effective use 
of EHRIAs (see 
Part 1 of the 
Guidance for 
further 
information)  

 

• Has an EHRIA been carried out? If so, can the Leader and 
Cabinet/Senior Officers provide members with copies and a 
detailed explanation of the EHRIA conducted in respect of these 
proposals? Have specific actions been identified to mitigate the 
impact on older people?  

 
• What engagement and consultation work with older people was 

conducted with older people as part of the EHRIA of these 
proposals? Have the National Principles for Public Engagement in 
Wales been applied?  

 
• Does the Local Authority’s EHRIA process adequately capture the 

needs and views of older people? What steps have been taken to 
ensure that older people have been given every opportunity to 
voice their needs and concerns? Are these fully reflected in the 
EHRIA?  

 
 

Page 98



Compliance with 
the Equality and 
Human Rights 
Legal Framework  

 

• Can the Leader and Cabinet/ Senior Officers assure members that 
these proposals comply with Equality and Human Rights legislation 
in respect of older people? Do the proposals comply with the Local 
Authority’s Strategic Equality Plan?  

 
• What steps has the Local Authority taken to ensure these proposals 

meet statutory commitments to older people under the Equality Act 
2010 and Human Rights Act 1998?  

 
• Is there any danger these proposals may represent a breach of 

older people’s human rights? Are older people with multiple 
protected characteristics affected? Have the UN Principles for 
Older Persons and Declaration of Rights for Older People in 
Wales been fully considered and applied? Has the UN 
Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities been 
considered?  

 
• Have the National Welsh Characteristics of Good Scrutiny been 

applied? 
  

Mitigating the effects 
of austerity 
measures  

 

• What is the anticipated impact on older people? Can the Leader and 
Cabinet/Senior Officers provide members with details of the plans to 
mitigate the impact of these proposals on older people?  

 
• If…These proposals clearly have a disproportionate impact on older 

people. How will the Local Authority manage this? Have alternative 
arrangements and provision been put in place? Have innovative cost-
saving approaches e.g. Community Asset Transfer been explored?  

 
• How much will maintaining the community service cost? Is this cost 

for this financial year or is it on-going? What happens if this is not 
funded? Is there any external funding available? Could a charge be 
made for this? Can the proposal be deferred? Will the impact on older 
people be monitored and reviewed?  

 
• How does the proposal contribute to the Local Authority’s medium to 

long-term savings plan? How were decisions arrived at in order to 
decide between options? Were groups of older people, including the 
local 50+ Forum, consulted with?  

 
• Taking the asset-based approach to community services, how do the 

decisions contribute to the ‘older people as assets’ model and help 
increase their £1bn annual contribution to the Welsh economy, 
helping individuals, communities and local economies in the process?  

 
• How do the decisions contribute to the Older People’s Commissioner’ 

‘Quality of Life’ model for older people i.e. ‘I feel safe and listened to, 
valued and respected’; ‘I can do the things that matter to me’; ‘I can 
get the help that I need’; ‘I live in a place that suits me and my life’?  

 
• The Local Authority is committed to establishing age-friendly 

communities via the Dublin Declaration, a commitment as part of the 
Ageing Well in Wales Programme. How do these proposals contribute 
to the establishment of age-friendly communities and the Local 
Authority’s commitment to empower older people and maintain their 
health and independence?  

 
Specific questions 
on community 
services  

Public buses  

Public transport is vital to reduce physical and mental health problems 
amongst older people. It is also crucial to connect older people with their 

Page 99



 friends and family, GPs and hospitals, shops and key services, and does 
much to tackle social isolation. A free bus pass for older people is worth 
little without a bus:  

• Has the Local Authority fully considered the potentially devastating 
impact of removing this ‘lifeline’ service on older people ? 

 
• Is there alternative provision e.g. a community transport scheme in 

place to mitigate the impact?  
 
Public toilets  

Public toilets are crucial in maintaining the health and independence of 
older people. Without the provision of public conveniences, older people 
and others will not leave their homes, and as a result are exposed to a 
wide range of physical and mental health problems. Everyone needs a 
public toilet, and removing these facilities can make our 
villages/towns/cities ‘no go’ areas:  

• Has the Local Authority fully explored the impact of closing down this 
public toilet not only on older people but others in society (including 
the impact on tourism)?  

 
• Have alternative arrangements been explored or put in place e.g. 

local businesses offering their toilet facilities to the public, or 
community asset transfer plans?  

 
Public libraries  

Libraries play a significant role in the lives of older people. The importance 
of libraries goes far beyond books, they are places where older people 
develop digital skills, socialise and undertake a range of activities that 
helps to keep them physically and mentally active:  

• Has the Local Authority fully considered the impact of closing down 
this library on older people?  

 
• What alternative arrangements are in place to ensure that older 

people can continue to access books, digital learning and other social 
activities? 

 
• Does the Local Authority have another community hub in place for 

older people? Is the Local Authority committed to tackling loneliness 
and isolation amongst older people by proposing other venues where 
older people can meet, socialise and contribute to their local 
communities (these questions also apply to proposals around 
community and day centres)?  
 

Lifelong learning  

Learning for older people has a range of benefits. For some, it is an 
important way of helping them to keep physically and mentally active in 
retirement. For others, it is a crucial way of remaining in or re-entering 
employment. Learning helps to tackle social isolation, contributes to the 
development of personal skillsets and increases efficiency as workers or 
volunteers:  
 
• Has the Local Authority fully explored the impact of closing down this 

Page 100



lifelong learning provision on older people and others?  
 
• Has the Local Authority provided alternative arrangements so that 

older people can continue to access much needed learning 
opportunities? 

 
 
  
3.9 The purpose of the Guidance is to ensure that high quality EHRIAs and scrutiny on 

changes to community services exist across local government and other public 
service bodies in Wales. When changes are proposed the Guidance should help 
Local Authorities and other bodies to fully consider the implications on older people. 
Tighter and more impactful assessments and scrutiny from the outset should lead 
to Local Authorities and other service deliverers taking a longer-term view within 
current financial parameters.  

 
Next Steps 
 
3.8 A new integrated impact assessment will be development in line with the 

requirement of the well and future and forms part of the local authority’s project 
plan.  

 
3.9 In the meantime scrutiny needs to ensure that any changes to community services 

are monitored and that the impact on older people and others are taken into 
consideration. 

 
3.10 Consideration needs to be given to reports coming to scrutiny before progressing to 

Cabinet in order that scrutiny can question (see 3.8 above) community service 
proposals, including asking to see Impact Assessments and check that they are 
based on strong evidence and engagement. 

 
 
 
Scrutiny Section 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 
No 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 101



 

 

 

 

 

 

To: Local Authority Leaders & Chief Executives 
CC: Local Authority Older People’s Champions 
CC: Local Authority Older People’s Strategy Coordinators 
CC: Local Authority Equality Leads/Officers 
CC: Local Authority Scrutiny Managers 
CC: Steve Thomas CBE, Chief Executive, WLGA; Naomi Alleyne, 
Director, Social Services and Housing, WLGA; Daniel Hurford, Head of 
Policy, Improvement and Governance, WLGA 
 

16th February 2016 

Dear  colleague, 

Publication of Section 12 Guidance, Commissioner for Older People 
(Wales) Act 2006: Good Practice Guidance for Equality and Human 
Rights Impact Assessments and Scrutinising Changes to 
Community Services in Wales  

Following my letter to you in April 2015, I write to inform you that I have 
this week published new Guidance, issued under Section 12 of the 
Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act 20061.  

The purpose of the Guidance, entitled ‘Good Practice Guidance for 
Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments and Scrutinising 
Changes to Community Services in Wales’, is to ensure that Local 
Authorities, and other service providers, carry out thorough and robust 
impact assessments and scrutiny when changes to community services 
are proposed, and that every consideration is given to mitigate the impact 
on older people and propose alternative approaches to service delivery. 

This Guidance is delivered in two parts: 

                                                           
1 Section 12 Guidance: “The Commissioner may issue guidance on best practice in connection with any matter 
relating to the interests of older people in Wales” http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/30/contents  

Page 102

http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/publications.aspx
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/30/contents
jonesh1_1
Text Box
                 APPENDIX I



 
 

- Part 1 examines the importance of current Equality Impact 
Assessments and promotes the need to use Equality and Human 
Rights Impact Assessments (EHRIAs) when changes to community 
services are being considered. Part 1 applies to all public service 
bodies responsible for delivering community services for older 
people. 

- Part 2 examines the crucial role of scrutiny around changes to 
community services and is targeted towards elected members and 
officers in local government. The aim is to improve the quality of 
scrutiny and ensure that the impact of closing down or reducing the 
provision of a community service on older people is thoroughly and 
rigorously analysed and considered. 

This Guidance was produced in collaboration with the Welsh Government 
and the Welsh Local Government Association, and was also shared for 
consultation with Strategy for Older People coordinators and equalities 
and scrutiny officers within Welsh Local Authorities. It complements the 
Section 12 Guidance I published in July 2014, entitled ‘Best Practice 
Guidance for Engagement and Consultation with Older People on 
Changes to Community Services in Wales’2.  

At a time of real change for local government, this Guidance is designed 
to be a useful, practical document that will lead to better, high quality 
impact assessments and scrutiny. It should be embedded within working 
practices to ensure that high quality and thorough EHRIAs and scrutiny 
underpin future proposals on community services. An innovative and 
preventative approach to service delivery, supported by effective EHRIAs 
and robust scrutiny, can make a huge difference to our communities and, 
ultimately, to older people’s lives. 

The online version may be found 
here: http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/16-02-
16/Section_12_Guidance_Equality_and_Human_Rights_Assessments_S
crutiny.aspx. Hard copies of the Guidance will be sent to your Strategy for 
Older People coordinators, and I would be grateful for your support in 
disseminating the publications within your Authorities. I would be grateful 
                                                           
2 http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/14-07-
01/Canllawiau_ymarfer_gorau_ar_gyfer_ymgysylltu_ac_ymgynghori_%c3%a2_phobl_h%c5%b7n_ar_newidiada
u_i_wasanaethau_cymunedol_yng_Nghymru.aspx  

Page 103

http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/16-02-16/Section_12_Guidance_Equality_and_Human_Rights_Assessments_Scrutiny.aspx
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/16-02-16/Section_12_Guidance_Equality_and_Human_Rights_Assessments_Scrutiny.aspx
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/16-02-16/Section_12_Guidance_Equality_and_Human_Rights_Assessments_Scrutiny.aspx
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/14-07-01/Canllawiau_ymarfer_gorau_ar_gyfer_ymgysylltu_ac_ymgynghori_%c3%a2_phobl_h%c5%b7n_ar_newidiadau_i_wasanaethau_cymunedol_yng_Nghymru.aspx
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/14-07-01/Canllawiau_ymarfer_gorau_ar_gyfer_ymgysylltu_ac_ymgynghori_%c3%a2_phobl_h%c5%b7n_ar_newidiadau_i_wasanaethau_cymunedol_yng_Nghymru.aspx
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/14-07-01/Canllawiau_ymarfer_gorau_ar_gyfer_ymgysylltu_ac_ymgynghori_%c3%a2_phobl_h%c5%b7n_ar_newidiadau_i_wasanaethau_cymunedol_yng_Nghymru.aspx


 
 

if your Authority would confirm receipt of this Section 12 Guidance 
and how your Authority intends to ensure that it is complied with. 
Please note as Commissioner I may at any point in time seek to 
receive verifiable evidence that due regard has been paid to this 
Guidance. I am sure however I will not need to. 

Following the publication of the new Guidance, I will deliver training 
sessions across Wales in the Spring 2016 to upskill elected members and 
officers on the Guidance and how to take forward a rights-based 
approach to impact assessments and scrutiny around changes to 
community services. Further information on the training sessions will be 
shared with you in due course. 

I understand the significant budgetary pressures on Local Authorities and 
that many difficult decisions will need to be made, however I am clear that 
older people must be fully considered when changes to community 
services are proposed, and that every consideration has been given to 
mitigate the impact on older people and consider alternative provision in 
order to maintain their health, independence and wellbeing. 

Please do not hesitate to contact me or my Communities, Local 
Government and Wellbeing Lead, Iwan Williams 
(iwan.williams@olderpeoplewales.com, 02920 445 045) to discuss the 
Section 12 Guidance in further detail. 

Best wishes, 

 

Sarah Rochira                                                                                                
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 

Page 104

mailto:iwan.williams@olderpeoplewales.com


Scrutinising Changes to 
Community Services 

Guidance for Local Authorities

Page 105



The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales
The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales is an independent voice and 
champion for older people across Wales. The Commissioner and her team 
work to ensure that older people have a voice that is heard, that they have 
choice and control, that they don’t feel isolated or discriminated against and 
that they receive the support and services that they need.

The Commissioner and her team work to ensure that Wales is a good place to 
grow older, not just for some but for everyone.

How to contact the Commissioner:
The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales
Cambrian Buildings
Mount Stuart Square
Cardiff
CF10 5FL

Phone: 029 2044 5030 
Email: ask@olderpeoplewales.com
Website: www.olderpeoplewales.com
Twitter: @talkolderpeople
 

Section 12 Guidance
This Guidance is issued under Section 12 of the Commissioner for Older 
People (Wales) Act 2006.

Bodies subject to this Guidance issued under this section must have 
regard to the Guidance in discharging their functions. 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/30/contents

Page 106



.........................................................................................................................................

     Guidance: Scrutinising Changes to Community Services     3

Contents

Foreword 04

Context 06

Scrutiny: What is it? 10

Who scrutinises and how to scrutinise? 12

Useful recommendations 15

Scrutiny Questions for Elected Members 16

The ongoing role of scrutiny 22

Annex A: National Welsh Characteristics of Good Scrutiny 23

Page 107



.........................................................................................................................................

4     Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 

Foreword
One of my priorities as Commissioner, as set out in my Framework for Action 
2013-171, is to protect and improve community services – non-statutory 
services such as day centres, public toilets, libraries and transport that are 
often described as ‘lifelines’ by older people. 

Despite the fact that they are as important to older people’s health, 
independence and wellbeing as statutory health and social care services, 
community services across Wales are at risk due to reductions in public 
spending, something of great concern for many older people.

Furthermore, older people often feel that they have few opportunities to voice 
their concerns over changes to community services, or that their needs are not 
fully considered when decisions are made.

Within a challenging financial climate, I understand the difficult decisions facing 
Local Authorities. However, I expect Local Authorities and other key service 
providers to fully consider and review the implications upon older people 
of closing a key community service and that every effort has been made to 
mitigate any impact.

That is why I have published this Guidance, which is issued under Section 12 of 
the Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act 20062. It is designed to ensure 
that robust scrutiny is undertaken when changes to community services are 
proposed, essential to ensure that there is not a disproportionate impact upon 
older people and that alternative approaches are considered.

This Guidance is delivered in two parts:

• Part 1 examines the importance of current Equality Impact Assessments 
and promotes the need to use Equality and Human Rights Impact 
Assessments (EHRIAs) when changes to community services are being 
considered. Part 1 applies to all public service bodies responsible for 
delivering community services for older people.

•  Part 2 examines the crucial role of scrutiny around changes to community 
services and is targeted towards elected members and officers in local 
government. The aim is to improve the quality of scrutiny and ensure 
that the impact of closing down or reducing the provision of a community 
service on older people is thoroughly and rigorously analysed and 

1 http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/Libraries/Uploads/Framework_for_Action.sflb.ashx
2 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/30/contents

Page 108



.........................................................................................................................................

     Guidance: Scrutinising Changes to Community Services     5

considered.

This Guidance was produced in collaboration with the Welsh Government and 
the Welsh Local Government Association, whose advice and expertise has 
been invaluable and I am very grateful for their contribution. I would also like to 
thank colleagues in the Wales Audit Office, Scottish Human Rights Commission 
and Welsh Local Authorities, in particular Pembrokeshire County Council and 
Cardiff Council, for their support in developing this Guidance.

At a time of real change for local government, this Guidance is designed to 
be a useful, practical document that will lead to better, high quality impact 
assessments. It should be embedded within working practices to ensure that 
high quality and thorough EHRIAs underpin future proposals on community 
services.

As I have consistently emphasised, protecting and improving community 
services will lead to cost savings for Local Authorities and other public services 
providers in the medium to longer term by supporting people to maintain their 
independence, reducing the need for costly formal support delivered through 
statutory health and social care services.

An innovative approach to service delivery, underpinned by effective EHRIAs 
can make a huge difference to our communities and, ultimately, to older 
people’s lives.

 

Sarah Rochira                                                                                                
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

Page 109



.........................................................................................................................................

6     Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 

Context
The loss of key community services, such as public buses, toilets, community 
and day centres, libraries and lifelong learning continues to be a matter of great 
concern for older people. The closure or reduced provision of these services is 
already having an impact on their lives as a result of decisions made by Local 
Authorities and other public service deliverers across Wales.

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act3 is, potentially, a ground-
breaking and transformative piece of legislation, which should ensure that 
public bodies take a longer-term, sustainable view on service delivery, with the 
focus on prevention and outcomes for the individual. 

However, the financial outlook for Local Authorities for the coming years 
remains considerably challenging. Since 2010, Local Authorities have had 
to reduce funding by £720m, and can expect to face a further £941m budget 
shortfall by 20194,5. It is expected that funding will not return to 2010-11 levels 
until 2022-23 at the earliest, meaning the continued retrenchment of public 
service spending6. 

With further budgetary reductions expected, further difficult decisions will 
be made on the future of community services across Wales. It is therefore 
imperative that Local Authorities and others fully consider the implications of 
these decisions on older people, an age group that often rely on these services 
to maintain their health, independence and wellbeing.

Whilst the Commissioner recognises the budgetary pressures placed on 
Local Authorities, older people must be able to continue to access community 
services in one form or another. Community services must not be seen not 
as optional costs or non-essential luxuries, but as the vital community assets 
that they are for individuals. It is therefore essential to take an asset-based 
approach and see community services as integral to delivering key policy 
priorities and containing the costs of statutory services.

Local government reform in Wales is also likely to have a significant impact 
on the structures and services provided by Local Authorities over the coming 
months and years. There has been a great deal of debate since the Welsh 
Government published its proposed local government map in the Summer of 
3 http://gov.wales/legislation/programme/assemblybills/future-generations/?lang=en
4 http://www.wlga.gov.uk/media-centre-l-wlga-e-bulletins/councils-and-unions-to-lobby-parliament-over-fair-
funding-for-wales
5 http://www.wlga.gov.uk/media-centre-l-wlga-e-bulletins/latest-wao-report-issues-warning-on-cuts-to-council-
services 
6 http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=11641&offset=0 

Page 110



.........................................................................................................................................

     Guidance: Scrutinising Changes to Community Services     7

2015 and whilst a decision on the debate on the number, size and structure of 
Local Authorities is yet to be made, it is crucial that the emphasis on the quality 
of services provided for older people and others is not lost.

This two part Guidance complements the following priorities within the 
Commissioner’s Framework for Action 2013-177:

• Embedding the wellbeing of older people at the heart of public services;

•  Protecting and improving community services, facilities and infrastructure; 
and

•  Tackling prejudice, inequality and discrimination.

This Guidance also follows on from the Commissioner’s previous publications 
on community services:

•  The Importance and Impact of Community Services within Wales 
(February 2014)8;

•  Effective Engagement with Local Authorities: Toolkit for Older People (July 
2014)9; and

•  Best Practice Guidance for Engagement and Consultation with Older 
People on Changes to Community Services in Wales (July 2014)10.

This Guidance is published under Section 12 of the Commissioner for Older 
People (Wales) Act 200611. The purpose of the Guidance is to ensure that high 
quality EHRIAs and scrutiny on changes to community services exist across 
local government and other public service bodies in Wales. When changes 
are proposed this Guidance should help Local Authorities and other bodies 
to fully consider the implications on older people. Tighter and more impactful 
assessments and scrutiny from the outset should lead to Local Authorities 
and other service deliverers taking a longer-term view within current financial 
parameters.

7 http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/13-05-23/Framework_for_Action.aspx#.
VWwfyGctAdU
8 http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/14-02-25/The_Importance_and_Impact_of_
Community_Services_within_Wales.aspx 
9 http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/14-07-01/Effective_Engagement_with_Local_
Authorities_Toolkit_for_Older_People.aspx
10 http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/14-07-01/Canllawiau_ymarfer_gorau_ar_gyfer_
ymgysylltu_ac_ymgynghori_%c3%a2_phobl_h%c5%b7n_ar_newidiadau_i_wasanaethau_cymunedol_yng_
Nghymru.aspx
11 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/30/section/12

Page 111



.........................................................................................................................................

8     Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 

Previous research and evidence in this area suggests that scrutiny in Wales 
could be improved. For example: 

• The ‘Commission on Public Service Governance and Delivery’ (2014) 
concluded that the fundamental importance of scrutiny in driving 
improvement was not recognised, that scrutiny is often under-developed 
and that organisations must regard scrutiny as an investment to deliver 
improvements and future savings12. 

•  The Wales Audit Office ‘Good Scrutiny? Good Question!’ improvement 
study (2014) found that whilst local government scrutiny in Wales is 
improving, councils need to do more to develop consistently rigorous 
scrutiny to increase public accountability in decision-making13.

• The Welsh Government’s ‘Evaluation of Welsh Local Government 
Executive and Scrutiny Arrangements’ (2015) concluded that there is 
considerable variation in the ways that the cabinet system has impacted 
upon local decision making processes, that scrutiny of partnerships and 
joint scrutiny is currently poorly developed, and that there is limited public 
engagement and participation in decision-making processes14.

•  The Wales Audit Office study ‘Supporting the Independence of Older 
People: Are Councils Doing Enough?’ (2015) found that a lack of data is 
making it difficult for councils to demonstrate the impact of their services 
in supporting the independence of older people and that this weakens 
their decision making and scrutiny when setting future priorities. Measures 
should be established to judge inputs, outputs and impact in order to 
better understand the effect of budget reductions and provide support for 
oversight and scrutiny15.

The voices of older people are heard throughout the Commissioner’s work 
and their views, concerns and priorities are reflected in the Guidance. A series 
of discussions were held with older people’s networks and groups in Autumn 
2015, and the Commissioner’s office met with older people at the following 
venues: Bridgend, Gwalchmai (Anglesey), Haverfordwest (Pembrokeshire), 
Blaenavon (Torfaen), Llandudno (Conwy), Abergavenny (Monmouthshire), 
Cardiff, Carmarthen (Carmarthenshire), Wrexham, Connah’s Quay (Flintshire).

12 http://gov.wales/docs/dpsp/publications/psgd/140120-psgd-full-report-env2.pdf
13 http://audit.wales/publication/good-scrutiny-good-question-auditor-general-wales-improvement-study-
scrutiny-local
14 http://gov.wales/docs/caecd/research/2015/150108-welsh-local-government-executive-scrutiny-
arrangements-en.pdf
15 http://www.audit.wales/system/files/publications/Independence-Older-People-2015-English.pdf

Page 112



.........................................................................................................................................

     Guidance: Scrutinising Changes to Community Services     9

As listed bodies under the Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act, all 
Local Authorities and other relevant bodies must have due regard to this 
Guidance. 

Future changes to community services must not proceed without a full and 
robust analysis of the impact that these will have on the health, independence, 
wellbeing and rights of older people. 

Page 113



.........................................................................................................................................

10     Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 

Scrutiny: What is it?
Robust scrutiny and challenge can help Local Authorities to promote equality 
of opportunity and demonstrate engagement with stakeholders such as older 
people. Effective scrutiny takes on-board EHRIA recommendations and fully 
considers the likely impact on different protected groups. It can provide a 
neutral forum on debates around community services, bridging local people, 
communities and decision-makers. The key question is: how does scrutiny add 
value?

The Welsh Government Statutory Guidance from the Local Government 
Measure 2011 recognised that scrutiny “needs to be independent, well-
resourced and effective in order to identify any weaknesses in service delivery 
and then to propose improvements…it is vital that all councillors play a full 
and vigorous role in scrutiny16”, whilst the Commission on Public Service 
Governance and Delivery concluded that “public scrutiny is a particular and 
essential form of accountability in the public sector…the independence of 
scrutiny must be strongly asserted and protected…to be effective in holding to 
account and constructively identifying opportunities for improvement, scrutiny 
much be well resourced to support robust and challenging questioning17.” 

“Most equality impact assessments never see the light of day, most 
reports to the Council board never go through scrutiny…the cuts to 
services always affect the most vulnerable in society…I can’t go to the 
shops because there’s no public toilet.” (Wrexham Over Fifties Forum & 
‘Wrexham Include’ Group members)

Taking into consideration demographic changes and the need to take an asset-
based approach to maintain the independence of older people, it is crucial 
that scrutiny focuses on longer term outcomes as much as possible in 
the current financial climate18.

Scrutiny should review policy priorities and outcomes and challenge the 
executive about its actions to deliver stated policy goals. Scrutiny also has the 
right to ‘call in’ key decisions and ask the decision-maker to think again, or 
to refer the decision to full council for consideration. Scrutiny should be seen 
as the ‘last line of defence’, and elected members should make sure the right 
questions are asked around community service proposals and answered before 
agreeing to any service delivery changes that may affect older people. 

16 http://gov.wales/topics/localgovernment/publications/statguide/?lang=en 
17 http://gov.wales/topics/improvingservices/public-service-governance-and-delivery/?lang=en
18 http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=11641&offset=0

Page 114



.........................................................................................................................................

     Guidance: Scrutinising Changes to Community Services     11

Good Practice

Pembrokeshire County Council has a dedicated scrutiny committee to address 
older people’s issues. The role of the Older Persons, Health and Wellbeing 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee is to review or scrutinise issues and services 
relevant to health and wellbeing, particularly those relating to older persons19.

One example of how the Committee can influence decisions was the recent 
‘Learning Pembrokeshire – Managing the Welsh Government Funding 
Reduction for Adult and Community Learning’ proposal. Committee members 
expressed concerns regarding how the cabinet decision had been reached 
without public consultation and without sufficient consideration of how closing 
down Community Learning Centres will impact on older people and others20. 
As a result, the cabinet decided to undertake a public consultation exercise to 
examine the issue further, with a final report to cabinet by November 201521.

Scrutiny can help elected members to challenge levels and quality of delivery, 
conduct detailed investigations into the progress of specific objectives or 
projects, and add value to impact assessments to ensure they are robust. The 
WLGA report ‘The use of EIAs in the Public Sector’ found that scrutiny of EIAs 
needs to be strengthened, with a greater role for equality leads and to ensure 
that scrutiny panels, e.g. boards and committees, have the necessary equalities 
skills and knowledge to fulfil their role22. Another key issue is the support 
provided to scrutiny. Practitioners often have to deal with ‘crowded’ Forward 
Work Programmes, hectic schedules and often have to ensure that discussions 
over crucial community services are given sufficient time and attention and do 
not fall behind other priorities.

“Across Pembrokeshire, only 7 of 83 earmarked public toilets were 
actually closed (following consultation)… This is good, although no 
one asks if these are up to the standard they were before.” (50+ Central 
member, Pembrokeshire)

19 http://www.pembrokeshire.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=101,2159,2170&parent_directory_id=646
20 http://mgenglish.pembrokeshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=283&MID=3305#AI22904&LLL=0
21 http://mgenglish.pembrokeshire.gov.uk/Published/C00000281/M00003161/$$$Minutes.doc.pdf?LLL=0
22 http://www.wlga.gov.uk/equalities-publications/report-l-review-of-the-use-of-equality-impact-assessments-in-
the-public-sector/

Page 115



.........................................................................................................................................

12     Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 

Looking ahead, the reform of local government and the introduction of the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations (WFG) (Wales) Act with statutory Public 
Services Boards mean that scrutiny in Wales will undergo some radical 
changes in the coming years. The development of effective joint scrutiny 
arrangements for new and emerging collaborations is also likely to be a key 
focus for public services over the next few years23.

Who scrutinises and how to scrutinise?
Scrutiny applies to all Local Authority elected members, particularly the 
following:

• Cabinet/Executive: The cabinet or executive is responsible for proposing 
key strategies, the policy and budget framework. It has power to take all 
executive decisions within the policy and budget framework agreed by the 
Local Authority.

• Scrutiny Chair: Good chairing can enhance the effectiveness of scrutiny 
by providing leadership, ensuring that scrutiny works efficiently and 
making best use of resources, and by promoting scrutiny both within the 
organisation and externally.

• Scrutiny councillors: Their role is to review policies and proposals and 
challenge whether the executive has made the correct decisions to deliver 
policy goals. These councillors examine the impact and implementation of 
cabinet decisions, hold the Leader and cabinet to account, and scrutinise 
external organisations who provide services to residents. 

• Scrutiny panels: When scrutiny boards or committees are discussing 
community service proposals they should request information about 
the EHRIAs that have been conducted. EHRIAs help to inform their 
discussions and comment on proposals. Scrutiny panels can explore 
these EHRIAs in greater detail to ensure that they are based on strong 
evidence and engagement.

23 http://www.audit.wales/system/files/publications/WAO_Scrutiny_Report_English_2014.pdf

Page 116



.........................................................................................................................................

     Guidance: Scrutinising Changes to Community Services     13

According to the Four Principles of Good Public Scrutiny24, published by the 
Centre for Public Scrutiny, effective scrutiny should:

• Be a ‘critical friend’ to executives, external authorities and agencies;

•  Reflect the voice and concerns of the public and its communities;

•  Take the lead and own the scrutiny process on behalf of the public; and

•  Make an impact on the delivery of public services.

The Centre has also identified characteristics of good scrutiny, including the 
following (further details may be found in Annex A)25:

Better 
Outcomes

Ensure democratic accountability succeeds in driving 
improvement in public services. Scrutiny should have 
a clearly defined and valued role in the council’s 
improvement and governance arrangements. It 
has dedicated support from officers who are able to 
undertake independent research effectively, and provide 
councillors with high-quality analysis, advice and training.

Better 
Decisions

Ensure democratic decision-making is accountable, 
inclusive and robust. Local Authorities should ensure that 
scrutiny councillors have the training and development 
opportunities they need to undertake their role effectively, 
and that scrutiny is councillor-led and meetings and 
activities are well-planned, chaired effectively and make 
best use of the resources available to them.

Better 
Engagement

Ensure the public is meaningfully engaged in democratic 
debate about the current and future delivery of public 
services. Scrutiny should be recognised as an 
important council mechanism for community 
engagement, and facilitating greater citizen 
involvement in governance. It should enable the ‘voice’ 
of local people and communities across the area to be 
heard as part of decision and policy-making processes

24 http://www.cfps.org.uk/mission-and-purpose
25 http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=11641&offset=0

Page 117



.........................................................................................................................................

14     Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 

Good Practice

In 2011/12, Anglesey County Council’ Environment and Technical Services 
Scrutiny Committee produced a report on the ‘Future Provision of Public Toilets 
on Anglesey’26. The report acknowledged that public toilets are “often seen as a 
lifeline to the elderly community” and that it was therefore vital that older people 
were consulted with “in relation to any proposed shortlist for closure at an early 
stage”. 

Following consultation with older people it was found that awareness about 
alternative provision was low, and therefore it was recommended that “officers 
work with existing organisations offering the Public Toilet Grant Scheme to 
improve signage and promotion of these facilities”.

“They may do some consultation…but if they do this in the evening, then 
that’s too late for older people, not to mention transport…everything is 
moving online now and not everyone can use it or afford it.” (Blaenavon 
Older People’s Forum member, Torfaen)

The WLGA’s ‘Role of Overview and Scrutiny in Assessing Equality 
Performance’ guide refers to the Welsh Government’s ‘Seven Success Factors’ 
model (2008) to ensure effective scrutiny27:

26 http://www.anglesey.gov.uk/Journals/2011/12/08/scrutiny-review-public-toilets-review.pdf
27 http://www.wlga.gov.uk/equalities-publications/wlga-publication-the-role-of-overview-and-scrutiny-in-
assessing-equality-performance/

Page 118



.........................................................................................................................................

     Guidance: Scrutinising Changes to Community Services     15

Useful recommendations
• Secure genuine commitment, involvement and participation by all 

Members, Officers and Partners: Have the Older People’s Champions 
and Equality Champions, for example, been consulted on the proposal? 
Is the cabinet/executive open to concerns raised through scrutiny about 
inequalities?

• Focus on the right things: Does scrutiny take into account the Local 
Authority’s Strategic Equality Plan and Equality objectives28? Is it clear 
how older people’s needs, concerns and rights make it onto the scrutiny 
agenda?

• Organise what you do: Read information in advance and ask relevant 
and timely questions. Does scrutiny review community service proposals 
alongside an EIA/EHRIA? Remember that elected members have a 
legitimate right to challenge Local Authority finances and how these are 
used

• Get the right level of support: Are scrutiny councillors trained in equality 
issues? Is there sufficient access to equalities officers?

• Secure independent and objective perspectives: Do scrutiny committees 
make provisions to hear from community groups or older people’s forums 
when a community service proposal is put forward?

• Keep learning and improving: Are there any training or skills gaps that 
need to be addressed? Are lessons learnt from previous scrutiny reviews?

• Get the right outcomes and impact: Is scrutiny helping to ensure that the 
Local Authority is achieving the aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty 
(PSED) (eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity 
between people, foster good relations between people) and Human 
Rights Act 1998?

28 http://www.wlga.gov.uk/equality-and-diversity-local-government

Page 119



Scrutiny Questions for Elected Members
The effective 
use of EHRIAs 
(see Part 1 of 
the Guidance 
for further 
information)

• Has an EHRIA been carried out? If so, can the 
Leader and Cabinet/Senior Officers provide 
members with copies and a detailed explanation of 
the EHRIA conducted in respect of these proposals? 
Have specific actions been identified to mitigate the 
impact on older people? 

• What engagement and consultation work with older 
people was conducted with older people as part of 
the EHRIA of these proposals? Have the National 
Principles for Public Engagement in Wales been 
applied29?

• Does the Local Authority’s EHRIA process 
adequately capture the needs and views of older 
people? What steps have been taken to ensure that 
older people have been given every opportunity 
to voice their needs and concerns? Are these fully 
reflected in the EHRIA?

Compliance 
with the Equality 
and Human 
Rights Legal 
Framework

• Can the Leader and Cabinet/ Senior Officers assure 
members that these proposals comply with Equality 
and Human Rights legislation in respect of older 
people? Do the proposals comply with the Local 
Authority’s Strategic Equality Plan?

•  What steps has the Local Authority taken to ensure 
these proposals meet statutory commitments to 
older people under the Equality Act 2010 and Human 
Rights Act 1998? 

• Is there any danger these proposals may represent 
a breach of older people’s human rights? Are older 
people with multiple protected characteristics 
affected? Have the UN Principles for Older Persons 
and Declaration of Rights for Older People in Wales 
been fully considered and applied? Has the UN 
Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities 
been considered?

29 http://www.participationcymru.org.uk/national-principles
Page 120



Compliance 
with the Equality 
and Human 
Rights Legal 
Framework 
(cont.)

• Have the National Welsh Characteristics of Good 
Scrutiny been applied (see Annex A)?

Mitigating 
the effects 
of austerity 
measures

• What is the anticipated impact on older people? 
Can the Leader and Cabinet/Senior Officers provide 
members with details of the plans to mitigate the 
impact of these proposals on older people? 

• If…These proposals clearly have a disproportionate 
impact on older people. How will the Local Authority 
manage this? Have alternative arrangements and 
provision been put in place? Have innovative cost-
saving approaches e.g. Community Asset Transfer 
been explored30?

• How much will maintaining the community service 
cost? Is this cost for this financial year or is it on-
going? What happens if this is not funded? Is there 
any external funding available? Could a charge 
be made for this? Can the proposal be deferred? 
Will the impact on older people be monitored and 
reviewed?

• How does the proposal contribute to the Local 
Authority’s medium to long-term savings plan? How 
were decisions arrived at in order to decide between 
options? Were groups of older people, including the 
local 50+ Forum, consulted with?

• Taking the asset-based approach to community 
services, how do the decisions contribute to the 
‘older people as assets’ model and help increase 
their £1bn annual contribution to the Welsh 
economy, helping individuals, communities and local 
economies in the process?

30 http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/community-asset-transfer/?lang=en 
Page 121



.........................................................................................................................................

18     Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 

Mitigating 
the effects 
of austerity 
measures (cont.)

• How do the decisions contribute to the Older 
People’s Commissioner’ ‘Quality of Life’ model for 
older people i.e. ‘I feel safe and listened to, valued 
and respected’; ‘I can do the things that matter to 
me’; ‘I can get the help that I need’; ‘I live in a place 
that suits me and my life’31?

• The Local Authority is committed to establishing 
age-friendly communities via the Dublin 
Declaration, a commitment as part of the Ageing 
Well in Wales Programme32. How do these 
proposals contribute to the establishment of age-
friendly communities and the Local Authority’s 
commitment to empower older people and maintain 
their health and independence?

Specific 
questions on 
community 
services

Public buses

Public transport is vital to reduce physical and mental 
health problems amongst older people. It is also crucial 
to connect older people with their friends and family, GPs 
and hospitals, shops and key services, and does much 
to tackle social isolation. A free bus pass for older people 
is worth little without a bus:

• Has the Local Authority fully considered the 
potentially devastating impact of removing this 
‘lifeline’ service on older people

• Is there alternative provision e.g. a community 
transport scheme in place to mitigate the impact?

32 http://agefriendlyworld.org/en/the-dublin-declaration-on-age-friendly-cities-and-communities-in-europe-2013/
31 http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/Libraries/Uploads/Framework_for_Action.sflb.ashx 

Page 122



.........................................................................................................................................

     Guidance: Scrutinising Changes to Community Services     19

Specific 
questions on 
community 
services (cont.)

Public toilets

Public toilets are crucial in maintaining the health and 
independence of older people. Without the provision of 
public conveniences, older people and others will not 
leave their homes, and as a result are exposed to a wide 
range of physical and mental health problems. Everyone 
needs a public toilet, and removing these facilities can 
make our villages/towns/cities ‘no go’ areas:

• Has the Local Authority fully explored the impact 
of closing down this public toilet not only on older 
people but others in society (including the impact on 
tourism)? 

• Have alternative arrangements been explored or 
put in place e.g. local businesses offering their toilet 
facilities to the public, or community asset transfer 
plans?

Public libraries

Libraries play a significant role in the lives of older 
people. The importance of libraries goes far beyond 
books, they are places where older people develop digital 
skills, socialise and undertake a range of activities that 
helps to keep them physically and mentally active:

• Has the Local Authority fully considered the impact 
of closing down this library on older people? 

• What alternative arrangements are in place to 
ensure that older people can continue to access 
books, digital learning and other social activities?

Page 123



.........................................................................................................................................

20     Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 

Specific 
questions on 
community 
services (cont.)

• Does the Local Authority have another community 
hub in place for older people? Is the Local 
Authority committed to tackling loneliness and 
isolation amongst older people by proposing 
other venues where older people can meet, 
socialise and contribute to their local communities 
(these questions also apply to proposals around 
community and day centres)?

Lifelong learning

Learning for older people has a range of benefits. 
For some, it is an important way of helping them to 
keep physically and mentally active in retirement. For 
others, it is a crucial way of remaining in or re-entering 
employment. Learning helps to tackle social isolation, 
contributes to the development of personal skillsets and 
increases efficiency as workers or volunteers:

• Has the Local Authority fully explored the impact 
of closing down this lifelong learning provision on 
older people and others?

• Has the Local Authority provided alternative 
arrangements so that older people can continue to 
access much needed learning opportunities?

Page 124



.........................................................................................................................................

     Guidance: Scrutinising Changes to Community Services     21

The ongoing role of scrutiny
Remember that scrutiny is an ongoing process; scrutiny does not end when 
a decision is made on a community service proposal, nor does it end 
when a report is sent to Cabinet. It is crucial that any changes to community 
services are monitored and that the impact on older people and others are 
taken into consideration. The closure or reduced provision of a key community 
service, a service that might be described as a ‘lifeline’ by older people, may 
significantly impact on the health and wellbeing of older people, and therefore 
scrutinising the proposal at a later stage may therefore be needed (see Part 
1 of the Guidance for further information on EHRIA Transparency and Review 
(Annex A)). 

Consider the following questions within a year of the decision:

• Was any mitigation applied or was the community service proposal 
delivered as originally proposed before the EHRIA was undertaken?

•  Were the intended outcomes of the proposal achieved or were there other 
results? Has it proved to be an effective cost-saving proposal for the Local 
Authority? Is there any evidence that health and social care needs for 
older people have increased as an indirect consequence?

•  Were the impacts confined to the group you initially thought would 
be affected i.e. older people, or were others affected e.g. people with 
disabilities, parents with young children?

Page 125



.........................................................................................................................................

22     Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 

Annex A: National Welsh Characteristics of 
Good Scrutiny33 
Democratic accountability drives improvement in public ser-
vices: Better Outcomes

Overview and scrutiny:

• Has a clearly defined and valued role in the council’s improvement and 
governance

•  Has the dedicated officer support it needs from officers who are able to 
undertake independent research effectively, and provides councillors with 
high-quality analysis, advice and training

•  Inquiries are non-political, methodologically sound and incorporate a wide 
range of evidence and perspectives

•  Regularly engages in evidence based challenge of decision makers and 
service providers

•  Provides viable and well evidenced solutions to recognised problems

Democratic decision making is accountable, inclusive and ro-
bust: Better Decisions

•  Overview and scrutiny councillors have the training opportunities they 
need to undertake their role effectively

•  The process receives effective support from the council’s corporate 
management team who ensure that information provided to overview 
and scrutiny is of high quality and is provided in a timely and consistent 
manner

•  Overview and scrutiny is councillor-led, takes into account the views of 
the public, partners and regulators, and balances the prioritisation of 
community concerns against issues of strategic risk and importance

•  Overview and scrutiny meetings and activities are well-planned, chaired 
effectively and make best use of the resources available to it

•  Decision makers give public account for themselves at scrutiny 
committees for their portfolio responsibilities

33 https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Councillors-and-meetings/Scrutiny/Documents/Guidelines%20
for%20effective%20Scrutiny%20in%20Wales.pdf 

Page 126



.........................................................................................................................................

     Guidance: Scrutinising Changes to Community Services     23

The public is engaged in democratic debate about the current 
and future delivery of public services: Better Engagement

• Overview and scrutiny is recognised by the executive and corporate 
management team as an important council mechanism for community 
engagement, and facilitates greater citizen involvement in governance

• Overview and scrutiny is characterised by effective communication 
to raise awareness of, and encourage participation in democratic 
accountability

• Scrutiny operates non-politically and deals effectively with sensitive 
political issues, tension and conflict

• Overview and scrutiny builds trust and good relationships with a wide 
variety of internal and external stakeholders

• Overview and scrutiny enables the ‘voice’ of local people and 
communities across the area to be heard as part of decision and policy-
making processes

Page 127



.........................................................................................................................................

24     Older People’s Commissioner for Wales Page 128



.........................................................................................................................................

     Guidance: Scrutinising Changes to Community Services     25Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Debt Collection - Use of Debt Recovery Companies
	4 Draft Annual Governance Statement for financial year 2015/16
	Appendix A

	5 Performance Report - Corporate Plan.  Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty, Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
	6 Annual Scrutiny Report 2015/16
	Annual Scrutiny Report - 2015 16
	To:  Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen
	Annual Scrutiny Report - 2015 / 2016
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
	5.0 WORK UNDERTAKEN BY THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEES FOR THE PERIOD MAY 2015 TO APRIL 2016
	6.0 CHAIRPERSON COMMENTS
	8.0 SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMMES 2016/17
	9.0 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION AT SCRUTINY
	12.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT SUMMARY
	13.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

	1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

	APPENDIX I
	APPENDIX TWO

	7 Preparation of Scrutiny Work Programme 2016/17
	Work Programme 2015 16 Descriptors
	Governance Descriptors
	Strategies on a page

	8 Progress report - Joint Scrutiny Committee to scrutinise the Cwm Taf Public Services Board
	9 Older People's Commissioner for Wales - Guidance on Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments and Scrutiny
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.1 That the Scrutiny Committee notes the contents of the report, and scrutiny’s role in ensuring that any changes to community services are monitored; and that the impact on older people and others are taken into consideration in line with the guidance.
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

	Older People's Commissioner for Wales - Guidance on Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments and Scrutiny combined.pdf
	Older People's Commissioner for Wales - Guidance on Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments and Scrutiny
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.1 That the Scrutiny Committee notes the contents of the report and scrutiny’s role in ensuring that any changes to community services are monitored and that the impact on older people and others are taken into consideration in line with the guidance.
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND


	APPENDIX I
	Letter to Local Authorities EHRIAs  Scrutiny Guidance Feb 2016
	Scrutiny Guidance - Web






